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LETTER TO THE CHAIRMAN 

 

 

Dear Shareholders, 

 

In 2006, SAVE continued along its path of solid development after the impressive 

achievement of being listed in the Stock Exchange in 2005. 

 

The extremely positive results once again confirm the validity of the ideas, 

projects and strategies that have led the SAVE Group to be recognised as a leader 

in its sector, in terms of growth, quality and capacity of innovation, year after 

year.  

 

The Group successfully took part in international tenders in partnership with 

operators, advisors and financial institutions of international standing that 

acknowledged Save Group's professionalism and know-how and its ability to 

operate successfully also on highly competitive international markets 

More specifically, over the course of the year, the business unit operating in the 

Food & Beverage and Retail sector finalised the acquisitions of Airest Group and 

Ristop S.r.l., thereby following through with the Group’s strategy for domestic 

and foreign expansion and expansion of licence channels to motorways and other 

sectors. 

 

Moreover, in October, SAVE organised a session at the Venice airport (“Gli Stati 

Generali”), presenting a project and conducting a useful session with the main 

financial, social, and cultural stakeholders, in order to shed light on prospective 

development for the airport, including the complex junction of various means of 

transit. The airport’s future is expected to bring the transformation from a “simple 

airport” to “Marco Polo City”: a real live city, with all of the related airport 

services and other complementary services, making Venice airport a gateway to 

every type of transit, through corridor no. 5. 

From “Marco Polo City,” intercontinental flight connections will be more easily 

combined with local, regional, and European railway and motorway transfers. 

 

The Group’s financial statements as at 31 December, 2006 closed with € 16.6 

million in net profits, and a net equity of € 316.9 million.   

 

The Group will be counting on over 2,246 motivated professionals who will work 

together to implement strategies and complete stages of development. They will 

also be handling customer relations on a daily basis and ensuring travellers’ 

utmost satisfaction. 

 

The Group is active in three main business areas: airport management, 

transportation infrastructures (railway stations), and the management of 

businesses and food services intended to meet travellers’ needs. In 2006, each of 

these areas recorded improved figures compared to FY 2005, in terms of both 

turnover and profitability. 

 

In 2006, airport management results surpassed the goals that had been established 
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for turnover and margins; and this was even during a period marked by constant 

crisis for certain airlines. There were 7.7 million passengers travelling through 

airports managed by SAVE Group, which shows a 7.8% increase over the 

previous year. Venice, in particular, experienced an 8.9% growth. 

The airport management business unit’s financial status continues to be impacted 

by the lack of adjustment in fares, which has been delayed for several years now, 

and for which the company took specific action in communicating with relevant 

organisations, as well as in the jurisdictions of Italy and Europe.  

 

Italy's airports are still at risk of being weakened by the application of regulations 

that the government issued over the course of 2005, contrary to CIPE resolution 

2000, which aimed at adapting Italy’s fares to those of the rest of Europe, which 

are now considerably higher than the national fares.  

These regulations (also defined as “system requirements and urgent measures 

regarding airports”) lead to a potential decrease in fares, thus widening the gap 

between Italian and European prices, slowing down the process of development 

for Italy's infrastructures, and making it more difficult to formulate investment 

plans due to the uncertainty of profitability and the plans’ turn-around time. 

Opposed to these measures, SAVE continues to complain to the European 

Commission and Antitrust Authority, along with other major management 

companies. 

 

In 2006, transportation infrastructure management continued its efforts in 

reconstructing and expanding railway stations, through its holding in 

Centostazioni S.p.a.  

 

More specifically, the unit has continued its several-year investment programme 

this year, in optimising business, updating for regulations/functionality, and the 

extraordinary maintenance of real estate complexes for the stations that bring in 

the most business out of the entire network. The unit is making progress in 

following through with executive plans, highly publicised calls for tenders, and 

other operations.  

During this period, 39 stations will be under construction, and some projects have 

already been completed, such as those at the stations Milan Porta Garibaldi, 

Brescia, Rovereto, Monza, Pavia, Parma, Treviso, Udine, Modena, Caserta, and 

Piacenza. 

 

In 2006, management of shops and food services for travellers demonstrated 

impressive results in the expansion of both personnel and outside product lines. 

With the acquisitions of Ristop and Airest, the company is now active in all types 

of transportation infrastructures. Through these acquisitions and the opening of 5 

businesses at the stations of Brescia, Novara, Catania, and Milan Garibaldi, the 

company now directly manages 123 stores, 75 of which are located in airports, 10 

in railway stations, 3 at ports, 21 along motorways, and 14 in shopping centres 

and other urban locations. The Group is now operating in 4 European countries 

(Italy, Austria, Slovenia, and Slovakia). 

Revenue has more than tripled on a year-to-year basis, making Airport Elite the 

number two operator in the country for this sector, and putting it among the major 

players in international runnings. 

The business unit’s development for the next few years can be divided into two 

main areas: 



SAVE Group Consolidated Financial Statements and SAVE S.p.A. Financial Statements as at 31 December 2006 

 5 

• expansion of Food&Beverage line, domestically and abroad, through the 

brands Bricco and Culto 

• optimising new business by taking part in sub-licence tenders, mainly 

through the brands in the Retail line (Travel retail, Hub, and Bottega dei 

Sapori) and Food & Beverage (Bricco, Culto, and De Canto) 

 

The Group still has many more opportunities for growth and we look to the future 

with confidence and optimism, knowing that the positive results accomplished so 

far can only provide further incentive for future challenges. This is precisely why 

SAVE S.p.a. holds a strategic position for both the market and its shareholders 

and will continue to create value in the upcoming years. 

 

Finally, I am pleased to confirm the company’s ability to carry out the payment of 

a dividend totalling 94% of the distributable net profit (after allocations to legal 

reserve), as proposed by the Board of Directors at the Shareholders' Meeting. 

 

My Sincerest Regards, 

 

Enrico Marchi 
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STRATEGY 
 

The main factors on which the SAVE Group bases its strategy are as follows: 

 

- Group’s Corporate Mission: 

• To be a leader in the sector of traveller services, by successfully handling 

the three main business areas: 

o Airport management 

o Transport infrastructure management  

o Food & beverage and retail services 

• To integrate operations in the three areas in order to “give customers a 

pleasant travel experience” in airports and transportation infrastructures 

• To carry out their activities using innovative ideas, keeping a sense of 

responsibility and moral integrity, and with the goal of contributing to the 

country’s development. 

 

The Group's main motivation is to become a model “mobility player,” offering 

high-quality services. SAVE’s value chain focuses on the passenger. 

 

The goal is to optimise the time a traveller spends passing through or waiting at 

airports and other transportation infrastructures by providing a: 

 

“Pleasant travel experience.” 

 

Therefore, the strategy focuses on: 

• Becoming more competitive in the area of airport management; 

• Improving and expanding products and services offered to travellers or 

related to transporting goods in transportation infrastructures, by taking 

advantage of the company’s know-how and the experience it has gained 

in airport operations; 

• Developing management activities in different transportation 

infrastructures (airports, railway stations, motorways, and ports). 
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Aeroporto di Venezia Marco Polo S.p.A. - SAVE 
Share capital: € 17,985,500 fully paid-up 

Registered address: Aeroporto Marco Polo - Venezia Tessera Viale G. Galilei, 30/1 

Corporate Registry of Venice no., tax identification code, and VAT registration no. 02193960271 
 
Shareholders*: % 
Marco Polo Holding S.r.l. 38.978 

City of Venice 14.098 

Province of Venice 12.288 

SanPaolo IMI S.p.A. 2.168 

Venice Chamber of Commerce 1.446 

Province of Treviso 0.829 

City of Treviso 0.731 

APVHolding S.r.l. 0.097 

Market 29.365 

* as at 31 December 2006 

 

 In office from 21 April 2006 

Board of Directors: Board of Directors: 

Enrico Marchi Chairman 

Luca Bonaiti Director** 

Amerigo Borrini Director 

Giorgio Calzavara Director 

Laura Fincato Director 

Maurizio Olivetti Director 

Oliviero Edoardo Pessi Director** 

Roberto Sacchi Director 

Amalia Sartori Director 

Loris Tosi Director 

Luca Zaia Director  

Enrico Marchi Chairman and Managing 
Director 

Laura Bertolini Director 

Amerigo Borrini Director (A) 

Luigi De Puppi Director** (A) 

Alberto Nordio Director 

Oliviero Edoardo Pessi Director** (B) 

Andrea Riello Director** (A) 

Amalia Sartori Director** (B) 

Mauro Sbroggiò Director 

Matteo Todesco Director 

Luca Zaia Director 

Enrico Zola Director 

Gianfranco Zoppas Director** (B)  
** Independent Director   

Director De Puppi is no longer qualified, as of 11 December 2006 **(A) 
(A)  Member of the Internal Oversight Committee  

(B)  Member of the committee on remuneration for directors and the management 
 

 In office from 21 April 2006 

Board of Auditors: Board of Auditors  

Giuseppe Diana Chairman 
Luca Arnaboldi Standing Auditor 
Antonio D’Ancona Standing Auditor 
Lino De Luca Standing Auditor 
Guido Penso Standing Auditor 
Valerio Simonato Alternate Auditor 
Ruggero Go Alternate Auditor  

Giampietro Brunello 
Lino De Luca 
Giuseppe Diana 
Valter Pastena 
Paolo Venuti 
Lodovico Tommaseo Ponzetta
Antonio D’Ancona  

Chairman 
Standing Auditor 
Standing Auditor 
Standing Auditor 
Standing Auditor 
Standing Auditor as 
from 12/12/2006 
Alternate Auditor  

* Lino De Luca, who resigned on 12 December, 2006, was replaced by Lodovico Tommaseo 

Ponzetta, effective as of the same date. 

 

Auditing firm engaged for review of accounts: Reconta Ernst & Young S.p.A. 
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SAVE GROUP BY BUSINESS AREA 

 

 

 

The following flow chart illustrates the structure of the SAVE Group as at 31 

December 2006, broken down by area of business and indicating the consolidation 

area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SAVE Aeroporto di Venezia Marco Polo S.p.A. (“SAVE” or “parent company”) 

is the company which manages the Marco Polo airport in Venice, as well as the 

holding company for an integrated group active in the sector of traveller services, 

primarily carried out under concession contracts. SAVE holds interests in: 

• companies operating in the sector of airport operations; 

• companies operating in the sector of infrastructure management and 

related services; 

• companies operating in the sector of public food service and management 

of shops for travellers, such as travel retail shops, newsstands, 

tobacconists, book shops, food shops, and gadget shops, within transport 

infrastructures (airports, motorways, railway stations, ports). In addition, 

through the recent acquisition of the Airest Group, SAVE also operates in 

the sector of airline catering, mainly at Austrian airports. The acquisition 

of Ristop S.r.l. also expanded business in the motorway system and urban 

areas. 
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Aeroporto di Venezia Marco Polo S.p.A. - SAVE 
Share capital: € 17,985,500 fully paid-up 

Registered address: Aeroporto Marco Polo - Venezia Tessera 

Viale G. Galilei, 30/1 

Economic and Administrative Index of Venice (REA) no. 201102 
Corporate Registry of Venice no. 29018, tax identification code and VAT registration no. 02193960271 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 

Dear Shareholders, 

This report on group operations also indirectly touches on trends in business 

directly carried out by SAVE S.p.A. (the parent company). As a result, it will 

provide information on significant events, as required by art. 2428 of the Italian 

Civil Code referring to SAVE S.p.A.. 

 

 

ANALYSIS OF PASSENGER TRAFFIC 

 

In the year in question 7.683 million passengers travelled through the airport 

system, a figure that was up 7.8% from the previous year. In particular, Venice 

registered an increase of 8.9% with 6.342 million passengers, and Treviso had an 

increase of 3.1% with 1.341 million. 

More specifically, Venice’s figures for the second half of the year were very 

significant, with 3.405 million passengers, showing an increase of 11% over the 

same period of the year before. 

 

SUMMARY OF GROUP’S CONSOLIDATED FIGURES 

 
PROGRESSIVE CONSOLIDATED SUMMARY DATA

2005

(Euro/millions)

Passengers / 1000 7.683 7.683 7.126 557,3 7,8% 7,8%

Operating revenue and other income 179,5 45,6 225,2 166,0 59,2 35,6% 8,2%

Personnel costs 41,8 14,9 56,6 38,3 18,3 47,8% 9,0%

Other operating costs 86,9 27,9 114,8 80,2 34,6 43,2% 8,3%

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 50,9 2,8 53,7 47,5 6,2 13,2% 7,2%

% Gross operating margin (EBITDA) compared to Revenue 28,4% 6,2% 23,9% 28,6%

Depreciation, amortization and write-downs 21,3 1,9 23,3 23,2 0,1 0,3% -8,0%

Operating result (EBIT) 29,6 0,9 30,5 24,3 6,2 25,4% 21,7%

% Operating Result (EBIT) compared to Revenue 16,5% 2,0% 13,5% 14,6%

Net result of assets sold / held for sale 2,8 2,8 2,8

% Net income of assets sold  / held for sale vs. revenue 6,2% 1,3%

Group Net Result 13,8 2,7 16,6 11,0 5,6 50,9% 26,0%

% Group Net Result compared to Revenue 7,7% 6,0% 7,4% 6,6%

 * Data referring to Airest Group and Ristop S.r.l. excluding the effect of minority interest relating to the parent company Airport Elite S.r.l.

% change 

excluding 

acquisitionsGroup Total change % change

2006

A perimetro 

invariato

effect of 

acquisitions Group Total
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December-05

(Euro/millions)

Net Financial Position (125,3) (87,4) (37,9)

of which cash 34,9 26,6 8,4

2,5 2,5

Group net equity 288,8 219,4 69,4

Net invested capital 442,2 331,2 110,9

of which financial fixed assets 130,9 93,5 37,4

13,7 13,7

of which for assets (liabilities) sold / held for sale

of which for assets (liabilities) sold / held for sale

December-06

changeGroup Total Group Total

 
 

* The acquisitions of Airest and Ristop went into effect during the period after the actual purchase (April-December for 

Airest and October-December for Ristop). For Airest, the figures for activities concerning the sale are outlined separately. 
”EBITDA” is intended as the amount net of amortization, write-downs, financial administration, and taxes. 

“Net invested capital” should be understood as the sum of the “net working capital (sum of inventories, trade receivables, 

payables to and receivables from tax authorities and social security institutions, other assets and liabilities, trade 

commercial), and fixed assets net of provisions for risks and taxes. 
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THE STOCK PERFORMANCE 

 

The following section describes the positive patterns in SAVE stock over the 

course of 2006, as compared to Mibtel. It shows 35% growth, going from € 18.50 

at the beginning of 2006 to over € 25 at the end, which is considerably higher than 

the corresponding figures for Mibtel. 
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For additional information, reference will be made to the attachment showing the 

continued improvement of SAVE stock during the period after 31 December, 

2006, up until 22 February 2007, with its stock at over € 27. 
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ECONOMIC SCENARIO AND COMPETITION 

 

AIRPORT MANAGEMENT 

 
In 2006, Italy's airport system recorded a total number of passengers amounting to 

123,727,412, corresponding to an 8.7% increase over 2005. Aircraft movements 

also grew by 5.2%, reaching 1,606,341 movements. 

Of the ten largest airports, 7 reported more than 5 million passengers, including 

Bergamo, which outperformed Naples, taking sixth place just after Catania, with 

5,244,794 passengers and a 20.4% increase compared to 2005. Rome Ciampino 

came in 8
th
 place, with 4.95 million passengers (up 16.8% over the year before). 

The low-cost airports (Bergamo, Ciampino, Pisa, and Treviso) showed an overall 

rise in traffic of 19% compared to 2005, with its total number of passengers more 

than tripling over the last 4 years. 

 

National traffic increased by 6.8%, also due to the new low-cost flights introduced 

for domestic routes (in fact, the low-cost airports recorded increases of over al 

40%). 

 

International traffic increased by 10.2%, due to new point-to-point routes operated 

mainly by low-cost airlines, as well as a comeback in long-range traffic operated 

by major airlines in the European hubs. 

 

 

VENICE AIRPORT SYSTEM 

Venice’s airport system closed 2006 with 7,683,052 passengers and an overall 

growth of 7.8%, with a 3.1% increase in aircraft movements (99,349 total). These 

figures indicate both an improved reliance on air travel and a general increase in 

the number of passengers on flights. 

 

Venice 

Venice airport recorded over 6 million passengers (6,342,178) for 2006, closing 

the year with an increase of 8.9% over 2005. There were also 82,199 aircraft 

movements (up 4.3% from the year before). 

During 2006, the Atlanta route operated by Delta Air Lines was introduced, 

bringing the flight connections between the US and Venice up to three (flights 

from JFK and PHL). In addition, a new direct route was established for non-stop 

flights to and from Istanbul, operated by Turkish Airlines. Other new destinations 

that became operative in 2006 include: Casablanca, Saint Petersburg, Düsseldorf, 

Valencia, Timisoara, Nice, Oslo, Reggio Calabria, and Pescara. 

The flight connection network was also reinforced through additional flights 

changing in Munich, Copenhagen, Prague, Barcelona, Tirana, and Naples. 

 

Treviso 

The Treviso airport recorded 1.34 million passengers for 2006, up by 3.1%, and 

17,150 aircraft movements (a 2.5% drop from 2005). Approximately 92% of the 

location’s total traffic is from flights operated by Ryanair. 
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The strategy 

SAVE’s strategy for 2007 focuses on further reinforcement of traffic 

improvement policies. 

• The introduction of Dubai flights operated by Emirates, starting in July 

2007, fuels the long-term strategy pursued in recent years. 

• Another goal for 2007 is to increase the frequency of British Airways' 

London flights, Aerlingus’ Dublin flights, and aircraft movements 

throughout Europe, which will also be made possible by the new Hapag 

Lloyd Express flights to and from Liepzig and Münster, starting in April 

2007. 

• Myair’s positioning of two Bombardier airplanes results from the effort 

put into development and reinforcement of operations in Venice. 

• After the 13.9% increase in the Venice Airport System’s cargo traffic in 

2006 (through which Venice grew by 17.5%), the goal is now to 

encourage further growth by introducing new intercontinental flights with 

capacity for more pallets. 

 

 

TRAFFIC VOLUME 
 

In the following table we will highlight the main traffic indices for the 2006 fiscal 

year alongside those of 2005, regarding both the airport system and the individual 

companies SAVE S.p.A. and Aer Tre S.p.A.. 

 

ANALYSIS OF TRAFFIC BASED ON LOCATION 

 

 

2006  % 2005  %

% change 

06/05

SAVE on system on system

Movements 82.199            83% 78.783            82% 4,3%

Passengers 6.342.178       83% 5.825.499       82% 8,9%

Tonnage 4.447.767       83% 4.155.310       82% 7,0%

Goods (Tonnage) 26.694            58% 22.719            56% 17,5%

AERTRE 

Movements 17.150            17% 17.587            18% -2,5%

Passengers 1.340.874       17% 1.300.298       18% 3,1%

Tonnage 884.484          17% 901.624          18% -1,9%

Goods (Tonnage) 19.598            42% 17.905            44% 9,5%

SISTEMA

Movements 99.349            96.370            3,1%

Passengers 7.683.052       7.125.797       7,8%

Tonnage 5.332.251       5.056.934       5,4%

Goods (Tonnage) 46.292            40.624            14,0%

VENICE AIRPORT SYSTEM

 
 

Again, one should note the significant increase in airport passengers (+7.8%). The 

increase for Venice was even stronger, at 8.9%, which allowed the airport to pass 

the 6-million-passenger mark for the first time. 
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The impact from Treviso airport on overall traffic was 17%, with a 3.1% increase 

in passengers compared to 2005. Over the course of 2006, two new destinations 

operated by Ryanair were opened: Dublin in April, and Shannon in October. 

 

 

 

 

ANALYSIS OF TRAFFIC BASED ON TYPE 

 

 

2006 2005 Change %

Scheduled

Movements (no.) 83.250 77.849 6,9%

Passengers (no.) 7.316.420 6.640.386 10,2%

Goods (tons) 42.556 37.243 14,3%

Mail (tons) 3.736 3.381 10,5%

Aircraft (tons) 4.819.031 4.589.581 5,0%

Charter

Movements (no.) 4.223 6.819 -38,1%

Passengers (no.) 343.704 463.431 -25,8%

Aircraft (tons) 383.565 343.961 11,5%

General Aviation

Movements (no.) 11.876 11.702 1,5%

Passengers (no.) 22.928 21.980 4,3%

Aircraft (tons) 129.655 123.392 5,1%

Overall traffic figures

Movements (no.) 99.349 96.370 3,1%

Passengers (no.) 7.683.052 7.125.797 7,8%

Goods/Mail (tons) 46.292 40.624 14,0%

Aircraft (tons) 5.332.251 5.056.934 5,4%

VENICE AIRPORT SYSTEM

 

 

The decrease in charter flights is due mainly to the fact that many flights for 

Romania were converted from charter to airline. 

 

MAIN DESTINATIONS  

 

The following section illustrates how traffic for Venice airport is divided 

according to destinations within the country, destinations within the EU, and 

destinations outside of the EU. 
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Change %

2006 2005 06/'05

Domestic traffic 1.865.890 1.756.918 6,2%

Traffic in EU countries 3.822.157 3.595.853 6,3%

Traffic in non-EU countries 640.845 459.639 39,4%

TOTAL COMMERCIAL 

AVIATION 6.328.892 5.812.410 8,9%

General Aviation 13.286 13.089 1,5%

TOTAL 6.342.178 5.825.499 8,9%

Passengers

Origin/destination areas

 
 

Domestic traffic 

All destinations within the country have shown growth, with the exception of 

Naples. The overall increase in domestic traffic is 6.2%. 

 

Traffic in EU countries  

Germany proves to be the second most important source of traffic for 2006 (15% 

of total traffic), coming in just behind Italy, with an increase of 16.7% over 2005. 

This is also due to Hapag lloyd Express’s growth of 22.1% and the introduction of 

Condor’s new Munich route. 

The Spanish market increased with double digits (up 14.3%), thanks to the 

strengthening of Iberia and Alpi Eagles, as well as the new Vueling flights to and 

from Barcelona and Alpi Eagles’ Valencia flights. 

England, on the other hand, records a decrease of 91,000 passengers (down 11.0% 

from 2005), because certain flights on the Manchester and Coventry routes are no 

longer in use. 

 

Traffic in non-EU countries  

Traffic for destinations outside of the EU, in 2006, showed an increase of 39.4% 

over 2005. This is mainly due to: 

• Improvement in the US (up 18.9%), thanks to the new route to Atlanta 

operated by Delta Air Lines, which opened in June, and reinforcement of 

the routes that were already operating in New York (JFK) and 

Philadelphia; 

• Introduction of non-stop flight to and from Istanbul operated by Turkish 

Airlines; 

• Double the traffic in Switzerland, due to higher-capacity airplanes used by 

Swiss; 

• Increase in traffic to and from Romania, due to flights operated by 

Carpatair out of Venice; 

• Other additional non-EU destinations, such as Casablanca, St. Petersburg, 

Pristina, and Kiev. 

 

The following is an analysis of the main countries of destination: 
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Country Change %

2006 2005 06/'05

Italy 1.865.890 1.756.918 6,2%

Germany 945.801 810.724 16,7%

England 741.709 833.370 -11,0%

Spain 678.757 593.767 14,3%

France 671.410 613.894 9,4%

The Netherlands 216.104 210.252 2,8%

USA 206.414 173.665 18,9%

Switzerland 142.140 70.006 103,0%

Romania 133.647 91.141 46,6%

Belgium 99.804 99.902 -0,1%

Others 627.216 558.771 12,2%

Total 6.328.892 5.812.410 8,9%

Passengers

Origin/destination country

 
 

 

MAIN CARRIERS 

 

  

Carrier Change %

2006 06/'05

Alitalia 879.977 5,3%

Alpi Eagles 608.260 13,2%

Lufthansa 555.602 7,2%

Air France 527.132 10,1%

Iberia 381.629 18,5%

Easyjet 370.037 3,4%

Hapag Lloyd Express 350.314 22,1%

Windjet 291.995 19,5%

Myair 257.702 -12,5%

Airone 255.237 6,5%

Others 1.851.007 9,1%

Total 6.328.892 8,9%

Passeggeri

Main carriers

 
 

Airlines account for 95% of the airport’s total traffic. 

Planes are filled to 65% on average, a figure that has gone up since 2005, despite 

the fact that the vessels being used are even larger. In fact, the increase in the 

number of seats available is equal to 7.2%, and is higher than the increase in 

transfers, which is 4.8%. 

Low-cost carriers account for 23% of airline traffic. Four low-cost carriers made 

the top ten in 2006 airline rankings (Easyjet, Hapag Lloyd Express, Windjet, and 

My Way). 

During 2006, several new carriers entered the scene: Turkish Airlines operating 

out of Istanbul, Condor in Munich, Sterling (formerly Maersk Air) in 

Copenhagen, Smartwings in Prague, Vueling in Barcelona, Pulkovo in St. 

Petersburg (formerly operating with charter flights), Itali Airlines in Nice/Pescara, 

and Carpatair in Timisoara. 
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INFRASTRUCTURE MANAGEMENT 

Infrastructure management operations are carried out mainly through 

Centostazioni S.p.A. 

 

Censtostazioni’s corporate mission is to see to the upgrading of 103 station 

complexes in 103 cities throughout the country, while also ensuring effective 

management and encouraging optimised business. Various business opportunities 

will be pursued and started up inside the stations, keeping sight of the goal of 

absolute customer satisfaction. Customers will include passengers, visitors, 

ordinary customers, and even individuals testing the quality of the services 

offered. 

The size of these station complexes can be illustrated by the following figures: 

• over 500,000 sq. metres of surface area for travellers’ facilities, 

• approx. 1,000,000 sq. meters of outside areas including underpasses and 

platform roofing, 

• approx. 500 million visitors per year, divided as follows: 

o over 350 million passengers a year, 

o over 80 million people accompanying passengers, 

o over 70 million potential visitors not travelling. 

These figures for the network of stations emphasis e how central Centostazioni’s 

role is in the area of activities relating to railway travel. 

 

In 2006, Centostazioni took important steps forward in all areas of business: 

optimising the commercial aspect of the stations through agreements with key 

players and the creation of advertising departments; engineering activities at the 

railway complexes, and integrated management of “facility services,” with a more 

sensitive approach to the stations’ décor. These actions were confirmed by the 

results achieved two years after the activation of Global Service, in terms of the 

perception of quality and pattern of improvement, in addition to the average 

activation time.  

One extremely significant step is the upgrading of the new station in Milan, Porta 

Garibaldi, which was renovated and ready for use on 20 March, 2006. 

The Porta Garibaldi complex is an example of a “trend-setting” station, in that it 

has a modern, highly functional architectural layout, as well as features relating to 

services for the public and social activity. These factors make the building itself a 

place for exchange and communication, as many visitors and members of the 

media have already pointed out. 

 

 

FOOD & BEVERAGE AND RETAIL SERVICES 

The Group operated in the Food & Beverage and Retail business units through 

Airport Elite S.r.l, which also has the position of group leader among the other 

companies in operation. Over the course of 2006, there was a great deal of 

expansion in both business and physical size, bringing new opportunities and 

creating a more developed organisation. This resulted both from the Group's 

expanded personnel, as well as the addition of outside product lines through 

acquisitions and opening new locations.   

The business unit extended its presence to cover all types of transportation 

infrastructure when it purchased Ristop S.r.l., a main player in Italy's motorway 
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system, and the Airest Group, a major operator in terminal catering and airline 

catering in Austria and some countries in Eastern Europe, and with the 5 new 

Bricco and Culto businesses opened at the stations of Brescia, Novara, Catania, 

and Milan Garibaldi.   

 

Development projects for the next few years can be divided into two main areas: 

 

- expansion of Food&Beverage line, domestically and abroad, through the 

brands Bricco and Culto 

- optimising new business by taking part in sub-licence tenders, mainly through 

the brands in the Retail line (Travel retail, Hub, and Bottega dei Sapori) and 

Food & Beverage (Bricco, Culto, and De Canto) 

 
The Group now directly manages 123 stores, 75 of which are located in airports, 

10 in railway stations, 3 at ports, 21 along motorways, and 14 in shopping centres 

and other urban locations. It is now operating in 4 European countries. 
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Airport Elite Archimede 2 Ristop Airest Total

Airports 30 6 5 34 75

Railway Stations 9 0 1 0 10

Ports 3 0 0 0 3

Motorways 0 0 21 0 21

Shopping Malls and other locations 0 0 14 0 14

Total 42 6 41 34 123

number of outlets as of 31/12/06

Outlets by Channel and by Company

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Austria

• 5 Airports (Wien, Linz, 

Graz, Salzburg, 

Klagenfurt)

Slovenia

• 1 Airport

(Ljubljana)

Italy

• 6 Airports (Venezia, Treviso, Catania, 

Olbia, Bari, Verona);

• 10 Railway Stations (Termini, Rogoredo, 

Lambrate, Pescara, Cremona, Brescia, 

Novara, Catania e  Milano Garibaldi);

• 1 Port (Genova);

• 21 outlets in motorways;

• Shopping Malls, Business and 

Entartainment Centers (Milano, Verona, 

Brescia, Mantova, Padova, Ferrara).

Italy – Austria – Slovenia - Slovakia

Rest of Europe

Slovakia 

• 1 Airport (Bratislava) –

Airline and Business 

catering + 1 F&B Outlet

123 outlets

managed after 

Airest and Ristop

acquisition

Austria

• 5 Airports (Wien, Linz, 

Graz, Salzburg, 

Klagenfurt)

Slovenia

• 1 Airport

(Ljubljana)

Italy

• 6 Airports (Venezia, Treviso, Catania, 

Olbia, Bari, Verona);

• 10 Railway Stations (Termini, Rogoredo, 

Lambrate, Pescara, Cremona, Brescia, 

Novara, Catania e  Milano Garibaldi);

• 1 Port (Genova);

• 21 outlets in motorways;

• Shopping Malls, Business and 

Entartainment Centers (Milano, Verona, 

Brescia, Mantova, Padova, Ferrara).

Italy – Austria – Slovenia - Slovakia

Rest of Europe

Slovakia 

• 1 Airport (Bratislava) –

Airline and Business 

catering + 1 F&B Outlet

123 outlets

managed after 

Airest and Ristop

acquisition
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GROUP’S INCOME STATEMENT 

 

Below is the reclassified consolidated income statement for the SAVE Group 

(figures in thousands of euros): 

 

 

225.181 100% 166.004 100% 59.177 35,6% 45.637 100%

Raw materials and goods 45.445 20,2% 25.655 15,5% 19.790 77,1% 17.023 37,3%

Services 46.980 20,9% 39.360 23,7% 7.620 19,4% 4.694 10,3%

Lease and rental costs 20.123 8,9% 12.867 7,8% 7.256 56,4% 5.640 12,4%

Personnel cost 56.639 25,2% 38.316 23,1% 18.323 47,8% 14.889 32,6%

Sundry operating expenses 2.258 1,0% 2.315 1,4% -57 -2,5% 569 1,2%

Total operating costs 171.445 76,1% 118.514 71,4% 52.931 44,7% 42.815 93,8%

EBITDA 53.736 23,9% 47.491 28,6% 6.245 13,2% 2.822 6,2%

Amortization of intangible fixed assets 3.804 1,7% 3.841 2,3% -37 -1,0% 45 0,1%

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 15.382 6,8% 14.648 8,8% 734 5,0% 1.901 4,2%

Losses and bad debts 2.216 1,0% 2.990 1,8% -774 -25,9% 14 0,0%

Allocations for risks 1.859 0,8% 1.717 1,0% 142 8,2% -45 -0,1%

Total amortization, depreciation and allocations 23.261 10,3% 23.197 14,0% 64 0,3% 1.915 4,2%

EBIT 30.475 13,5% 24.294 14,6% 6.181 25,4% 907 2,0%

Financial income (-) and expenses (+) 1.734 0,8% 1.917 1,2% -183 -10% 707 1,5%

PRE - TAX 28.741 12,8% 22.378 13,5% 6.363 28,4% 200 0,4%

Taxes 15.203 6,8% 11.608 7,0% 3.595 31,0% 301 0,7%

Profit/(loss) on continuing operations 13.538 6,0% 10.770 6,5% 2.768 26% -101 -0,2%

2.830 1,3% 2.830 2.830 6,2%

Profit (loss) for the period 16.368 7,3% 10.770 6,5% 5.598 52,0% 2.729 6,0%

Minorities (- = income) -183 -0,1% -196 -0,1% 13 -6,7%

Group Net Result 16.551 7,4% 10.966 6,6% 5.585 50,9% 2.729 6,0%

% Taxation on pre-tax 52,9% 51,9% 150,2%

Profit (loss) on discontinued operations/assets 

held for sale

2006

of which AcquisitionsSAVE GROUP

DELTA GROUP 12/06 

VS 12/052005

Euros / 1000

2006

Operating revenue and other income

 
 

 

The value of the revenue in the year came to € 225.2 million (of which € 45.6 

million for acquired companies), marking an increase of 35.6%, equal to € 59.2 

million year on year (on a uniform basis without considering acquisitions, the 

increase would have been 8.2%). The Group has confirmed its ability to grow 

continuously and at sustained rhythm. 

The financial year 2006 was a period of sizable growth in revenues for the Save 

Group, including on a business unit level: 

• Aviation: € 103.4 million, up € 5.1 million (+5.2%). 

• F&B and Retail: € 102.5 million, up € 53.6 million (+109.4%). On a 

uniform basis, the increase would have been € 7.9 million (+16.2%). 

Acquired companies contributed approximately € 45.6 million to 

consolidated revenue. Revenue for assets held for sale, not included in 

revenue, were € 45.5 million; 

• Infrastructures: € 26.4 million, up € 1.6 million (+6.5%). 
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Below is a breakdown of revenues by nature and business unit.  

 

 

(euros / 1000) 2006  % 2005  % Difference

Difference 

%

REVENUE:

Aeronautical 59.994 26,6% 55.547 33,5% 4.447 8,0%

Merchandise Handling Deposit 4.983 2,2% 4.677 2,8% 306 6,5%

Ticketing 959 0,4% 859 0,5% 100 11,6%

Parking 9.348 4,2% 8.683 5,2% 665 7,7%

Commercial/Marketing 16.138 7,2% 14.747 8,9% 1.391 9,4%

Advertisement 1.600 0,7% 1.550 0,9% 50 3,2%

Handling 1.927 0,9% 1.944 1,2% (17 ) (0,9%)

Other Characteristics 2.249 1,0% 1.818 1,1% 431 23,7%

Other Revenue 6.173 2,7% 8.406 5,1% (2.233 ) (26,6%)

Total airport management 103.371        45,9% 98.231 59,2% 5.140            5,2%

Terminal operation 26.411 11,7% 24.794 14,9% 1.617 6,5%

Total infrastructure management 26.411 11,7% 24.794 14,9% 1.617 6,5%

Retail 28.773 12,8% 26.097 15,7% 2.676 10,3%

Food&Beverage 27.290 12,1% 22.024 13,3% 5.266 23,9%

Airest  (*) 25.593 11,4% 25.593

Ristop 19.864 8,8% 19.864

Other 994 0,4% 835 0,5% 159 19,1%

Total food & beverage and retail 102.514 45,5% 48.956 29,5% 53.558 109,4%

Intercompany among diverse SBU (7.115 ) (3,2%) (5.976 ) (3,6%) (1.139 ) 19,1%

Total 225.181 100,0% 166.004 100,0% 59.176 35,6%

Figures of 2005 are uniform with those of 2006

*) only for assets not held for sale  
 

 

EBITDA was € 53.7 million (of which € 2.8 million related to acquired 

companies), reporting a rise of € 6.2 million compared to a year earlier (+13.2%) 

(on a uniform basis without considering acquisitions, the increase would have 

been 7.2%).  EBITDA accounted for 23.9% of revenues. The reduction in 

EBITDA as a percentage of revenue was mainly caused by the shift in the revenue 

mix toward food & beverage and retail, which accounted for 45.5% of Group 

revenue in 2006, compared to 29.5% in 2005. 

 

Not considering the non-recurring income earned in 2005, of € 2.95 million (from 

the take over of a property valued at € 1.75 million based on a specific 

assessment, non-recurring use of a risk provision of € 0.3 million and repayment 

of part of a receivable from Volare, previously completely written down for € 0.84 

million), the increase in EBITDA in 2006 would have been € 9.2 million (up 

20.7%). Likewise, on a uniform basis without considering acquisitions, the 

increase in EBITDA would have been € 6.4 million (+14.4%). 

 

EBIT ended the year at € 30.5 million (of which € 0.9 million related to acquired 

companies), reporting growth of € 6.2 million and improving by 25.4% with 

respect to 2005 (on a uniform basis without considering acquisitions, it would 

have been +21.7%). EBIT accounted for 13.5% of revenue. 

 

Pre-tax profits (and assets held for sale) amounted to € 28.7 million (12.5% on 

revenue), € 0.2 million of which referred to acquired companies, and reported 

growth of € 6.4 million (+28.4%) with respect to a value of € 22.4 million in 

2005. 

The result includes the effect of financial management and shareholdings which, 

in 2006, reported a positive balance of € 1.7 million, compared with the € 1.9 
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million in 2005, falling by € 0.2 million. 

Note that in relation to the Airest Group and at this level of the income statement, 

Group results in 2006 take into account financial expenses in the vehicle 

company, for the entire business initially acquired, while the part of operating 

income and revenue of the sold assets is reported in a lower line in the income 

statement, classified with the assets held for sale. 

 

Non-recurring net income and charges (including the effect of IRS hedges on 

interest rates) in 2006 were € 2.8 million, compared with € 1.2 million in 2005. 

In particular, in 2006, a non-recurring capital gain was posted in relation to the 

sale of some securities in a listed company operating in the airport segment, for € 

2.7 million. In 2005, there was income on put and call financial instruments for € 

0.4 million. 

In addition, the “mark to market” evaluation of the IRS transactions, intended to 

stabilize the cost of debt, showed a financial gain of € 1.5 million with respect to a 

gain in 2005 of just € 0.1 million. 

Management of shareholdings in 2006 reported a non-recurring writedown in the 

parent company of € 1.4 million, relating to an affiliate whose carrying value was 

written down based on the limited estimated probable revenue which are unlikely 

to cover the respective costs and amortization of the assets. The FY 2005 reported 

a capital gain from the sale of an equity investment € 0.7 million. 

 

The result arising from assets held for sale amounted to € 2.8 million and 

referred to the Airest Group for the Airline Catering Business. 

Refer to the comments under "subsequent events and/or acquisitions" for the 

income statement of the assets held for sale. 

 

Group net income came to € 16.6 million (of which € 2.7 million originating 

from acquired companies, before income pertaining to minority interest and 

including assets held for sale) with growth of € 5.6 million (up 50.9%) with 

respect to the amount of € 11 million in 2005, after deducting higher taxes for € 

3.6 million. The tax rate accounted for 52.9% of pre-tax profit, compared to the 

rate of 51.9% in 2005. 

Net income was 7.4% of revenue. 

 

 

NET FINANCIAL POSITION 

 

Group net financial position ended the year preceded by a minus sign of € 125.3 

million, with respect to net debt of € 87.4 at year-end 2005 with an increase of € 

37.9 million. Short-term assets at year-end were € 37.8 million, reporting growth 

of € 11.2 with respect to December 2005. Net debt is concentrated on medium-

long term liabilities which came to € 127.4 million. Of these, € 124.4 million were 

related to bank loans falling due beyond one year, including new loans of € 14 

million taken out by the vehicle during the year for acquisition of Airest, 

acquisition of Ristop for € 20 million opened by the subsidiary Airport Elite, and 

€ 12.5 million in the parent company. 

 

Net payables arising from the fair value assessment of the hedge transactions to 

cover the risk of interest rate fluctuation were equal to € 0.5 million, down by € 

1.5 million with respect to the previous year and were classified as payables to 
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other lenders and in Financial assets. 

 

The Airest transaction has caused higher debt for € 26.8 million, of which € 21.8 

million to the Airest Group and € 5 million to the Save Group for payment of 

capital into the vehicle company. 

 

At the date of acquisition, the Ristop transaction led to higher debt of € 21.8 

million, of which € 20 million with special loan opened by Airport Elite S.r.l.. 

S.r.l.. 

 
NET FINANCIAL POSITION

31/12/2006 31/12/2005 change

(in thousands of euros)

cash and cash equivalents 34.941 26.563 8.378

* Financial assets sold/held for sale: 293 293

Financial assets sold/held for sale: 2.529 2.529

Short-term assets 37.763 26.563 11.200

** payables to banks 32.637 16.092 16.545

* Other financial liabilities – current share 2.967 3.854 -887 

Financial liabilities sold/held for sale

Short-term liabilities 35.604 19.946 15.658

** Financial payables net of current share to banks 124.401 89.194 35.207

Financial payables net of current share to others 3.013 4.811 -1.798 

Long-term liabilities 127.414 94.005 33.409

Net Financial Position 125.255 87.387 37.868

* 537 2.073 -1.536

** of which gross payables to banks 157.038 105.286 51.752

of which net liabilities for measurement at fair value 

derivative contracts /1000

 
  

 

 

Cash management has created liquidity of € 42,4 million for operations of which 

€ 33,7 million arising from self-financing for economic management. 

In 2006, three new loans were opened for € 49,4 million, necessary to develop the 

business. 

Dividends of € 8.7 million were distributed in the year, related to the FY 2005. In 

addition, other dividends distributed amounted to € 1.2 million with reference to a 

past year, to a shareholder who had previously given them back pursuant to the 

legal dispute regarding rejection of the 2003 financial statements, which ended 

when the shareholders – the Municipality of Venice and the Province of Venice – 

dropped the suit. 

In addition, own shares were purchased on the market, for a total payment of € 3.3 

million.  
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RECLASSIFIED GROUP BALANCE SHEET  
 

CONSOLIDATED RECLASSIFIED BALANCE SHEET 

FOR THE SAVE GROUP  euros /1000 31-dic-06 31-dic-05

Difference 

compared to 

12/2005

Differenc

e %

of which 

Acquisition

s

Own tangible assets 75.428 49.690 25.738 51,8% 18.903

Tangible assets subject to reversion free of charge 132.629 127.024 5.605 4,4% 3.200

Intangible fixed assets 124.538 75.722 48.816 64,5% 51.007

Financial fixed assets 130.940 93.492 37.448 40,1% 54

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 463.535 345.928 117.607 34,0% 73.164

Provision for severance indemnity (12.768) (7.075) (5.693) 80,5% (5.115)

Provision for risks, assets subject to reversion free of charge and deferred taxation(18.311) (13.500) (4.811) 35,6% (1.125)

PERMANENT WORKING CAPITAL 432.456 325.353 107.103 32,9% 66.924

Inventories 9.379 4.687 4.692 100,1% 4.055

Trade receivables 33.450 29.051 4.399 15,1% 1.472

Tax receivables and deferred taxes 16.192 15.651 541 3,5% 1.324

Other receivables and other short-term assets 16.071 19.020 (2.949) -15,5% 934

Trade payables and advances (54.232) (39.709) (14.523) 36,6% (14.846)

Payables to tax authorities (8.773) (10.870) 2.097 -19,3% (702)

Payables to social security authorities (3.317) (2.550) (767) 30,1% (608)

Other payables (12.723) (9.396) (3.327) 35,4% (4.990)

TOTAL PERMANENT WORKING CAPITAL (3.953) 5.884 (9.837) -167,2% (13.361)

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES SOLD 

/HELD FOR SALE 13.661 13.661 16.986

TOTAL INVESTED CAPITAL 442.164 331.236 110.928 33,5% 70.548

Group net equity 288.793 219.377 69.416 31,6%

Net minority interest 28.116 24.472 3.644 14,9%

NET EQUITY 316.909 243.849 73.060 30,0%

Cash and short-term assets (35.234) (26.563) (8.671) 32,6%

Payables to banks 32.637 16.092 16.545 102,8%

Long-term payables to banks 124.401 89.194 35.207 39,5%

Other lenders 5.980 8.665 (2.685) -31,0%

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES SOLD 

/HELD FOR SALE (2.529) (2.529)

TOTAL NET FINANCIAL POSITION 125.255 87.387 37.868 43,3%

TOT. FINANCIAL SOURCES 442.164 331.236 110.928 33,5%  
 

 

During the year, medium-term loan repayments were made for € 11,8 million; the 

portion falling due in 2007 will be € 16.3 million, of which € 10,9 relating to the 

parent company. The value of the loans to be repaid beyond one year amounted to 

€ 124.4 million, of which € 46.8 million fall due beyond five years. 

A new loan in the amount of € 14 million was opened during the financial year, in 

the name of the Austrian vehicle company, which financed acquisition of the 

Airest Group. The other sources of financing that allowed the vehicle to execute 

the transaction included a stake in the capital of € 5 million and a loan of the 

parent company of € 8 million. 

An additional loan for € 20 million was opened by Airport Elite for acquisition of 

Ristop in the last quarter. Similarly, SAVE S.p.A. cashed a loan opened at year-

end 2005 with the option of "pulling it" by the end of 2006, in relation to 

acquisition of land, executed in 2005, to meet future airport development needs. 

Medium- to long-term loans are object of hedging (IRS) against the risk of 

interest rate increases for 45% of their total value, compared to the 73% at the end 

of 2005. Loans opened in 2006 are not subject to hedging.  

Working capital is managed carefully, including in the presence of general sector 

difficulties with air carriers and handlers. During the year, an agreement was 

signed with a key client who failed to honour a previous rescheduled payment 

plan. The agreement included an insurance guarantee on the total value of the 
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credit expired at that date. Procedures are currently underway to ensure credit 

protection. 

The sizable reduction in working capital was the result of consolidation of assets 

characterized by immediate collection at the time of sale and payment of deferred 

operating costs that lead to a negative working capital with payables higher than 

receivables. 

 

Net liabilities and assets related to assets held for sale came to € 16.2 million, 

already taking account of a receivable from the parent company for € 3.3 million  

 

The sizable increase in the value of long-term investments was due to the fair 

value evaluation of the Gemina security, which led to a change of € 50.3 million 

with respect to 2005 with a positive impact on shareholders' equity, net of the tax 

effect, for € 47.7 million. Unlike 2006, 2005 showed a fair value less than the 

average purchase value of € 6.4 million. 

 

Group shareholder's equity was € 288.8 million, up by € 69.4 million with 

respect to year-end 2005. Adjustment of the value of the Gemina S.p.A. 

shareholding to market prices at year-end (assessed at fair value net of the tax 

effect) with respect to a similar value at 31 December 2005, led to an increase in 

shareholders' equity for € 47.7 million, as shown above. 

 

Net investments in fixed assets (not classified as long-term investments) for 

the year, excluding the effect caused by acquisition of the Airest Group, came to € 

27.1 million, mainly caused by (i) restructuring and reorganization activities in 

Centostazioni for € 5.1 million pertaining to the Save Group, (ii) progress of the 

construction works in the airport terminal of Treviso for € 9.1 million, (iii) 

development of food and beverage and retail for € 6.1 million and (iv) additional 

acquisitions of land at the Venice airport € 1.3 million. 

The increase related to Airest of € 26.4 million was booked with intangible assets 

and refers to the higher value paid upon acquisition. This higher value was 

attributed partly to the customer list, partly to goodwill and partly to licenses in 

relation to the various businesses managed by Airest and their characteristic of 

definite or indefinite life. 

During the year, a contractual advance of € 21.8 million was paid for acquisition 

of Ristop, in the process of execution. 

 

Net investments in long-term investments were essentially determined by the 

balance between the sale of € 6.46 million of Gemina S.p.A. shares, which led to 

cash generation of € 16.7 million, including a capital gain with respect to the 

average purchase value of € 2.7 million, and the increase in the value of the equity 

investments based on market quotations at 31 December 2006. 

In addition, in 2006, a non-recurring writedown was made in the parent company 

for € 1.4 million, relating to an affiliate whose carrying value was valued based on 

the limited estimates of revenues which are unlikely to cover the respective costs 

and amortization of assets. 

 

In January 2007, the Group granted its shareholding in Gemina S.p.A. (the 

"Shares") as a loan to Morgan Stanley International Limited ("Morgan Stanley"), 

represented by 37,390,000 ordinary shares and corresponding to 10.2585% of the 

capital in the company. 
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The securities loan related to the Shares have a duration of 9 months beginning on 

24 January 2007 and requires Morgan Stanley to give back the Shares. The 

transaction makes it possible to improve the financial position of the company 

from a perspective of effective management of their equity investments. Against 

this loan, Morgan Stanley will transfer to SAVE a cash amount as collateral 

essentially in line with the current value of securities and, from this perspective, 

the transaction makes it possible to secure financial resources at a convenient cost.  

In addition, also on this date, SAVE executed a “Total Return Hedging Equity 

Swap” transaction with Morgan Stanley. This transaction enables SAVE to cover 

the risk of changes to the market value of the securities and envisages, at term, a 

cash payment or, with an option to SAVE, for physical delivery of the Shares. 

 

The Group uses every available legal instrument to protect its receivables, as 

necessary. The provision for bad debts, equal to € 13.1 million, is considered 

adequate to cover existing risks.  

During the year, the parent company provisioned € 1.7 million to the provision for 

bad debts also to cover the net risk arising from application of airport fees in the 

amounts in force at 2005, as the question is in dispute as to application "system 

requirements". This provision would be reduced by € 0.8 million if the legislation 

regarding "system requirements" wasn't considered. The provision would have 

been € 1.1 million less on a Group level. 

 

Assets and liabilities related to assets held for sale respectively totalled € 31.1 

million (minus a credit toward the parent company for € 3.3 million) and € 14.9 

million for a net value of € 16.2 million.  Financial assets amounted to € 2.5 

million. 

 

 

31/12/2006 2006 31/12/2005

SAVE's financial statements (Parent Company) 263.943 12.644 215.575

Elimination of carrying value of consolidated shareholdings

- difference between the book value and pro quota value (100.026) 7.113 (81.132) 

- goodwill/badwill on consolidation 125.093 (2.028) 86.735

Elimination of profits earned on sale of assets and infragroup shareholdings (4.278) 67 (4.345) 

Derecognition of paid dividends 829 (1.879) 

Effect of net equity valuation of shareholdings 1.392 332 1.060

Other operations 419 416 (50) 

Tax effects on consolidation adjustments 1.421 (114) 1.534

Net equity and operating profit pertaining to the Group 288.793 16.551 219.377

Net minority interest 28.116 (183) 24.472

Net equity and result for the year of the consolidated financial statements 316.909 16.368 243.849

Statement of Reconciliation of Net Equity and the Result for the Period
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PERFORMANCE BY BUSINESS AREA 
 

 

The following is an analysis of revenue and margins for each individual business 

unit. The figures also take the impact of acquisitions into account. 

 

 
EBITDA ANALYSIS BY SBU

(in thousands of euros)

Year to date 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

Operating revenue and other income 103.371 98.231 26.411 24.794 102.514 48.956 -7.115 -5.976 225.181 166.004

Costs 62.728 58.105 21.726 21.844 94.106 44.540 -7.115 -5.976 171.445 118.514

Ebitda 40.643 40.125 4.685 2.949 8.408 4.416 53.736 47.491

% Ebitda on revenue 39,3% 40,8% 17,7% 11,9% 8,2% 9,0% -                -                23,9% 28,6%

(in thousands of euros)

Amount % Amount % Amount % Amount % Amount %

Change in operating revenue and other income (A)5.140 5,2% 1.617 6,5% 53.558 109,4% -1.139 19,1% 59.177 35,6%

Change Ebitda (B) 518 1,3% 1.736 58,8% 3.992 90,4% 6.245 13,2%

(C) = (B)/(A) 10,1% 107,3% 7,5% 10,6%

Percentage of revenue by SBU 45,9% 59,2% 11,7% 14,9% 45,5% 29,5% -3,2% -3,6% 100,0% 100,0%

Percentage of EBITDA 

generated by SBU 75,6% 84,5% 8,7% 6,2% 15,6% 9,3% 100,0% 100,0%

Airport management
Infrastructure 

management

Food & Beverage and 

Retail

Cancellation among 

segments

Airport management
Infrastructure 

management

Food & Beverage and 

Retail

Cancellation among 

segments

Change 06-05 Change 06-05 Change 06-05 Change 06-05

2006

Change 06-05

Total

Total

 
 

 

There has been a noticeable change in the balance of revenue to EBITDA for the 

different business units. 

More specifically, the Food & Beverage and Retail unit carries much more 

weight, going from 29.5% to 45.5% of total revenue.  

With EBITDA at nearly 40% of revenue, the airport management sector still 

dominates the Group’s EBITDA, generating 75.6% of the total, for € 40.6 million 

in 2006. 

In 2005, the EBITDA for the Group and this business unit included € 2.95 million 

in the non-recurring income described above. Airport management’s EBITDA for 

2005, would total 39% of revenue after being adjusted accordingly for non-

recurring income. 

 

EBITDA resulting from the expansion of the consolidation area for the acquisition 

of the Airest Group and Ristop, amounted to € 7.3 million, 4.7 of which for assets 

held for sale. 
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AIRPORT MANAGEMENT 
 

Below is a detailed breakdown of revenues, with an indication of primary 

phenomena. 

 

 

(euros / 1000) 2006 % on total 2.005 % on total Difference

Difference 

%

SAVE

Aeronautical 52.597 50,9% 48.314 49,2% 4.283 8,9%

Commercial/Marketing 18.890 18,3% 17.385 17,7% 1.505 8,7%

Advertisement 1.600 1,5% 1.550 1,6% 50 3,2%

Ticketing 944 0,9% 858 0,9% 86 10,0%

Merchandise Handling Deposit 3.803 3,7% 3.477 3,5% 326 9,4%

Handling 503 0,5% 502 0,5% 1 0,2%

Other Revenue 6.251 6,0% 8.462 8,6% (2.211) (26,1%)

AER TRE

Aeronautical 7.397 7,2% 7.233 7,4% 164 2,3%

Commercial/Marketing 1.543 1,5% 1.286 1,3% 257 20,0%

Parking 180 0,2% 1 0,0% 179 17.900,0%

Ticketing 15 0,0% 1 0,0% 14 1.400,0%

Merchandise Handling Deposit 1.180 1,1% 1.200 1,2% (20) (1,6%)

Handling 1.424 1,4% 1.442 1,5% (18) (1,3%)

Other Revenue 376 0,4% 109 0,1% 267 246,2%

MARCO POLO PARK 9.168 8,9% 8.682 8,8% 486 5,6%

SAVE SECURITY 6.872 6,6% 6.214 6,3% 658 10,6%

SAVE ENGINEERING 2.470 2,4% 3.325 3,4% (855) (25,7%)

N-AITEC 1.154 1,1% 795 0,8% 359 45,2%

AGRICOLA CA' BOLZAN 102 0,1% 145 0,1% (43) (29,8%)

AEROPORTO CIVILE PADOVA 540 0,5% 511 0,5% 29 5,6%

Consolidated revenue 117.009        113,2% 111.491 113,5% 5.518            4,9%

Postings and elisions in SBU (13.638) (13,2%) (13.260 ) (13,5%) (378) 2,8%

REVENUE ON AIRPORT MANAGEMENT 103.371        100,0% 98.231 100,0% 5.140            5,2%

SUBTOTAL SAVE SPA 84.490            80.532 3.958               
 

The positive trend in passenger traffic and transport was due to growth achieved 

both with regard to Venice and Treviso airports and has a direct impact on 

aeronautical and non-aeronautical revenues.   

In FY 2006, operating revenue and other income for the Aviation unit increased 

by 5.2% compared to 2005; they total € 103.4 million with an increase of € 5.1 

million. The most significant phenomena are: 

• the 7.8% increase in passenger volume, which is reflected by the increase 

in strictly aeronautical revenues; 

• greater earnings from royalties connected to the increase in sell-out 

volumes for subcontractors. One should keep in mind that the number of 

passengers and the related increase in volume are among the driving 

factors in sales for subcontractors, and further growth was achieved at the 

Venice airport, by increasing appeal and penetration for passengers in 

transit. 

• the investment programme implemented in the Marco Polo Park car parks, 

aimed at greater segmentation and expansion of services; 

• for other revenue, FY 2006 recorded € 2.95 million in non-recurring 

revenue, € 1.7 million of which relate to a piece of property taken over, 

and € 0.84 million to the collection of a receivable from a carrier 

previously totally written down. 
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Income Statement for the Airport Management Business Unit 

 

-                

103.371 100% 98.231 100% 5.140 5,2%

Raw materials and goods 1.729 1,7% 1.870 1,9% -141 -7,6%

Services 26.911 26,0% 24.299 24,7% 2.612 10,8%

Lease and rental costs 5.894 5,7% 5.031 5,1% 863 17,1%

Personnel cost 26.888 26,0% 25.389 25,8% 1.499 5,9%

Sundry operating expenses 1.306 1,3% 1.516 1,5% -210 -13,8%

Total operating costs 62.728 60,7% 58.105 59,2% 4.623 8,0%

EBITDA 40.643 39,3% 40.125 40,8% 518 1,3%

Amortization of intangible fixed assets 719 0,7% 753 0,8% -34 -4,5%

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 12.070 11,7% 13.609 13,9% -1.539 -11,3%

Losses and bad debts 2.015 1,9% 2.792 2,8% -777 -27,8%

Allocations for risks 1.215 1,2% 1.579 1,6% -364 -23,1%

Total amortization, depreciation and allocations 16.019 15,5% 18.733 19,1% -2.714 -14,5%

EBIT 24.624 23,8% 21.393 21,8% 3.231 15,1%

Euros / 1000

Operating revenue and other income

20052006

AIRPORT MANAGEMENT

DIFERENCE 12/06 

COMPARED TO 

12/05

 
 

The gross operating margin (EBITDA), totalling € 40.6 million, increased by 

1.3%.  The gross operating margin proved to be significant, at 39.3% of operating 

revenue. The slight drop in this figure is primarily due to certain positive, non-

recurring factors presented in FY 2005, which if adjusted accordingly would 

indicate a margin of 39% of total revenue. 

 

The main cost variations result from the increase in energy costs due to the price 

of oil. This impacts gas and electricity and translates to an additional cost of 7 

cents per passenger travelling, which was not necessary the during the previous 

year. 

Contrarily, they have not yet approved any raise in fares. 

 

Costs include all of the airport licence fees according to the updated procedures 

used for FY 2005. The relief of 75% of the licence fee indicated in the “system 

requirements” regulations never went into effect, as described and applied for the 

definition of revenue that are based on the fares charged in 2005. 

However, the fact remains that the positive difference in revenue between the 

fares applied and those indicated in the “system requirements” regulations, is 

essentially cancelled out by the costs for airport licence fees (calculated as 

previously mentioned) and by the provisions for bad debts based on the 

presumable estimate for collection. 
 

The operating margin (EBIT), totalling € 24.6 million, increased by 15.1%.  The 

operating margin proves to be significant, amounting to 23.8% of operating 

revenue, with a 21.8% increase over the previous year. The total value of 

amortisation and provisions shows provisions for bad debts for the careful 

management of the margin risk resulting from the application of the “system 
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requirements” regulations and the minor provision per provisions for the 

aforementioned trade disputes.   

 

 

INFRASTRUCTURE MANAGEMENT 
 

 

Assets are essentially attributable to Centostazioni. The Save Group share of 

revenues (40% of the figure for Centostazioni) amounted to € 26.4 million, up 

6.5% compared to the previous year. 

 

EBITDA recorded a 58.8% increase over the previous year (€ 4.7 million as 

compares to € 2.9 million). This can be attributed mainly to the increase in third-

party revenue through the constant entry of new business agreements in line with 

the Group's plans for reconstruction and development at the stations managed. 

The increase in profitability was considerable, nearly equalling revenue, since 

costs were fixed for the most part. 

 

The percentage of the gross operating result on revenue was 17.7%, as compared 

to the 11.9% of the year before. 

 

EBIT of € 1.5 million showed a steady rise, unlike the relatively even pattern of 

the previous year. The operating margin equalled 5.5% of operating revenue, as 

compares to the 0.8% of the previous year. EBIT takes into account amortization 

of the licence value amounting to € 2 million for the FY. 

 

Income Statement for the Infrastructure Business Unit 
 

26.411 100% 24.794 100% 1.617 6,5%

Raw materials and goods 156 0,6% 154 0,6% 2 1,3%

Services 13.156 49,8% 13.673 55,1% -517 -3,8%

Lease and rental costs 4.936 18,7% 4.330 17,5% 606 14,0%

Personnel cost 3.263 12,4% 3.093 12,5% 170 5,5%

Sundry operating expenses 215 0,8% 594 2,4% -379 -63,8%

Total operating costs 21.726 82,3% 21.844 88,1% -118 -0,5%

EBITDA 4.685 17,7% 2.949 11,9% 1.736 58,8%

Amortization of intangible fixed assets 2.306 8,7% 2.360 9,5% -54 -2,3%

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 369 1,4% 142 0,6% 227 159,9%

Losses and bad debts 149 0,6% 170 0,7% -21 -12,4%

Allocations for risks 396 1,5% 73 0,3% 323 442,5%

Total amortization, depreciation and allocations 3.220 12,2% 2.745 11,1% 475 17,3%

EBIT 1.465 5,5% 204 0,8% 1.261 617%

INFRASTRUCTURES

Infrastructures 

DIFERENCE 12/06 

COMPARED TO 12/05

Euros / 1000

Operating revenue and other income

20052006
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FOOD & BEVERAGE AND RETAIL BUSINESS UNIT 
 
 

Note that there was a signficant increase in revenue of € 53.6 million (+109.4% 

with respect to 2005) for a total of € 102.5 million.  

Acquisitions during the year included the Airest Group – consolidated as of 1 

April 2006 – and Ristop S.r.l. – entering the scope of consolidation as of 1 

October 2006. 

In particular, the Airest Group recorded assets held for sale, with decision taken 

during the year after acquisition. Economic and asset values relating to these 

assets are given in a single line in the income statement under EBIT and in 

specific lines of the balance sheet. As a result, the income statement data reported 

below refer only to continuing operations of the business unit not including those 

intended for sale 

 

The growth contributed through the Airest and Ristop acquisitions was € 45.6 

million, € 25.6 million relating to Airest and 20 relating to Ristop for the periods 

of consolidation of the Group.  

On a uniform basis, growth was 16.2% or € 7.9 million, due basically to the 

business in the Venice, Olbia, Treviso, Bari and Catania airports and train 

stations.  

In 2006, new “Briccocafè” snack shops were opened at renovated train stations. In 

particular, the most successful new openings were in Brescia and Porta Garibaldi 

in Milan for the size and appeal. The Brescia outlet has more than 180 seats and 

includes a bar, pizzeria, and self-service restaurant, on a surface area of 600 m2. 

 

The gross operating margin (EBITDA) amounted to € 8.4 million, a € 4 million 

year-on-year increase (+90.4%).  

 

EBITDA at Airest as a percentage of revenue was 10%, with an absolute value of 

€ 2.65 million; EBITDA at Ristop as a percentage of revenue was € 0.2 million. 

 

The operating margin (EBIT) totalled € 4.4 million, with a € 1.7 million year-on-

year increase. Gross operating income as a percentage of revenue was 4.3% 

compared with 5.5% in the previous year. EBIT takes into account amortization 

related to acquisitions for € 0.2 million for assets with a finite useful life. 
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Income Statement of the Food & Beverage & Retail Business Unit 

 

102.514 100% 48.956 100% 53.558 109,4%

Raw materials and goods 43.560 42,5% 23.648 48,3% 19.912 84,2%

Services 8.846 8,6% 3.334 6,8% 5.512 165,3%

Lease and rental costs 14.414 14,1% 7.501 15,3% 6.913 92,2%

Personnel cost 26.488 25,8% 9.834 20,1% 16.654 169,4%

Sundry operating expenses 798 0,8% 223 0,5% 575 257,8%

Total operating costs 94.106 91,8% 44.540 91,0% 49.566 111,3%

EBITDA 8.408 8,2% 4.416 9,0% 3.992 90,4%

Amortization of intangible fixed assets 779 0,8% 729 1,5% 50 6,9%

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 2.943 2,9% 897 1,8% 2.046 228,0%

Losses and bad debts 52 0,1% 28 0,1% 24 85,7%

Allocations for risks 248 0,2% 65 0,1% 183 281,5%

Total amortization, depreciation and allocations 4.022 3,9% 1.719 3,5% 2.303 134,0%

EBIT 4.386 4,3% 2.697 5,5% 1.689 62,6%

F&B and Retail

F&B and Retail  

DIFERENCE 12/06 

COMPARED TO 12/05

Euros / 1000

Operating revenue and other income

20052006

 
 

The Group's acquisition of the Airest and Ristop Group led to a higher percentage 

on all the economic indicators of the Food and Beverage and Retail business unit 

compared to a year earlier. The value of F&B and Retail revenue was 45.5% of 

total Save Group revenue, compared with 29.5% of the previous year. 

 

The contribution to total Group EBITDA by the business unit was 15.6% of the 

total compared with 9.3% in 2005. EBITDA as a percent of the value of revenue 

was 8.2%. 
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HUMAN RESOURCES 

 

The following section describes the professionals working for the Group. 

 

STAFF 

Full

Time

Part

Time

Full

Time

Part

Time

Full

Time

Part

Time

Managers 30 24 6

Middle management 107 1 70 37 1

White-collar personnel 734 76 578 42 156 34

Blue-collar personnel 802 501 305 84 497 417

Trainees 10 3 1 1 9 2

TOTAL 1.683 581 978 127 705 454

TOTAL STAFF

AVERAGE FULL TIME 

EQUIVALENT

31/12/2006 31/12/2005 Change 

2.465 991 1.474

2.264 1.105 1.159

 
 

The Food & Beverage and Retail unit expanded with 1,137 new professionals, 

1,065 of whom were hired through the recent acquisitions of Ristop and the Airest 

Group. In the other business units, there are 22 additional staff members, 12 of 

whom were hired for the aviation sector.  

 

STAFF AS AT 31/12/2006

Full

Time

Part

Time

Full

Time

Part

Time

Full

Time

Part

Time

Full

Time

Part

Time

Managers 13 10 7 30

Middle management 34 29 44 1 107 1

White-collar personnel 386 38 109 239 38 734 76

Blue-collar personnel 148 2 654 499 802 501

Trainees 10 3 10 3

TOTAL 581 40 148 954 541 1.683 581

TOTAL STAFF

AVERAGE FULL TIME 

EQUIVALENT

TOTAL

2.264

2.465

Aviation Infrastructures
Food & Beverage 

and Retail 

610 143 1.712

621 148 1.495

 
 

Employee numbers for the retail sector also include the people hired by authorised 

retailers. 

The cost of labour totalling € 56.6 million increased by € 18.3 million, 14.9 of 

which concerned Airest and Ristop. The cost of labour on a uniform basis 

increased by € 3.4 million, mainly because of the expansion of facilities in 
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operation and activities, namely in Airport Elite S.r.l. The development of 

activities contributed € 1.7 million. 

At the end of the fiscal year, there were 2,264 staff members employed, with 

an increase of 1,159 over 2005, as mentioned above. This includes both full-

time and part-time workers, as well as those hired under temporary contracts. 
 

Over the course of the year, the Direction of Human Resources and Organisation 

of the group leader SAVE reinforced and expanded the technical support and 

assistance provided for subsidiaries, for materials aiding in human resources 

management, selection and training of employees on disputes, personnel 

administration and corporate relations. 
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PARENT COMPANY’S PERFORMANCE  
 

Dear Shareholders, 

This report on group operations also indirectly touches on trends in business 

directly carried out by SAVE S.p.A. (the parent company). As a result, it will 

provide information on significant events, as required by art. 2428 of the Italian 

Civil Code referring to SAVE S.p.A.. 

 

PARENT COMPANY’S SUMMARY DATA  

 
SAVE SPA'S SUMMARY DATA

2005

(Euro/millions)

Passengers / 1000 6.342,2 5.825,5 516,7           8,9%

Operating revenue and other income 84,5 80,5 4,0               4,9%

Personnel costs 16,6 16,1 0,5               3,1%

Other operating costs 34,6 31,9 2,7               8,4%

Gross operating margin (EBITDA) 33,3 32,5 0,8               2,4%

% Gross operating margin (EBITDA) compared to Revenue 39,4% 40,3%

-               

Depreciation, amortization and write-downs 13,6 16,8 -3,2 -19,1%

Operating result (EBIT) 19,7 15,7 4,0               25,3%

% Operating Result (EBIT) compared to Revenue 23,3% 19,5%

-               

Profit / (loss) for the year 12,6 10,0 2,7               27%

% on Revenue 15,0% 12,4%

31-dic-05

(Euro/millions)

Net Financial Position (61,4) (47,2) 14,2-             

of which cash 16,9 19,8 2,9-                 

Net equity 263,9 215,6 48,4             

Net invested capital 325,3 262,8 62,5             

of which financial fixed assets 198,7 147,3 51,4               

 change % change

 change 

31-dic-06

2006
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NET FINANCIAL POSITION

31/12/2006 31/12/2005 Variazione

(in thousands of euros)

cash and cash equivalents 16.857.932 19.792.325 -2.934.393 

** financial assets 197.030 197.030

Short-term assets 17.054.962 19.792.325 -2.737.363

* payables to banks 23.600.846 12.726.225 10.874.621

** Other financial liabilities – current share 263.860 1.312.000 -1.048.140 

Short-term liabilities 23.864.706 14.038.225 9.826.481

* Financial payables net of current share to banks 54.562.500 52.937.500 1.625.000

Financial payables net of current share to others 10.780 30.000 -19.220 

Long-term liabilities 54.573.280 52.967.500 1.605.780

Net Financial Position 61.383.024 47.213.400 14.169.624

* of which gross payables to banks 78.163.346 65.663.725 12.499.621

** of which for net measurement to fair value  derivative contracts /1000 47 1.196 -1.149  
 

Economic Results 

 

Below is the reclassified income statement for SAVE S.p.A. (figures in 

thousands of euros): 
 

 

84.490 100% 80.532 100% 3.958 4,9%

Raw materials and goods 1.197 1,4% 1.260 1,6% -63 -5,0%

Services 28.173 33,3% 26.150 32,5% 2.023 7,7%

Lease and rental costs 4.230 5,0% 3.506 4,4% 724 20,7%

Personnel cost 16.611 19,7% 16.114 20,0% 497 3,1%

Sundry operating expenses 1.020 1,2% 1.009 1,3% 11 1,1%

Total operating costs 51.231 60,6% 48.039 59,7% 3.192 6,6%

EBITDA 33.259 39,4% 32.493 40,3% 766 2,4%

0,0%

Amortization of intangible fixed assets 682 0,8% 657 0,8% 25 3,8%

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 10.043 11,9% 12.091 15,0% -2.048 -16,9%

Losses and bad debts 1.660 2,0% 2.680 3,3% -1.020 -38,1%

Allocations for risks 1.185 1,4% 1.355 1,7% -170 -12,5%

Total amortization, depreciation and allocations13.570 16,1% 16.783 20,8% -3.213 -19,1%

EBIT 19.689 23,3% 15.710 19,5% 3.979 25,3%

Financial income (-) and expenses (+) -1.901 -2% -812 -1% -1.089 134%

PRE_TAX 21.590 25,6% 16.522 20,5% 5.068 30,7%

Taxes 8.946 10,6% 6.536 8,1% 2.410 36,9%

Profit/Loss for the period 12.644 15,0% 9.986 12,4% 2.658 27%

Change

Euros / 1000

Operating revenue and other income

SAVE S.p.A.

2006 2005
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Revenue is broken downs as follows: 

 

 

(euros / 1000) 2006 Inc. % 2005 Inc. % Variazioni Var. %

REVENUE:

Aeronautical 52.597 62,3% 48.314 60,0% 4.283 8,9%

Commercial/Marketing 18.890 22,4% 17.385 21,6% 1.505 8,7%

Advertising 1.600 1,9% 1.550 1,9% 50 3,2%

Ticketing 944 1,1% 858 1,1% 86 10,0%

Merchandise Handling Deposit 3.803 4,5% 3.477 4,3% 326 9,4%

Handling 503 0,6% 502 0,6% 1 0,2%

Other Revenue 6.153 7,3% 8.446 10,5% (2.293) (27,2%)

Totale 84.490 100,0% 80.532 100,0% 3.958 4,9%  
 

Year 2006 was marked by increased air travel bringing 6.34 million passengers to 

Venice airport, for an improvement of 8.9% over 2005. The second half of the 

year recorded 11% more traffic than the same period of 2005, providing transport 

for 3.41 million passengers. 

 

The parent company reached € 84.5 million in revenue (€ 80.5 million in 2005); a 

gross operating income (EBITDA) of € 33.2 million (39.4% of total revenue), for 

an increase of € 0.8 million, or 2.4% over the year before.  EBIT amounted to € 

19.7 million, € 4 million year-on-year (up 25.3%). 

 

The net income was € 12.6 million, making up 15% of total revenue, and showed 

an increase of € 2.7 million, or 27% over the year before. 
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BALANCE SHEET 

 

SAVE SpA - RECLASSIFIED BALANCE SHEET 

Euros / 1000 31-Dec-06 31-Dec-05

Difference 

compared to 

12/2005

Difference 

%

Own tangible assets 11.216 13.779 (2.563) -18,6%

Tangible assets subject to reversion free of charge 106.262 108.150 (1.888) -1,7%

Intangible fixed assets 1.262 1.267 (5) -0,4%

Financial fixed assets ** 198.748 147.346 51.402 34,9%

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 317.488 270.542 46.946 17,4%

Provision for severance indemnity (4.366) (4.275) (91) 2,1%

Provision for risks, assets subject to reversion free of charge and deferred taxation(13.782) (10.707) (3.075) 28,7%

PERMANENT WORKING CAPITAL 299.340 255.560 43.780 17,1%

Inventories 664 725 (61) -8,4%

Trade receivables * 21.386 19.880 1.506 7,6%

Tax receivables and deferred taxes 9.585 11.163 (1.578) -14,1%

Other receivables and other short-term assets ** 26.169 14.702 11.467 78,0%

Trade payables and advances (16.084) (18.247) 2.163 -11,9%

Payables to tax authorities (5.876) (8.869) 2.993 -33,7%

Payables to social security authorities (1.033) (1.082) 49 -4,5%

Other payables (8.824) (11.046) 2.222 -20,1%

TOTAL PERMANENT WORKING CAPITAL 25.987 7.226 18.761 259,6%

TOTAL INVESTED CAPITAL 325.327 262.786 62.541 23,8%

Net equity 263.943 215.572 48.371 22,4%

NET EQUITY 263.943 215.572 48.371 22,4%

Cash and short-term assets (17.055) (19.792) 2.737 -13,8%

Payables to banks 23.601 12.726 10.875 85,5%

Long-term payables to banks 54.563 52.938 1.625 3,1%

Other lenders 275 1.342 (1.067) -79,5%

TOTAL NET FINANCIAL POSITION 61.384 47.214 14.170 30,0%

TOT. FINANCIAL SOURCES 325.327 262.786 62.541 23,8%

* Net of provision for bad debts 11.168 9.533 1.635

** Including relations of cash pooling and loans to subsidiaries  
 

The net financial position of the company showed financial requirements of € 61.4 

million, up by € 14.2 million. Direct loans or financing granted through the 

centralized treasury to subsidiaries grew by € 23 million for a total of € 30 

million. Of these, € 13 million are under the item "other receivables and short 

term assets", leading to a nearly equal growth in working capital, and the rest 

among long-term investments. 

Gross bank debt was € 78.2 million compared to € 65.7 million a year ago. 

Payments of € 9.6 million were made on medium-term loans during the year, and 

loan payments falling due in 2007 amount to € 10.9 million. Payments on loans of 

over five years amounted to € 11.1 million. 

In 2006, a loan opened at the end of 2005 with a "discharge" option by year-end 

2006 was repaid in the amount of € 12.5 million. 

Approximately 50% of the total value of medium and long-term loans is subject to 

non-speculative hedging (IRS) against the risk of rising interest rates. 

During the financial year 2005, dividends were paid for € 8.7 million relating to 

profits earned in 2005 and for € 1.2 million relating to a previous year which had 

been previously repaid by a shareholder. 

Investments were made in durable assets for € 5.6 million, net of public grants 

collected for € 0.1 million.   

The provision for bad debts, which at year-end 2006 amounted to € 11.2 million, 
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wholly covers the net receivables from customers that are in receivership or 

involved in other disputes and covers the remaining total risk of the receivables. 

The adequacy of the bad debt provision has been assessed taking into account the 

analysis of specific positions, and an assessment of the age of receivables. The 

provision also includes an allocation related to application of tariffs, also made in 

2005, as the Company is involved in a dispute regarding application of the 

provision relating to "system requirements". 

 

 

INVESTMENTS  
Net investments made by the Group during FY 2006 totalled € 26.5 million for 

tangible fixed assets, net of € 3,5 millions of government contributions, and € 0.6 

million in intangibles, and not taking into account the impact of the Airest 

acquisition.  

The group leader completed € 5.7 million in tangible investments and € 0.7 

million in intangible investments. 

 

INVESTMENTS IN THE VENICE AIRPORT SITE 

 

In 2006, the Group made efforts to complete some projects that had already been 

planned, and to plan other new projects. Probably the most significant in terms of 

financial commitment and potential interference with airport operations, deal with 

bringing airport flight infrastructures up to code. This cannot be put off any longer 

now that the lengthy activation process has been finalised for the new Enac 

regulations regarding the Construction and Operation of Airports published in 

October 2003.  

 

In 2006, there were also some projects started back up which were not directly 

related to airport infrastructure, but nonetheless important, for example, the 

automatic pedestrian footpath, and the expansion of the passengers’ airstation and 

dining areas. However, the priority activities to be started (and some finished) 

during 2006, are the aforementioned actions required by Enac for the airport’s 

certification. These elements can be finalised technically only after Enac provides 

technical explanations for the various stipulations cited in the new regulations. 

 

The following section provides for some data relating to investments underway or 

completed in 2006 
 

Investments completed 

• De-Icing platform: first phase of operations concerning the redevelopment 

of the area marked for the construction of this platform for a total of 

around € 2.4 million; an additional phase costing about € 300,000 to 

secure the area while the platform is waiting to be completed, as expected 

for the second half of 2007; 

• Completion of the R.E.S.A. security areas in section 22L of the auxiliary 

runway: project included in the aforementioned activities to bring flight 

infrastructures up to code, as required by Enac so that the airports may be 

certified; 

• New bridge and boarding dock no. 6 at passenger airstation: project 

totalling € 1.3 million, completed at the beginning of 2006 with the 



SAVE Group Consolidated Financial Statements and SAVE S.p.A. Financial Statements as at 31 December 2006 

 42

opening of the bridge and two new aircraft parking spaces connected to it; 

this increases potential offers for stands in contact with the airstation; 

• Health control centres inside the old passenger terminal: this project will 

be helpful in increasing the number of flights from countries at risk; it was 

finished with the completion of reconstruction and new systems; 

• Extension of the covered pedestrian walkway from the airstation to the 

dock: this project improved conditions to a great degree; now the outdoor 

walkway connecting the airstation to the dock is almost completely 

covered and protected.  

 

Projects in course at the end of 2006 

• Clean-up in outdoor areas next to the airport dock: extensive project of 

repairing the pavement and landscaping, aimed at reinforcing the services 

offered and improving hospitality in this part of the airport; areas meant to 

be more attractive and practical after the work is finished for the expansion 

of the dock and multi-level parking garage. These plans also include an 

additional expansion of the platform roofing and ticket counter areas.  

 

Projects already contracted, to be carried out shortly  

• Reconstruction and new systems relating to the outdoor fencing and TV 

CC system near the water: projects to improve standards of anti-intrusion 

security. 

• Updating of warning signals for traffic and pedestrians inside the airport 

site. 

 

Plans completed during 2006 for new projects ready to call for 

tenders/contracting process in 2007 

• Completion of projects for updating flight infrastructures according to the 

new Enac regulations, for a total of about € 5.7 million. This is a major 

investment in the improvement of security for flight infrastructures, 

relating to the consequences of any potential deviation of planes from the 

paved surfaces of the runways, 

• Completion of the de-icing platform for a total of € 2.5 million, 

• First removal for projects in treatment and disposal of meteoric water, for 

a total of about € 2.3 million: start-up is contingent upon the Veneto region 

concluding the process of allocating related funds; 

• First step for projects in treatment and disposal of meteoric water. Contract 

phase already underway. 

 

The Group has other activities that have already been completed or that are in 

their final stages, which are connected to projects that the officials chose not to 

pursue in 2006, but that could be activated again in upcoming years. This also 

depends on the much-desired stabilisation of the relevant legal framework.   

 

Nonetheless, the Group continues on with its usual activities of research and 

planning for new projects aimed at making the airport and its infrastructures 

increasingly more functional, with regard to the new demands generated by 

increased passenger flow, technological developments, and the need to maintain 

high quality standards, in line with Europe’s most modern airports.   
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These activities are considered to be very important, especially when one 

considers the long processes of technical development, authorisation, and 

bureaucracy that must take place after a new demand arises and before the project 

meant to respond to that demand can be completed. The lengthiness of this 

process requires that new technical solutions be researched well in advance, so 

that projects can be activated before the need gets out of hand. 

 

Plans for new projects currently being researched and developed 

• Project for upgrading businesses in the old airstation, based on the 

changing needs and characteristics of passengers; 

• Project for expanding the aircraft parking platforms on the northwest side 

of the passenger airstation; 

• Project for new facilities for Guardia di Finanza (finance police) and Fire 

Departments resulting from drafting the Airport Master Plan.  

 

New development plans 

Procedures for planning activities in airport development have recently been re-

established and elaborated on by ENAC, with the release of Circular APT-21 of 

30/01/2006. The provisions require the company responsible to release a Four-

year Programme of Projects including Investment Plans and a Financial Plan for 

the projects. This technical reference is now called the General Airport 

Regulation Plan; however, it includes the content of the Airport Development 

Plan which was already being drafted by the Group.  

Therefore, the preliminary phase of development for this plan has been continued 

as scheduled, providing for a series of informal agreements with all of the local 

entities involved, such as the neighbouring municipalities, province of Venice, 

Veneto region, Anas, and RFI. At the same time, further detail has been added to 

the technical content and programming of the General Airport Regulation Plan, 

with the approval of ENAC. 

During the first few months of 2007, the complex process of approval will begin, 

once the General Plan for the Airport of Venice, Tessera has been submitted to 

ENAC.   

The Evaluation of Impact on the Environment is also in course, with regard to the 

General Regulation Plan, an essential element in obtaining the final joint approval 

of the Ministries of Transportation, Infrastructures, and the Environment.   

On the actual premises of the airport, plans have been made for development of 

infrastructures specifically for aircraft transport, such as new platforms, passenger 

and goods terminals, runways and connecting strips, and parking areas for cars 

and buses.  

Other infrastructures will also be developed in the same area, to guarantee optimal 

service in the interconnection of different means of transit. In particular, there will 

be two new railway stations for high-velocity trains and regional trains. The docks 

also have an important role, ensuring maritime connections to Venice, and a 

subway system passing under the lagoon will most likely provide connections 

between the airport, Venice, and Murano. 

All of these junctions for the different transportation infrastructures need facilities 

supporting them, in close proximity, for example, technical control areas, car and 

bus parking lots, and adequate space and accessibility for the traffic generated. 

For this reason, the investment plans will have to come after the current research 

is completed, thus guaranteeing that the investment of resources will fit in with 

the overall scheme of well-balanced, rational development for the infrastructures 
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and services relating to the increased volume of traffic and requirements in 

updating the facilities. 

 

INVESTMENTS AND ACTIVITIES OUTSIDE OF TESSERA  

 

Treviso Airport (AerTre investments) 

Now that the new airstation at the Treviso airport is in its final stages, partially 

financed through public contributions and funding, a contract will be awarded 

within the first few months of 2007, in line with regulations from a technical 

standpoint. From a financial standpoint, the reserves (about € 1.7 million) the 

company recorded in the accounting register have been dealt with in line with the 

legal procedures for amicable agreement, down to € 437,000.  

 

Contracts regarding elevator and escalator systems have also been awarded, for 

the area of baggage movement and security within the airstation. The estimated 

amount for these projects is an additional € 4.6 million partially financed with 

public funds or by ENAC. 

Other work necessary for the airport’s certification has also been awarded: more 

specifically, for the creation of the R.E.S.A. security area, the repositioning of 

certain systems in outdoor areas of the security strip on the runway, the 

reconstruction of aircraft parking platforms, and other minor projects. Overall, this 

work amounts to an additional € 0.8 million and was already about half finished at 

the end of 2006. 

 

Nicelli Airport in Lido di Venezia (not consolidated) 

Projects in extraordinary maintenance for the airstation at the “G. Nicelli” Airport 

in Lido di Venezia were awarded in 2006, partially self-financed by the company 

managing them, and partially through public funding. The project of updating the 

aircraft parking platform and reconstructing the hangar was also contracted out, 

for an estimated total of around € 700,000, part of which will be covered by public 

funding. 

 

University of Perugia (engineering activities) 

During the half year, progress has been made in activities run by Save 

Engineering, as assignor of an ATI including other professional firms. They 

concern the assignment of Project & Construction Management services for the 

new complex being built for the Medicine and Surgery Department at the 

university; the total cost for the project is over € 1.8 million. Save Engineering is 

expected to be involved in activities for building the complex, now in course, until 

the second half of 2008. 

 

ASL 3 in Turin (engineering activities) 

Another work contract obtained by Save Engineering, as assignor of an ATI 

including other professional firms, during 2006, is Project & Construction 

Management, which includes technical services to be provided in the construction 

of buildings for the hospital complex “Amedeo di Savoia.”   

 

Centostazioni  

More progress has been made this year in the several-year investment programme 

in optimising business, updating for regulations/functionality, and the 

extraordinary maintenance of real estate complexes for the stations that bring in 
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the most business out of the entire network. The unit is making progress in 

following through with executive plans, highly publicised calls for tenders, and 

other operations.  

 

Centostazioni S.p.A. operates with the National Railway Group, not only in the 

area of refurbishing stations under their management, as previously described, but 

also in the following fields: 

• Developing and carrying out contracts for updating functionality/bringing 

up to code the stations’ videosurveillance systems (in full or in part); 

• Establishing agreements concerning updating for the rental of real estate 

owned by Sviluppo Real Estate S.p.A..  

Other activities in completing computer-related infrastructures have been 

continued in order to guarantee the company suitable equipment for optimising 

the station’s technical management and administrative procedures, also aimed at 

managing the Global Service contract. 

 

 

SUBSIDIARIES, AFFILIATES AND OTHER COMPANIES 
The parent company controls the following companies, which are fully 

consolidated: 

 

 Aeroporto di Treviso AERTRE S.p.A. 

Percent ownership: 45% 

It holds a contract with the Ministry of Transportation for management of the 

Treviso airport. The company is entrusted with partial management of the airport 

in Treviso until 2012, "in early occupation of the assets in use". In order to extend 

the duration of the licence for better planning of investments, a procedure is 

currently underway aimed at obtaining a 40-year licence for total management of 

Treviso airport. In 2004, Aer Tre began work on the construction of a new 

terminal in order to handle the increase in passenger traffic. This is expected to be 

completed at the end of 2006. 

The company continues to be listed among subsidiaries, in that SAVE S.p.A. 

holds sufficient votes to exercise a dominant influence at the ordinary 

Shareholders' Meeting, and due to shareholder agreements granting SAVE S.p.A. 

the power to decide company strategy, resulting in its definite inclusion in the 

consolidation area until the end of 2006. Shareholders are currently discussing 

options in settling a new agreement amongst themselves, also for the upcoming 

fiscal years. A recent Shareholders’ Meeting in late January 2007 resolved upon a 

capital increase. 

FY 2006 closed with pre-tax profits of € 1.3 million. 

Value of production was € 15.4 million, a 6.3% increase compared to € 14.5 

million of the previous year. 

The increase in turnover compared to the previous year is basically due to the 

improvement in traffic figures. 

 

• Airport Elite S.r.l. 

Percent ownership: 86.5%  
It was founded to manage sales and food service operations in transport 

infrastructures, both on behalf of the group and on behalf of third parties. The 

company is carrying out a solid development programme for product lines both 
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within and outside of the company. During 2006, the acquisitions of the Airest 

Group and Ristop S.r.l. were finalised. 

As of 31 December, 2006, Airport Elite and its subsidiaries directly manage 123 

stores, 75 of which are located in airports, 10 in railway stations, 3 at ports, 21 

along motorways, and 14 in shopping centres and other urban locations. It is now 

present in 4 European countries. In FY 2006 development also continued through 

the opening of new stores at airports and certain railway stations, including 

Brescia and Milan Porta Garibaldi. 

FY 2006 closed with pre-tax profits of € 2.7 million, up 14% compared to € 2.3 

million of the previous year. As at 31 December 2006 the value of production 

totalled € 47 million showing a 18% increase compared to the previous year. 

With a meeting resolution in February 2006, the company proceeded with its first 

capital increase of € 1.9 million, connected to the incorporation of the vehicle 

company Airline Terminal & Business Catering Holding GMBH, through which 

it purchased the Airest Group. 

In October of 2006, another capital increase was completed for € 0.3 million, 

waiving the option right, in addition to the payment of a share premium for € 20.7 

million, connected to the acquisition of Ristop, in partnership with another 

partner. 

The transaction occurred through the acquisition of 50% of Ristop’s shares, for a 

countervalue of € 21 million. The remaining 50% of the capital was paid in kind 

after an increase in Airport Elite’s share capital, reserved for the retail partner 

Ristop, which subscribed for a 13.5% share in Airport Elite’s capital. 

The entry of a minority shareholder resulted in a reduction of the share in Airport 

Elite held by the parent company Save S.p.A. from 100% to 86.5%. 

 

• Airline Terminal & Business Catering Holding GMBH 

Percent ownership: 100% (through Airport Elite) 

The company was incorporated in April of 2006 as a vehicle company for the 

acquisition of the Airest Group (Airest GMBH and its subsidiaries and affiliate). 

It is the subholding, incorporated under Austrian laws, which holds control of the 

Airest Group made up of Airest GMBH and its subsidiaries and affiliate. The 

Group carries out activities in food & beverage services in the Austrian airports of 

Vienna, Salzburg, Graz, Linz, and Klagenfurt and at the Lubiana airport in 

Slovenia. Airest also carries out airline catering activities at Austrian airports and 

at the Bratislava airport in Slovakia.   

The acquisition of the Airest Group, through the Food & Beverage and Retail 

business unit is particularly significant for SAVE Group, in that it allows the 

business unit to position itself among the leading operators in the sector and is an 

ideal launching pad for further expansion in Eastern European countries.  

Financial resources for the acquisition were guaranteed for Airport Elite by the 

capital increase approved at the Shareholders’ Meeting on 22 February, 2007 for a 

total of € 2 million, along with financing from the parent company SAVE S.p.A.. 

The Austrian subholding also took on a medium/long-term loan for € 14 million, 

issued by a major Italian bank and guaranteed by the parent company SAVE 

S.p.A.. 

Airest Group’s operating FY 2006 closed with a 12-month pre-tax profit of € 

5,371 thousand. The value of revenue – always related to the whole year – as at 31 

December 2006 totalled € 89,893 thousand. The value of revenues – always 

related to the whole year – as at 31 December 2006 totalled € 89,893 thousand. 
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• Ristop S.r.l. 

Percent ownership: 100% (through Airport Elite) 

Fully-owned subsidiary of Airport Elite since 1 October 2006, the company 

carries out business in Food & Beverage services, primarily along Italy’s 

motorways. The value of statutory production for the October – December 

consolidated quarter totalled approximately € 19.9 million, and the statutory pre-

tax loss was € 647 thousand. 

For more information on the company’s acquisition procedures, reference will be 

made to the comments in the section on Airport Elite S.r.l.. 

FY 2006 closed with a 12-month pre-tax loss of € 1,953 thousand. The value of 

production – always related to the whole year – as at 31 December 2006 totalled € 

82,707 thousand. 

 

• Archimede 2 S.r.l. 

Percent ownership: 100% (through Airport Elite) 

A 100% subsidiary of Airport Elite since November 2005, through the acquisition 

of the 30% share previously held by a third party. This company directly manages 

restaurants, cafes, and newsstands at the Fontanarossa Airport in Catania.  

The value of production as at 31 December, 2006 was € 10 million, with an 8.3% 

increase over that of year-end 2005. The pre-tax profit was € 289 thousand, 

showing considerable improvement compared to the same period of the previous 

year, which recorded € 142 thousand. 

Archimede 2 participated in the call for tenders and was awarded the management 

contract for new food service points called Food at Catania’s airstation, which 

will be opening soon. 

 

• Elite Tre S.r.l. 

Percent ownership: 100% (51% through AERTRE S.p.A. and 49% through 

Airport Elite S.r.l.) 

It was founded during the last quarter to manage sales and food service operations 

in transport infrastructures at the new Treviso airport, both on behalf of the group 

and on behalf of third parties.  

At year-end 2006, this company was only operating in connection with the new 

airstation being completed in Treviso, which then opened in February of 2007. It 

was consolidated using the line-by-line method and records no costs or revenue 

for the fiscal year. 

 

• Archimede 1 S.p.A. 

Percent ownership: 60% 

Owned by the parent company, it was founded at the end of 2001 for the exclusive 

purpose of taking part in the tender held by the state railway company for the 

selection of one or more private partners for the Medie Stazioni project (now 

called Centostazioni), and was awarded the contract for the acquisition of 40% of 

Centostazioni S.p.A. Since its foundation, and in accordance with its bylaws, the 

company exclusively carries out subholding activities for its share of 

Centostazioni S.p.A.. 

This is a vehicle company made up of other partners in the industry for the 

acquisition of 40% of Centostazioni S.p.A. (the remaining 60% is held by FS 

Holding S.p.A.).   

During FY 2006, the company accrued a pre-tax loss of € 863 thousand mainly 

due to the income from shareholdings net of financial expenses and the fair value 
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negative measurement of a derivative instrument for an interest rate risk hedging 

on the existing loan.   

 

• Centostazioni S.p.A. 

Percent ownership: 40% (through Archimede 1 S.p.A.) 

40% owned by Archimede 1 S.p.A., it manages assets owned by Rete Ferroviaria 

Italiana S.p.A. (RFI) which comprise the property complexes of the 103 mid-sized 

Italian railway stations, under a forty-year contract expiring in 2042 which grants 

Centostazioni the right to use and economic usufruct of the assets and engages it 

to oversee their integrated management and re-development, increasing the value 

of the real estate assets themselves. The company was consolidated using the 

proportional method, under shareholder agreements which give joint control of 

Centostazioni to Archimede 1 S.p.A. and Ferrovie dello Stato. The company 

continues the process of refurbishing and renting out business locations in 103 

railway stations currently under management, by increasing the share of revenue 

and margins on rentals and creating areas for people to “stay” and not simply 

“pass through” the stations. 

Centostazioni carries out commercial development, management of integrated 

services, and administrative management for the property complexes of 103 mid-

sized railway stations – approximately 500,000 m² of buildings for travellers and 

approximately 1,000,000 m² of outdoor areas – under a contract signed on 27 June 

2001 with Rete Ferroviaria Italiana Spa (RFI), a company belonging to the 

Ferrovie dello Stato Group, with the purpose of redeveloping these railway 

stations. The upgrading of real estate complexes with regard to extraordinary 

maintenance, is made possible through RFI funds, for an overall total of € 129.1 

million.  

FY 2006 closed with a value of production amounting to € 65.2 million, with an 

year-on-year increase of approximately 7.8% and a pre-tax profit of € 9.1 million, 

a 47.8% increase over FY 2005. Assessment reports 40% of this result, as the 

company is consolidated using the proportional method.Assessment reports 40% 

of this result, as the company is consolidated using the proportional method. 

 

• Marco Polo Park S.r.l. 

Percent ownership: 100% 

The company manages car parks at the airport under a subcontracting agreement 

with SAVE, with the additional objective of carrying out its activity outside the 

group. During the last fiscal year, various investments were made in the main 

parking area managed by the company, in order to increase capacity by turning it 

into a multi-level car park; the company manages 5,134 locations, with an 

increase of 475 parking spots in comparison to 2005. 

FY 2006 showed a value of production of approx. € 9.2 million, up 5.6% 

compared to FY 2005; the result shown in the 2006 financial statements showed a 

pre-tax profit of € 1.9 million, up 10.8% compared to the previous year. 

 

• SAVE Security S.r.l 

Percent ownership: 100% (35% through Aer Tre S.p.A) 

65% of the company is owned by the parent company and 35% is held by Aer Tre 

S.p.A.; it was founded in March 2001 and provides airport security services in 

compliance with Ministerial Decree no. 58 of 29 January 1999. 
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The financial statements as at 31 December 2006 closed with a value of 

production of € 6.9 million, a 10.6% increase compared to 2005, and pre-tax result 

of € 0.4 million. 

 

• Nord Est Airport I.T. S.r.l. (N-AITEC) 

Percent ownership: 100% 

The company oversees the realisation of IT projects for administrative and 

operational airport management, developing and marketing software products for 

operational and administrative management in this field. Nel marzo 2006 Save 

S.p.A. In March 2006, SAVE S.p.A. purchased an additional 34% of N-Aitec 

S.r.l, raising its shareholding from 51% to 85%. During the last quarter, the 

remaining 15% was purchased by third parties, therefore, as at 31 December 2006, 

the company was 100% owned. 

FY 2006 closed with a value of production of € 1.2 million, up 45% compared to 

FY 2005, and a pre-tax result of € 465 thousand, a significant percentage increase 

compared to 2005 results, i.e. - € 125 thousand. 

 

• SAVE Engineering S.p.A. 

Percent ownership: 97% 

It handles planning and coordination of engineering work connected to airport 

development programmes developed by the parent company SAVE as part of its 

master plan. It also works with outside customers, drawing on the expertise it has 

acquired in the realisation and coordination of infrastructure development projects 

related to passenger mobility, such as airports and railway stations. 

During the year the company focused on completing certain projects at the Venice 

airport site, specifically those relating to the Marco Polo Park parking area, and 

projects in improving the security strip on the runway and the reorganization of 

parking in front of the airstation. In addition, significant contributions have been 

made for projects concerning the de-icing platform, the completion of Treviso’s 

new airstation, and the reconstruction of various stations carried out by 

Centostazioni S.p.A.. The SAVE Group has also pursued other plans with third 

parties to extend operations abroad.  

In FY 2006 the value of production totalled € 2.5 million, down € 855 thousand or 

25.7% compared to the previous year, and the pre-tax loss was € 71 thousand, 

compared to a pre-tax profit of € 252 thousand in the same period of 2005. 

 

• Archimede 3 S.p.A. 

Percent ownership: 100% 

It was acquired in 2004. In order to rationalise the group structure – in part with a 

view to possible expansion of contracted infrastructure management – in 2004 

SAVE sold 4.64% of the share capital of Autostrade di Venezia e Padova S.p.A. 

to Archimede 3 S.r.l.. 

This company shows no significant costs or income. 

 

• Società Agricola Ca’ Bolzan a .r.l. 

Percent ownership: 100% 

The assets of this company – 100% held by the Parent Company – primarily 

consist in land adjacent to the airport site; was acquired in May 2005 as a 

preliminary step in guaranteeing the realisation of work necessary to the growth of 

the airport and related infrastructures over the medium term. During the year, the 

company’s name was changed. 
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L’attivo è principalmente costituito da terreni. This company shows no significant 

costs or income.  

During December 2006, the company incorporated Agricola Altinia S.r.l. (also a 

100% subsidiary of SAVE S.p.A.), through a merger by incorporation. This 

company’s assets consist mostly of land adjecent to the airport site, with the 

gradual target to ensure the same goals mentioned above. No losses or profits 

came out of the merger. 

 

• Idea 2 S.r.l. 

Percent ownership: 100% 

A 100% subsidiary of the parent company, it was purchased in July of 2005, also 

in the area of potential investment projects. This company shows no significant 

costs or income. 

 

• Aeroporto Civile Padova S.p.A. 

Percent ownership: 62.86% 

A 62.86% subsidiary, the company holds a contract with the Ministry of 

Transportation for the management of the Padova airport. 

The company’s operations are limited, with a value of production amounting to € 

540 thousand as at 31 December 2006 and a pre-tax loss of € 750 thousand. Over 

the fiscal year, Shareholders’ Meetings resolved upon a capital decrease for losses 

(based on the interim financial statements as at 31 July 2006) and a later capital 

increase to supply the company with suitable financial resources. The parent 

company subscribed its share of capital and the unpurchased portion on behalf of 

other partners, thereby slightly increasing the value of its share. During the year, 

some disputes were raised by one of the partners, but so far, they have been 

successfully settled for directors and the parent company. 

 

The parent company also has an interest in: 

  

• Gemina S.p.A. 

Percentage held: 10.26% 

During the second half of 2005, after special resolutions passed by the Board of 

Directors, SAVE S.p.A. completed multi-tranche acquisitions of Gemina S.p.A. 

capital. This company is listed on the Milan Stock Exchange and holds an interest 

in ADR (Airports of Rome). 

The interest held as at 31 December 2005 was 12.03% of the capital. In 2006, 

more stocks were sold, bringing the share up to 10.26%. 

This transaction is recorded at the fair value in the assets, corresponding to the 

stock exchange prices on the last day of the fiscal year. Since SAVE Group’s 

share of less than 20% has no major influence on the company’s management 

policies, the latter is not considered as an affiliate. 

In early 2007, the company was involved in a security loan transaction, which is 

described in the notes on events subsequent to year-end. 

 

• Gest Park Pordenone  

Percent ownership: 50% (through Marco Polo Park S.r.l.) 

This affiliate, held as consortium company for the potential management of a car 

park in Pordenone, was officially liquidated on 22 December 2006. 
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• La Piazza di Spagna S.r.l.  

Percent ownership: 51% (through Airport Elite S.r.l.) 

This 51% subsidiary was incorporated in December 2003 and is not currently 

operating. 

Therefore no significant costs or revenue are recorded. 

 

• Nicelli S.p.A. 

Percent ownership: 48.43% (non consolidated) 

The company’s activity in FY 2006 mainly includes limited operations and 

reconstruction work.   

 

• Other minor affiliates  

The Group also holds other minor shareholdings such as G.A.P. S.p.A. (30.26%), 

handling the management of the Pantelleria Airport; V.T.P. S.p.A. (Venice 

Terminal Passengers) (21%), managing businesses at the Port of Venice; ISS 

Airest GMBH (49%), representing a partnership between Airest and ISS Group, 

which provides cleaning services for the Airest Group; and Airest Malta Ltd 

(40%). The latter was incorporated in 2006 and registered in November.  Its main 

activity is airline catering; however it was not in operation during 2006. 

 

As at 31 December 2006, Airline Terminal & Business Catering Holding GMBH 

also held a 100% interest in a new company called Leader Ally Holding Limited, 

purchased on 29 December 2006, and renamed Airest Far East Holding Limited 

on 11 January 2007. The company, whose share capital as at 31 December 2006 

totalled 1 HKD, was not performing any sort of operations as at that date. 

 

With regard to V.T.P. S.p.A., SAVE S.p.A. resolved upon a € 679 thousand 

capital increase with a share premium paid by the company, representing its own 

share , 126 of which has yet to be paid; this amount is charged to the Group’s 

payables to affiliates. The share of the company owned did not vary thereafter. 

 

Other group shareholdings are analytically listed in the notes to the section on 

shareholdings. 

 

 
TYPE AND MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS 

 

The Group strategy for financial risk management complies with company 

objectives and aims to minimize interest rate risk and related optimization of the 

cost of debt and credit and liquidity risk. 

These risks are managed while complying with principles of prudence and in 

accordance with “best practices” of the market and all risk management 

transactions are handled on a central level.  The main objectives are as follows: 

 

Interest rate risk 

• to protect financial payables from the risk of interest rate fluctuations 

• in hedging risks, to comply with general criteria of balance between uses 

and loans for the Group (variable or fixed rate portions, short or medium-

long term portions) 

• for hedge transactions, to enable the use of only instruments traded on 

regulated markets 
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The group possesses derivative financial instruments for the purpose of hedging 

its exposure to the risk of variation in interest rates with regard to specific 

liabilities (cash flow hedges) for approx. 45% of their overall value. In keeping 

with the strategy it has chosen, the Group does not perform derivative transactions 

for immediately speculative purposes. 

 

Hedges refer to granting of two medium- to long-term loans: 

• the first is a loan to SAVE for a value of € 77 million, granted by Banca OPI in 

2002. The terms of the loan envisaged two years of pre-amortization and 

repayment on a straight-line basis of one instalment every six months starting in 

December 2004 and ending in 2012. The loan is regulated on the Euribor 6-month 

floating rate plus a spread. The loan was subject to two interest rate swap (“IRS”) 

transactions in 2003 to cover interest rate risks for a total value of € 23.1 million 

(in proportion to the notional value existing at each repayment date) at a fixed 

rate; in July 2004, an additional € 25 million was covered with a second IRS 

transaction at a fixed rate. The loan carried a cost for interest at a locked-in rate of 

62% of the total amount,  

• a loan was opened by Archimede 1 for an amount of € 36 million, with a view to 

covering financial needs arising from the acquisition of the shareholding in 

Centostazioni S.p.A. The terms of the loan envisaged two years of pre-

amortization and repayment in 2016. The interest included a spread at the 

reference rate. This loan is also object of hedges for an amount of 85% of its 

value, with decreasing values based on the remaining notional amount 

(Convertible Swap at a fixed rate) with the expectation of a temporary exit from 

the hedge for the period during which the Euribor 6-month rate is higher than 

6.5%.  

A hedge was negotiated in April 2003 for an amount of € 36 million, decreasing 

on a notional basis. Based on this hedge, which aims to optimize the cost of the 

loan, Archimede 1 pays the Euribor 6-month rate minus 15 base points at every 

due date and receives the Euribor reference rate; 

• in April 2006, the Group opened up a new loan for € 14 million, pursuant to the 

Airest acquisition transaction. This loan was opened by Airline Terminal & 

Business Catering Holding GmbH and its terms envisaged two years of pre-

amortization and reimbursement in five years, with five annual instalments of € 

2.8 million each. The loan will expire on 30 June 2012. The first instalment will 

fall due on 30 June 2007. The annual interest rate is the Euribor 12-month rate, 

plus a spread. In the event of failure to meet the agreements, the margin will be 

increased. The financial ratios considered refer to EBITDA, in relation to net debt 

and financial charges. Financial obligations have been met. The loan is guaranteed 

by a surety at call of SAVE S.p.A.. The loan is not object of hedges. 

 

• in October 2006, the Group opened up a new loan for € 20 million, in order to 

execute the Ristop acquisition transaction.  This loan was opened by Airport Elite 

S.r.l., with a repayment period of six years, in 12 semi-annual instalments. The 

first payment falls due on 30 June 2007. The loan will expire in 2012. The 

applicable annual interest rate is equal to the annual interest rate paid on 12-month 

interbank deposits, plus a spread. It includes some undertakings as regards the use 

of the loan. The financial ratios considered refer to EBITDA, in relation to net 

debt. The loan is guaranteed by a surety at call in favour of the bank, issued by the 



SAVE Group Consolidated Financial Statements and SAVE S.p.A. Financial Statements as at 31 December 2006 

 53

Parent Company concurrent with signing the loan.  Financial obligations have 

been met. The loan is not object of hedges. 

• in December 2006, the Parent Company cashed a loan underwritten in 2005 for 

€ 12.5 million, repayment period from June 2007 to 2016 in two semi-annual 

instalments. The loan envisages the option of "discharging" it by the end of 2006. 

The loan was taken out for purchase of land adjacent to the Venice airport for 

future development. This loan is covered by a mortgage guarantee on the land 

object of acquisition in 2005. The loan is not object of hedges. 

 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one of the parties executing a contract which envisages 

a deferred payment over time fails to fulfil a payment obligation, thus causing the 

other party to suffer a financial loss. 

This risk can be caused by technical and commercial factors or administrative 

legal disputes regarding the quality/nature of the supply, interpretation of contract 

provisions, invoices supporting payment, etc.) or by financial factors or, in short, 

by the credit standing of the other party. 

For the Group, exposure to credit risk mainly relates to aviation sales and services 

activities and property transactions. 

To control this risk, the Group has implemented procedures and actions to 

evaluate the customers based on which to assign a level of attention. 

 

Liquidity risk 

The Group has a prudent liquidity risk management policy – namely, it has 

developed a strategy to prevent cash disbursements from representing a critical 

factor for the Group. The minimum objective is to give the company the necessary 

lines of credit to repay debt falling due in the subsequent twelve months. Unused 

bank lines of credit at the parent company amount to € 62.7 million. 

Group financial needs are guaranteed by long-term funding, obtained mainly 

through medium- to long-term loans, including in relation to individual 

acquisition transactions. The portion of loans falling due after more than one year 

come to € 124.4 million, against a net financial position of € 125.3 million. 
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CHANGES TO LEGISLATION AND SECTOR DEVELOPMENTS 
 

Program Agreement and New legislation 

 

Program Agreement 
In compliance with the instructions set forth in the CIPE resolution of 4 August 

2000, containing a schedule reorganizing the tariff for services which assumes the 

use of the centralized infrastructure, offered exclusively by airport operators, in 

2003, SAVE was the first Italian airport operating company to complete a draft of 

the Program Agreement for the 2004/2008 period. 

Subsequently, it executed all the bureaucratic and administrative obligations 

necessary for involvement of the bodies called to approve the aforementioned 

draft and, to date, the final procedure of the Program Agreement is still pending at 

the NARS/CIPE due to heavy bureaucratic slowdowns. 

 

New legislation  
Among the most important news was issue of Italian Law Decree 211 of 17 

October 2005, "Urgent Measures to meet Public Finance targets and regulations 

concerning airports," which became effective as of 19 October 2005. A maxi-

amendment inserted these provisions into the text converting the bill into Italian 

Law Decree 203 of 30 September 2005 bearing “Measures to counteract tax 

evasion and urgent regulations on tax and financial matters." The Decree was 

converted into Law 248/2005 on 2 December 2005.  

These airport regulations introduce a series of concessions for air carriers 

operating on the national territory by providing for, among other things, the 

reduction of airport fees and suppression of the 50% night mark-up of these fees. 

These concessions, which could involve an increase in charges / reduction of 

revenue for airport management companies, seem to conflict with European 

Community regulations. These regulations, which for the most part also contradict 

the CIPE resolution of 2000 aimed at bringing Italian tariffs in line with the 

European tariffs, would weaken the Italian airport system. A complaint was made 

to the European Commission, as well as the Italian Antitrust Authority, 

denouncing the aforementioned violations.  

In opposition to Law 248/2005, SAVE filed a petition before the Region of Lazio 

Administrative Tribunal (TAR) asking for annulment, subject to suspension, of 

the effectiveness of the ENAC memorandum of 30/12/2005, the alleged and not 

published memorandum of the Department of the Treasury of the Ministry of the 

Economic and Finance of 29/12/2005, note with which the management company 

envisages adoption of analytical accounting.  SAVE also asks the hearing 

magistrate to adopt appropriate precautionary measures and an adjournment to the 

Constitutional Court so that Articles 11 septies - 11 terdecies of Law Decree 

203/2005, converted with amendments by Law 248/2005 be declared 

unconstitutional. 

With ruling 1190/2006 issued on 3 November 2006, the Lazio TAR confirmed the 

"need for the debate to be extended to all carriers that transit the airports in 

question", thus adjourning its decision regarding the petition to the hearing 

scheduled for 17 May 2007. 

With reference to the legislation above, several regions have filed petitions before 

the Constitutional Court in order to obtain a declaration of the unconstitutionality 

of the legislation in question. SAVE is now awaiting a decision by the Court, 
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whose decision will have an important impact on the petitions filed by the airport 

companies before the Lazio TAR.  

 

 

Addition to the license agreement - Venice airport 

Following the signing of the License Convention of 19 July 2001 extending the 

term of the management contract to 22 March 2027, the Company updated its 

general investment planning, including related financial and economic analyses, to 

cover the period 2026 to 2041. 

After a complicated process, ENAC and SAVE drafted an Addition to the license 

agreement on 23 March 2005, based on which the duration of the concession was 

extended until 21 March 2041. 

Pursuant to the entry into force of Leg. Decree 96/2005, ENAC referred to a 

ministerial document to unilaterally promote an agreement with SAVE of an 

additional supplementary document to the agreement in force, with a view to 

focusing on and regulating the duties, functions and responsibilities of the airport 

management company, adjusting them to the new provisions of the Code of 

Navigation. The adaptation procedure is still in progress; the company has 

opposed the unilateral imposition by ENAC of the contents of the supplementary 

document.  

 

Renewal of the Agreement - Treviso Airport 

The company AERTRE S.p.A. is licensed to manage the Treviso airport; the 

current license, partially effective per article 17 of Law Decree 67/1997 since 

November 1999, converted by law 135/97, expires in 2012. 

AERTRE has filed an application to convert its partial management (art. 17) to 

full management for a forty-year period. Furthermore, in 2004, AERTRE began 

the process to draft a Program Agreement relative to the reorganisation of rates for 

exclusive airport services offered on the basis of the CIPE decision of 4 August 

2000, as well as the process for obtaining an Airport Certificate. 

 

Relations with ENAV 

On 26 July 2001, SAVE and Enav (National Board of Flight Assistance) signed 

an important cooperative agreement that involves apron management and 

construction of a new control tower in the Venice airport.  

As regards the part relating to the apron management services, the cooperation 

agreement requires that SAVE and ENAV provide joint and coordinated apron 

management services, especially regarding the management and coordination of 

aircraft traffic and vehicles on the apron. The two parties will also be responsible 

for developing and updating safety procedures, assigning aircraft parking spots, 

and informing airport operators of aircraft arrival and departure times.  

Pursuant to the entry into force of Law 265/04, that part of the partnership 

agreement is being integrated, since the parties are in the process of drafting a 

shared protocol for management of information communication automatically 

between SAVE and ENAV. 

As regards construction of the new control towers, work will begin as soon as 

approval is received by the Safety Commission and will be valid for 

approximately two years. 
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Airport Certificate 

In July 2004, SAVE S.p.A, which is the third largest airport operator after ADR 

and SEA, obtained the so-called “Airport Certificate” regarding the safety of the 

airport, from ENAC, attesting to its conformity to the “Regulations for the 

Construction and Operation of Airports” adopted by ENAC in implementation of 

the sector regulations in order to assimilate the ICAO (International Civil 

Aviation Organisation) regulation of 21 October 2003. 

The Airport Certificate obtained by SAVE is valid for three years from issue and 

may be renewed upon expiration for equal periods on the basis of the favourable 

outcome of ENAC inspections. 

During the year, the infrastructure was updated in accordance with an operating 

plan agreed upon during issue of airport certification. The periodic visits of the 

ENAC inspection team found full compliance between the scheduled activities 

and the deadlines accorded by ENAC to SAVE. 

 

 

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 
 

In order to ensure and optimize future profitability and development, SAVE 

focuses on finding innovating processes to continually increase efficiency and 

ensure that the airport and railway infrastructures managed will continue to be 

utilized effectively. This also helps increase passengers’ satisfaction with travel 

services.  Costs for R&D have not been capitalized. 

A closer look shows that the Group has: 

� Extended the use of the ERP SAP integrated system to all subsidiaries 

(excluding those purchased during 2006) 

� Continued to improve SAP-system usage in the parent company and main 

subsidiaries, where it had already been used in previous years; continued 

modelling and developing tools for technical, financial, and administrative 

management on the SAP platform, with particular focus on introducing the 

PM form for managing facilities 

� Started preliminary research to define and plan a project in integrating 

Airest’s computer system; this will allow the new subsidiary to switch from 

its current system to the SAP platform 

� Computerized management operations for Treviso Airport, applying the 

systems and know-how supplied by the parent company and the subsidiary 

N-Aitec; atomized management procedures were an essential first step in 

tackling the changes in organization resulting from the physical expansion 

and transition to the new airstation, which took place in February 2007 

� Completed the technological renovation of Access Control and Alarm 

Supervision systems at the Venice Airport 

� Created and activated (in Venice) a system for managing airport passes and 

the Safety Management System aimed at improving security and prevention, 

in keeping with ENAC guidelines 

� Finished the modelling and development of tools for technical, financial, and 

administrative management on the SAP platform. Airport facility 

management has now been activated through the SAP/R3_PM platform, and 

has been successfully integrated with all other company processes 

(controlling and logistics). This development has allowed the company to 

review processes from an organizational standpoint as well, making the 
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facilities selected for these activities even more effective, with better reaction 

time in meeting the needs of both passengers and employees. In addition, it 

will be possible to have access to reliable, updated information in real time, 

ensuring accurate financial and technical management for the area. 

 

 

QUALITY 

 

Monitoring Passenger Services  

 

Passenger services were observed and monitored in accordance with the quality 

control plan for 2006. 

A survey was conducted on passengers’ spending patterns in the airport during 

Summer 2006 (Survey Passenger Spending S2006), which provided strong 

confirmation of the results from the same project carried out in Summer 2005. As 

with previous years, this survey was based on a large sampling of over 2,000 

passengers, thereby providing results to be seriously considered.  

The study revealed points of particular interest with regard to the possibility of 

new businesses in the areas of F&B and Retail, and indicated that passengers are 

pleased with the selection and service at businesses already in operation. 

 

For the fourth consecutive year, several groups participated in the ASQ-ACI 

international benchmarking program for airports. This year (2007) was 

particularly interesting because nearly 90 different airports participated. The 

active involvement of prestigious groups shows how this program has become a 

global reference for the sector.  

Results from the 2006 program were extremely positive, both in terms of figures 

related to the quarters, as well as the overall result for 2006. 

One element from the 2006 annual report worth highlighting is that out of the 41 

European airports participating, Venice earned itself an excellent position in more 

than one category. For example, it was awarded 2
nd
 place for comfort in the 

boarding areas, 5
th
 place for airport atmosphere, and 4

th
 place for food services’ 

price/quality ratio. The rankings of 10
th
 place for flight information, 8

th
 for food 

services, and 15
th
 for overall satisfaction are also considerable achievements.  

This improvement in service and user satisfaction proves to be directly connected 

to improved performance in terms of reducing the wait at security checkpoints. 

Providing optimum service in this area has allowed passengers to experience the 

airport's other services with a positive mindframe and, therefore, provide a more 

accurate evaluation instead of judging other services based on a negative 

experience at the security checkpoints.  

The 2006/07 List of Services was published in order to help passengers find what 

they need right away. The publication also contains the airport’s description of 

quality standards for some of the main services provided for travellers. 

 

HEALTH 
A network for monitoring airport noise is currently being installed. The location, 

number, and type of auxiliary units to be installed, as well as the projects to be 

completed, have already been established. 

Protocol for data exchange with ENAV in acquiring radar tracing has also been 

finalized. This will ideally make the monitoring system and its signals more 

accurate and effective. 
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The schedule of activities includes updating for acoustic mapping inside the 

airport, based on data from the traffic recorded for 2006. This piece of information 

confirmed the airport’s low level of noise exposure impacting the surrounding 

area.   

In Autumn 2006, a brief but significant survey was conducted on the site’s sound 

checking, in order to evaluate the intensity and frequency of SEL levels related to 

airport activity. The report supported results of the model for measuring noise 

calculated according to regulations. 

The schedule of activities will include final testing of the network to be carried 

out by Arpav within the first few months of 2007. Further activation of procedures 

for measuring and analyzing elements related to traffic radar tracing will be 

developed over the course of 2007. 
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INFORMATION ON OWN OR PARENT COMPANY’S 

SHARES  
In conformity with article 2428, paragraph 2, numbers 3 and 4, of the Italian Civil 

Code, it was disclosed that in the year, the Company and the Group hold and have 

acquired 154,853 own shares acquired based on the methods indicated in the 

specific shareholders' resolution. The par value of the shares acquired was € 

100.65 thousand, equal to 0.56% of the share capital; the Group paid an amount of 

€ 3,272.1 thousand. The rationale for the acquisitions relate to the possibility of 

having an appropriate instrument that can be used to carry out any extraordinary 

financial transactions and/or ensure the company shares an adequate volume of 

training and provide support to the quotations.  

 

 

SHARES HELD BY DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS 

As shown by the declarations received, shares held or acquired by directors and 

auditors are:   

• Directors: 

� Enrico Marchi No. 83,677, 42,162 of which purchased 

during the year, 

� Luca Zaia: Null. 4,700 shares purchased during the year 

and 7,700 shares sold during the year. 

• Statutory Auditors: 

� Guido Penso: Null: 16,000 shares sold while in office (no 

longer in office as from 21 April 2006), 

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The Company has a Corporate Governance Model in place that acknowledges the 

matters laid down by the Code of Conduct for listed companies promoted by 

Borsa Italiana S.p.A. in March 2006, in line with the recommendations formulated 

by CONSOB and international best practices.  

The Group also has an Internal Control Committee and a Remuneration 

Committee for directors and management, formed primarily by independent 

directors. The Group also acknowledges the role of Lead Independent Director. 

  

231 PLAN 
Legislative Decree 231/2001 introduced into the Italian legal system the concept 

of administrative responsibility (with reference essentially to criminal 

responsibility) of the bodies (including companies, consortia, etc). for crimes 

committed in the interest of or to the benefit of themselves, (i) by individuals who 

play representational, administrative or managerial roles at the bodies or by an 

organizational body with financial or functional autonomy, as well as by 

individuals who exercise management and control of the bodies, in addition to (ii) 

individuals subjected to the direction or supervision of one of the aforementioned 

parties. This accountability is added to that of individuals who have actually 

committed the crime. Adoption of an organizational or operating model with a 

view to effectively preventing such crimes in accordance with Legislative Decree 

231/2001 is not mandatory under the law. Nevertheless, in order to operate in a 

context of transparency and fairness, the Save Group has decided to begin the 

process to adopt a specific operating model that can be applied consistently within 

the entire Group. To this end, SAVE has used as reference the instructions of the 
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decree and the guidelines laid down by category associations, and in particular, by 

Confindustria. 

As part of this project, the company and Group have adopted a Code of Ethics. 

This code defines and explains the values and principles that form the respective 

activities and relationships with employees, collaborators, customers, suppliers, 

shareholders, institutions and any other stakeholder, as well as the methods for 

pursuing and applying these principles and values.  



SAVE Group Consolidated Financial Statements and SAVE S.p.A. Financial Statements as at 31 December 2006 

 61

 

DATA SECURITY PURSUANT TO LAW 196/2003 and 

subsequent updates 
The SAVE Group has set up a programmatic document of security and 

organisational procedures to guarantee security in the processing of personal data. 

These tools were revised over time and brought into line with the organisational 

evolution of the group and the new standards contained in Legislative Decree No. 

196/03 as amended, made final by 31/3/2006 as provided Legislative Decree 

273/05 of 30/12/2005. The company is currently carrying out the final review of 

the PSD to correctly apply its security measures. 

 

LAW DECREE NO. 303/2006 
Law Decree 303 of 29 December 2006, entitled "Coordination with Law 262 of 28 

December 2005, of the Unified Banking and Credit Law (TUB) and the unified 

law on provisions regarding financial brokerage (TUF) introduced important 

news concerning listed companies. 

In compliance with the matters under the transitional and final provisions of the 

implementing Decree, the Company Articles of Association, filed with the 

Companies Register on the date of entry into force of the Implementing Decree, 

must be adapted to embrace the new legal provisions no later than 30 June 2007. 

In view of the need to comply with the matters prescribed by these regulatory 

provisions, the Board of Directors of SAVE, assisted by the opinion and 

consulting of company attorneys, made a careful analysis and evaluation of the 

new items introduced by the Law on Savings and the Implementing Decree and 

set forth proposed amendments to the Company Articles of Association which 

will be submitted to the approval of the shareholders' meeting.   

 

RELATIONS WITH SUBSIDIARIES, AFFILIATES AND 

RELATED PARTIES 
All transactions with subsidiaries, affiliates and related parties have been carried 

out in compliance with the market conditions regularly applied for similar services 

with the same level of quality.  

 

For information regarding the relationships entertained during the year with 

associated companies, see the notes cited under the remarks in the Balance Sheet 

and Income Statement contained in the Notes and see Annex D for 

payable/receivable and cost/revenue ratios.  

 

Specifically, the Group, together with Finanziaria Internazionale Holding S.p.A. 

(associated party as reference partner), established relationships of assistance and 

consultation related to possible purchases of share parcels or companies in sectors 

functional to the Group’s development. 

The ability to sign contracts essentially at "success fee" was approved by the 

boards of directors of the companies involved (the Parent Company and Airport 

Elite. S.r.l.) due to the company’s experience and standing as advisor. In addition, 

the regular and contractual relationship assures the Group a certain degree of 

reliability and complete confidentiality. Consulting relationships are regulated at 

arm's length conditions according to the type of need. Costs incurred during the 

year were € 818 thousand, of which € 86 thousand for Save S.p.A. and € 732 

thousand relating to Airport Elite S.r.l./Airest. Payables referring to services not 
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yet paid for come to € 1,006 thousand and include trade payables, of which € 829 

thousand with reference to the parent company. These costs are incidental to the 

acquisitions and are booked with assets. 

 

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
No significant events have occurred after the closing date of these financial 

statements which would substantially affect the accuracy of this report on assets 

and liabilities or make it necessary to change or supplement the financial 

statements. 

 

In January 2007, the Group granted its shareholding in Gemina S.p.A. (the 

"Shares") as a loan to International Limited ("Morgan Stanley"), represented by 

37,390,000 ordinary shares and corresponding to 10.2585% of the capital in the 

company. 

The securities loan related to the Shares have a duration of 9 months beginning on 

24 January 2007 and requires Morgan Stanley to give back the Shares. The 

transaction makes it possible to improve the financial position of the company 

from a perspective of effective management of their equity investments. 

Furthermore, on the same date, SAVE executed a “Total Return Hedging Equity 

Swap” transaction with Morgan Stanley that will enable SAVE to cover the risk 

of market value changes of the securities and envisages, at its term, of cash 

payment or, with an option to SAVE, for physical delivery of the securities. 

 

With a view to constantly improving operations, the search for synergies and 

maximization of Group value, the Group expressed its interest in disposing of 

marginal activities in one of the recently acquired companies.   

 
At last, the subsidiary Airport Elite S.r.l. in 1

st
 March 2007, through its Austrian 

subsidiary, signed an agreement with Group DO&CO (Vienna Stock exchange 

listed) for the transfer of the Airest’s branch inherent to Airline Catering, Business 

Catering and Event Catering.  

The operation involved the transfer of whole Airest and the subsequent buyback 

of the Terminal Catering and Retail branches.  

The price payed by DO&CO for the 100% of Airest was € 33.8 millions. The 

buyback price for the Terminal Catering and Retail branches was € 11.5 millions.  

 

BUSINESS OUTLOOK 
Steady progress is being seen in airport operations, in keeping with projections of 

further growth in volumes. Positive traffic expectations and rapid response times 

of the Group to negative exogenous factors are expected to continue. 
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Dear Shareholders, 

 

We are confident that you will agree with the criteria we used in drafting the 

financial statements ended 31 December 2006 and we ask you to approve them. 

 

SAVE S.p.A. made net profit of € 12,644,276 this year. In view of the need to 

reconstitute the legal reserve up to the amount of one-fifth of the share capital, 

pursuant to Article 2430 of the Civil Code, we propose the following allocation: 

•  € 539,595 to the legal reserve, to reconstitute it to an amount of one-fifth 

of the share capital pursuant to Article 2430 of the Italian Civil Code,  

• € 206,581 to profits carried forward, 

• the remaining € 11,898,100 to dividends to shareholders, for a value of € 

0.43, with exception for own shares held by the company whose dividend 

will go to increase that of the other shares. 

 

 

The Chairman of the Board of Directors 

Enrico Marchi 
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- 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS

(in thousands of euros) NOTES 31/12/2006 31/12/2005 Change 

Cash and cash equivalents 1 34.941 26.563 8.378

Financial assets 2 293 293

Tax assets 3 2.359 2.461 -102 

Other receivables 4 16.071 19.020 -2.949 

Trade receivables mag-32 33.450 29.051 4.399

Inventories 6 9.379 4.687 4.692

Subtotal current assets 96.493 81.782 14.711

Assets sold/held for sale 39 31.116 31.116

of which of financial nature 2.529 2.529

of which of non-financial nature 28.587 28.587

Total current assets 127.609 81.782 45.827

Own tangible assets 7 75.428 49.690 25.738

Tangible assets subject to reversion free of charge 7 132.629 127.024 5.605

Licences 8 72.972 73.396 -424 

Other intangible fixed assets with finite life 8 2.357 2.326 31

Start-up – other intangible assets with indefinite life 8 49.209 49.209

Shareholdings 9 129.354 92.253 37.101

Other financial assets 10 1.586 1.239 347

Tax credit for advance payments 11 13.833 13.092 741

Other receivables 12 98 -98 

Total non current assets 477.368 359.118 118.250

TOTAL ASSETS 604.977 440.900 164.077

LIABILITIES
(in thousands of euros) NOTES 31/12/2006 31/12/2005 Change 

Trade payables 13 54.232 39.709 14.523

Other payables 14 12.542 9.068 3.474

Payables to tax authorities 15 8.773 10.870 -2.097

Payables to social security authorities 16 3.317 2.550 767

Payables to banks 17-20 32.637 16.092 16.545

Other financial liabilities – current share 18-21 2.967 3.854 -887

Subtotal current liabilities 114.468 82.143 32.325

Liabilities sold/held for sale 39 14.926 14.926

of which of financial nature

of which of non-financial nature 14.926 14.926

Total current liabilities 129.394 82.143 47.251

Other payables 19 181 328 -147

Financial payables net of current share to banks 20-17 124.401 89.194 35.207

Financial payables net of current share to others 21-18 3.013 4.811 -1.798

Provision for deferred taxes 22 9.593 5.840 3.753

Provision for severance indemnity and other staff provisions 23 12.768 7.075 5.693

Other provisions for liabilities and charges 24-36 8.718 7.660 1.058

Total non current liabilities 158.674 114.908 43.766

TOTAL LIABILITIES 288.068 197.051 91.017

NET EQUITY
(in thousands of euros) NOTES 31/12/2006 31/12/2005 Change 

Share capital 25 17.985 17.985 0

Share premium reserve 25 148.337 148.337 0

Legal reserve 25 3.058 2.600 458

Reserve for treasury shares 25 -3.272 -3.272

Other reserves and profits carried forward 25 106.134 39.488 66.646

Profit for the year 25 16.551 10.966 5.585

Total Group net equity 288.793 219.377 69.416

 - minority shareholders 25 28.116 24.472 3.644

TOTAL NET EQUITY 316.909 243.849 73.060

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET EQUITY 604.977 440.900 164.077
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

2005

NOTES

(in thousands of euros)

Operating revenue 26 213.474 153.635 59.839

Other income 26 11.707 12.370 -663

Total operating revenue and other income 225.181 166.004 59.177

Cost of production

Raw and ancillary materials, consumables, and goods27 46.033 25.330 20.703

Services 28 46.980 39.360 7.620

Lease and rental costs 29 20.123 12.867 7.256

Personnel costs:

Wages and salaries and social contribution charges30 53.446 36.705 16.741

Severance indemnity 30 2.142 1.434 708

other costs 30 1.051 178 873

Depreciation, amortization and write-downs

Intangible fixed assets 31 3.804 3.841 -37

Tangible fixed assets 31 15.382 14.648 734

Write-downs of short-term assets 32-5 2.216 2.990 -774

Change in inventories of raw and ancillary materials, consumables and goods33 -588 326 -914

Allocations for risks 34 929 868 61

Provisions for assets subject to reversion free of charge35 930 849 81

Other charges 36-24 2.258 2.315 -57

Total cost of production 194.706 141.710 52.996

Operating result 30.475 24.294 6.181

Financial income and reassessment of financial assets 37 5.181 3.004 2.177

Interest, other financial charges and writedowns to financial assets37 -7.309 -5.210 -2.099

Profits on affiliates measured with the net equity method 37 394 289 105

-1.734 -1.917 183

Pre-tax result 28.741 22.378 6.363

Income Taxes 15.203 11.608 3.595

current 38 15.548 12.575 2.973

deferred 38 -345 -967 622

Profit (loss) for the year on continuing operations 13.538 10.770 2.768

39 2.830 2.830

Profit (loss) for the year 16.368 10.770 5.598

Profit (loss) for minority interest for the period -183 -196 13

Group profit (loss) for the year 16.551 10.966 5.585

Profit per share

 - non diluted 0,60 0,44

 - diluted 0,60 0,44

Profit per share exlcuding profit on assets held for sale

 - non diluted 0,50 0,44

 - diluted 0,50 0,44

Net profit (loss) on assets sold/held for sale

Change 

2006
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(in thousands of euros)

2006 NOTES 2005

Assets for the year

Profit from operations 13.721 10.966

Profit from assets held for sale 2.830

- Amortization and depreciation 18.684 31 17.874

- Writedowns of assets 502 31 615

- Net movements of provision for staff termination indemnity -595 23-30 48

- Accrual to (Use of) provision for liabilities and charges 196 24-34-35-36 538

- Cash (capital gain) on dismissed shareholdings -2.715 37

- (Write-up) Write-downs of shareholdings and non-cash non-operating profits 1.044 26-37 -2.039 

Subtotal self-financing (A) 33.667 28.002

Decrease (increse) in trade receivables -4.443  5-32 -692 

Decrease (increase) in other operating activities 8.068  4-6 17.106

Decrease (increase) in assets/liabilities to/from tax authorities 1.017 3-11-22 113

Increase (decrease) in trade payables 4.373 13 9.159

Increase (decrease) in payables to social security institutions -99 16 352

Increase (decrease) in other liabilities for the year -206 14-19-25 -11.619 

Subtotal (B) 8.710 14.419

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (A + B) = ( C ) 42.377 42.422

Investment activities

(Net acquisitions) of tangible assets -30.012  7-31 -53.362 

Contributions on tangible assets 3.478  7-31 4.992

(Net acquisition) of intangible assets -580  8-31 -1.049 

(Acquisition) of consolidated shareholdings -48.161 8-17-20

Net (increase) decrease in financial fixed assets  * and ** 9.376  9-10-25-26 -90.611 

Net (increase) decrease of the receivables for advances paid on acquisitions 11

Cash (capital gain) on dismissed shareholdings * 2.715 9-25-37

Investments in tangible fixed assets other than cash -1.750 

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES (D) -63.184 -141.781 

Financing activities

Acquisition (repayment) of payables to other lenders -2.739  18-21 -1.819 

(Decrease/repayment) of medium, long-term loans -17.681  17-20 -42.620 

Change in short-term net debt arising from acquired companies 2.962

New loans opened 49.335  17-20 35.770

(Increase) decrease in financial assets other than fixed assets 349 2 28

Dividends paid -9.944 25 -5.500 

of which related to previous years -1.254 19

Own shares purchased -3.272 25

Increases in capital for PTO 25 153.322

Other -3.841 25

CASH FLOW FINANCING ACTIVITIES (E) 15.169 139.182

CASH FLOW FROM ASSETS SOLD/HELD FOR SALE (F) -2.529 39

NET CASH FLOW FOR THE YEAR (C+D+E+F) -8.167 39.822

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD 10.471 1-17-20 -29.351 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 2.304 1-17-20 10.471

 * In 2006, 6.46 million Gemina shares were sold, which led to a  cash-in of € 16.6 mil. which already includes a capital gain of € 2.7 million.

 ** € 4.7 million relating to the change  in the fair value assessment of the Gemina shares , net of the fiscal effect, with respect to year-end 2005.

Additional information: 

interest paid 5.588

Taxes paid, including airport license charges 24.287  

 



SAVE Group Consolidated Financial Statements and SAVE S.p.A. Financial Statements as at 31 December 2006 

 68

CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' NET EQUITY 

Re: Note 25 

 

 

CHANGES IN NET EQUITY

(in thousands of euros)

(in thousands of 

euros)

Share 

capital

Legal 

reserve

Share 

premium 

reserve

Own share 

reserve

Other 

reserves

Results 

carried 

forward 

from 

previous 

years 

Total 

reserves

Profits (losses) 

for the year / 

period Net equity

Balance as at 1 

January 2004 13.000 2.600 43.201 74 45.876 8.698 67.574

Allocation of 2003 result 21               2.177 2.198 (2.198) -                    

Dividend payment -                    (6.500) (6.500)

Other movements 298 298               298

2004 result -                    4.908 4.908

Total as at 31 December 2004 13.000 2.600 43.222 2.550 48.372 4.908 66.281

Allocation of 2004 result 1.635 (2.226) (591) 591

Capital increase 4.986 148.337 148.337 153.323

Dividend payment (5.500) (5.500)

Fair value assessment of securities (6.111) (6.111) (6.111)

Other movements 418 418 418

2005 result 10.966 10.966

Total as at 31 December 2005 17.986 2.600 148.337 38.746 742 190.425 10.966 219.377

Allocation of 2005 result 458 1.818 2.276 (2.276)

Dividend payment (8.690) (8.690)

Change in fair value assessment of securities 47.669 47.669 47.669

Own shares purchased (3.272) (3.272) (3.272)

Other movements 17.158 17.158 17.158

Result 16.551 16.551

Total as at 31 December 2006 17.986 3.058 148.337 (3.272) 86.415 19.718 254.256 16.551 288.793
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SAVE Group Consolidated Financial Statements and SAVE S.p.A. Financial Statements as at 31 December 2006 

 70

INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY: GROUP ACTIVITY 

The Group is active in three main business areas: airport management, transport 

infrastructures (railway stations) and traveller services (management of 

commercial and food & beverage activities).   

 

IAS/IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ADOPTED IN DRAFTING THE 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 

2006 

Drafting criteria  

These consolidated financial statements refer to FY closed on 31 December 2006. 

They were drafted based on the principle of historical cost, with the exclusion of 

the section regarding derivative financial instruments or financial assets held for 

sale, which are recorded at fair value. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euros, and all of the figures 

are rounded off to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated. 

 

Conformity to IAS/IFRS 

All consolidated financial figures as at 31 December 2006 are released in 

accordance with IFRS adopted by the EU and in force on the date it was drafted. 

  

Form and content of consolidated financial statements 

These notes were drafted by the Board of Directors based on account documents 

and consolidated figures updated to 31 December, 2006. 

For purposes of comparison, the financial statements contain reports presenting 

balance sheet data as at 31 December, 2005 and economic data from 2005. 

The company chose to use the preferred schemes outlined in IAS 1 for the income 

statement, balance sheet, cash flow statement, and changes in equity, considering 

this to be the most effective way to illustrate the company’s performance. More 

specifically: balance sheet divided into current and non-current assets and 

liabilities; income statement recording income and charges by cost nature; and 

cash flow statement divided into operations, investment, and financing activities.  

 

Consolidation area 

Consolidation principles 

The consolidated financial statements include financial statements for SAVE 

S.p.A. and its subsidiaries drafted as at 31 December of every year. Those of the 

subsidiaries are drafted for every year-end using the same accounting standards as 

the parent company.  

All intra-group balances and transactions, including any uncollected profits and 

losses from dealings between companies in the Group that are recorded in the 

assets, are completely eliminated. 

The subsidiaries are consolidated line-by-line starting at the date of acquisition, or 

the date on which the Group gains control, and cease to be consolidated as of the 

date on which the control is transferred outside the Group. 

 

Minority interest represents the portion of profits or losses and net assets not held 

by the Group and is recorded separately on the income statement. On the balance 

sheet they are charged to net equity, separate from the Group’s net equity. Minority 

interest acquisitions are entered using the “parent entity extension method,” where 

the difference between the price paid and the book value for the share in the net 

acquired assets is recorded as goodwill. 
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These consolidated financial statements include economic, balance sheet, and 

financial figures for a company on which the parent company, despite holding 

a share of less than 50%, has a dominant influence, and has the option of 

deciding on company strategies, based on agreements between partners.  
 

SAVE also holds a shareholding in a joint venture, without having the majority 

of votes at the Shareholders' Meetings. However, based on a contractual 

agreement, it shares control with regard to strategic/financial decisions to be 

taken based on the shareholders’ unanimous approval. The shareholding is 

consolidated using the proportional method. The balance sheet and income 

statement are integrated “pro-quota,” based on the percentage held; the book 

value for the share held is written off for the corresponding net equity. 
 

The list of the companies included in the consolidation area is as follows: 

% held by the Group  Company Share capital 

(euros) 31/12/2006 31/12/2005 

PARENT COMPANY:    

• SAVE S.p.A. 17,985,500 - - 

SUBSIDIARIES:    

• Marco Polo Park S.r.l. 516,460 100 100 

• Airport Elite S.r.l. 2,312,140 86.5 100 

• Airline Terminal & Business Catering 

Holding GMBH 

35,000 

 

86.5 

 

- 

• Airest Restaurant und 

Hotelbetirebsges.m.b.h. 

800,000 86.5 - 

• Airest Slovensko s.r.o (currency: 

SKK) 

1,900,000 86.5 - 

• Airest Catering d.o.o. (currency: SIT) 34,150 86.5 - 

• Archimede 2 S.r.l. 400,000 86.5 100 

• Save Security S.r.l. 100,000 80.75 80.75 

• SAVE Engineering S.p.A. 520,000 97 97 

• Archimede 1 S.p.A. 25,000,000 60 60 

• N-AITEC S.r.l. 50,000 100 51 

• AerTre S.p.A. 3,119,840 45 45 

• Centostazioni S.p.A. * 8,333,335 24 24 

• Archimede 3 S.r.l. 50,000 100 100 

• Aeroporto Civile di Padova S.p.A. 1,016,924 62.86 60.32 

• Idea 2 S.r.l. 10,000 100 100 

• Società Agricola Ca’ Bolzan a .r.l. 98,800 100 100 

• Agricola Altinia S.r.l. - - 100 

• Elite Tre S.r.l. 50,000 65.34 - 

• Ristop S.r.l. 3,000,000 86.5 - 

* consolidated using the proportional method. 

 

During the year, the Airest Group and Ristop S.r.l. acquisitions were made and 

consequently these companies have been included to the consolidation area. 

The Airest Group was purchased through a vehicle company (Airline Terminal 

& Business Catering Holding GMBH) which completed the acquisition of 

Airest GMBH and its subsidiaries and affiliates. The Group carries out 
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activities in food & beverage services in the Austrian airports of Vienna, 

Salzburg, Graz, Linz, and Klagenfurt and at the Lubiana airport in Slovenia. 

Airest also carries out airline catering activities at Austrian airports and at the 

Bratislava airport in Slovakia.   
As of 1 October, the Group also includes Ristop S.r.l., a company providing food 

& beverage services mainly along Italy’s motorways. 

Elite Tre S.r.l. was incorporated during the year and consolidated. It was founded 

during the last quarter to manage sales and food service operations in transport 

infrastructures at the new Treviso airport, both on behalf of the group and on 

behalf of third parties. 

 

The following list describes some of the changes that occurred between 31 

December, 2005 and 2006 in the consolidation area and shareholding 

percentages: 

• In FY 2006, the remaining 49% of N-Aitec S.r.l. was purchased, 

bringing the share up to 100% 

• During the last quarter, the company Agricola Altinia was incorporated 

by Società Agricola Ca’ Bolzan a r.l. through a merger by 

incorporation; both are 100% held by the parent company 

• With regard to Aeroporto Civile di Padova S.p.A., during the year the 

Shareholders’ Meetings resolved upon a capital decrease for losses 

(based on interim financial statements as at 31 July, 2006) and a 

subsequent capital increase to supply the company with adequate 

financial resources; The parent company subscribed its share of capital 

and the unpurchased portion on behalf of other partners , slightly 

increasing the share from 60.32 to 62.86% 

• In April of 2006 the Airest Group was purchased 

• In October of 2006 Ristop S.r.l. was purchased. During the transaction, 

Ristop’s retail partner subscribed for a 13.5% reserved increase in 

Airport Elite S.r.l.’s capital, waiving the option right for SAVE S.p.A., 

which resulted in a reduction of the parent company's percent 

ownership of the company from 100% to 86.5% 
• Airport Elite S.r.l.’s share capital was increased in two tranches, the 

first going from € 1,980 thousand to € 2 million, for the Airest 

transaction, and the second for another € 312 thousand, for the 

acquisition of Ristop S.r.l. 

• During the last quarter Elite Tre S.r.l. was created in partnership with 

Aer Tre S.p.A. (51% of the capital) and Airport Elite S.r.l. (49%) for 

the management of businesses at the new airstation in Treviso 

 

La Piazza di Spagna S.r.l., 51% of which is held by SAVE, to be considered 

inoperative, with assets consisting mostly of payables to partners for share 

capital contributions yet to be paid. 

 

Change in accounting standards  

The accounting standards applied are the same as those used for the previous year. 

None of the IFRS standards released in 2006, nor the revised versions of other 

ones released in the past have been applied, since the resulting adjustments were 

not considered necessary for these financial statements. In addition, it should be 
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mentioned that the new or revised IFRS standards released during FY 2006 have 

not been applied in advance. 

 

Significant accounting estimates 

Below are the key assumptions regarding the future and other important sources 

of uncertainty in the year-end estimates, which could produce significant 

adjustments in the book values of assets and liabilities by the end of the financial 

year.  

 

 

Impairment of goodwill 

Goodwill is subject to annual verification to check for impairment; this check 

requires an estimate of the use value of the cash-generating unit which goodwill is 

attributed to, in turn based on the estimate of the cash flows expected from the 

unit and time-discounting based on an appropriate discount rate.  

For the purpose of assessing impairment of goodwill and consolidation 

differences recorded in the financial statements, the company has adopted the 

method described in the “Impairment of tangible and intangible assets” section. 

Cash flows of cash generating units attributable to each goodwill were drawn 

from the Business Plans approved by the Boards of Directors. For the purpose of 

determining the terminal value thereof, a constant conservative growth rate was 

assumed, lower than the planned inflation. Rates in the range of 8% and 8.9% 

were used as discounting-back rates (WACC). The rates used vary depending on 

the cost of money and specific risks connected to activities ascribable to target 

markets. 

Regarding other specific intangible assets, an impairment analysis is carried out 

on a yearly basis of any residual value of the concessions initially allocated in 

2002, at the time of acquisition, for the higher value paid to purchase the equity 

investment in Centostazioni. 

As already indicated, for assessment purposes, the cash flows of the cash 

generating unit concerned were drawn from the Business Plans approved by the 

Boards of Directors. For the purpose of determining the terminal value, a constant 

and conservative growth rate was assumed, lower than the planned inflation. 

The discounting back rate applied (WACC) was 7.6%, as the latter reflects the 

peculiarity of the infrastructure industry. 

 

Deferred taxes receivable 

Deferred or prepaid taxes are measured on the interim difference of deferred costs, 

mainly concerning provisions for risk funds, and fiscal losses of some Group 

companies carried over.  

Prepaid tax assets are entered into the accounts when their recovery is probable, 

based on the discretion of directors, valued with particular concern for the ability 

of the parent company and subsidiaries to generate positive taxable income, 

including pursuant to the decision to take advantage of "tax consolidation". 

Directors must estimate the probable time and amount of future taxable income. 

The evaluation was made based on the expected tax rate for the year in which the 

interim difference is expected to take place. Further details are given in the notes. 

At December 31, deferred tax assets were equal to € 13.8 million and further 

details can be found in the explanatory notes.  
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Provision for bad debts 

The provision for bad debts is determined based on a specific analysis of disputes 

and other items that, while not in dispute, demonstrate symptoms of a potential 

delayed collection. Overall assessment of the realizable value of trade receivables 

calls for estimates regarding the probability to collect on these items, therefore, it 

is subject to uncertainty. At December 31, the allowance for doubtful debtors was 

equal to € 13.1 million.  

 

Provision for renewal of assets subject to reversion free of charge 

Against property held under license agreements, the Parent Company allocates a 

special provision for maintenance and renewal that need to be done on assets 

subject to reversion free of charge booked in the balance sheet, which must be 

transferred to the State in perfect conditions at the end of the grant. 
The provision for renewal is allocated yearly – and used in accordance with the 

actual maintenance carried out during the FY – based on a technical evaluation of 

the estimate of future charges related to scheduled maintenance required to 

maintain the assets that must be returned free of charge at the end of the 

concession in 2041. At December 31, the provision for renovation of property 

grantable freely and without cost was equal to € 6 million. 

 

 

VALUATION CRITERIA 

The IAS/IFRS standards applied are uniform with those used at 31 December 

2005, indicated in the following points. 

 

 

Intangible fixed assets. 

Intangible assets refer to assets without identifiable physical form, controlled 

by the company, which can generate future economic benefits in addition to 

assets arising from business combination transactions. 

The useful life of intangible assets may be assessed as limited or unlimited. 

Intangible fixed assets are entered at purchase or production cost, including 

additional charges, if any. Amounts are net of amortization charges, 

systematically calculated on a straight-line basis in relation to the remaining 

useful life of the asset or capitalized cost, according to IAS 36, and submitted 

to tests of congruence each time there is indication of a possible impairment. 

Amortization is applied systematically throughout the life of the asset, 

according to the estimated prospects of economic use. The outstanding value at 

the end of the useful life is presumed to be zero, unless there is a commitment 

by third parties to acquire the asset at the end of its life or if there is a market 

for the asset. Directors review the useful life of the intangible asset at the end 

of each year. 

Amortization allowances of intangible assets with a finite life are posted in the 

income statement in the cost category, consistent with the function of the 

intangible asset. 

 

Intangible assets with an indefinite life are submitted to annual review of their 

recoverable value, individually or as cash-generating units (impairment test). 

Recovery of the book value is verified by adopting the criteria below. 
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No amortization is calculated for these assets. Intangible assets with an 

indefinite life are reviewed annually at year-end to check the continuation of 

the conditions based on this classification. 

 

The estimated useful life of the various types of intangible assets are shown 

below: 

 

Category Amortization period  

Patent and intellectual property rights: software 3, 5 years 

Licences  Licence duration 

Customer list Contract duration (7.75 

years) 

  

- Sundry deferred expenses 5 years 

 

Patents and use of intellectual property rights refer mainly to the costs of using 

and personalizing operating software 

 

More specifically, the item “concession” refers to the higher value paid, with 

respect to the relevant net assets on the purchase of the stake in Centostazioni 

S.p.A., for obtaining the licence to use and exploit the retail spaces of 103 

medium-sized stations. It is amortized on the basis of the duration of the right 

(40 years). Although not dealing specifically with the matter in question but 

relating mainly to intangible assets with a definite life, IAS 38 establishes that 

the useful life of an intangible asset coming from contractual rights or other 

legal rights must be determined based on the shorter period between the 

duration of the contractual or legal rights (duration of the concession) and the 

period of use of the asset itself. The recoverability of the book value reduced 

by the amortization is verified annually by adopting the criteria relating to the 

impairment test. 

More specifically, the item “concession” refers to the higher value paid, with 

respect to the relevant net assets on the purchase of the stake in companies that 

operate in the food and beverage and retail segment, mainly in infrastructure 

under license, sub-license or similar contracts. 

The item customer list denotes a portion of higher value paid with respect to 

the relevant shareholders' equity during acquisition of a company attributable 

specifically to the contract value with a major client. 

 

Business combinations and goodwill  

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for under the acquisition method. 

The cost of acquisition is calculated by summing up the values of assets 

transferred, liabilities assumed, instruments representing capital, issued by the 

purchaser in exchange for control of the acquired company on the date of 

exchange, including costs directly attributable to the company combination. 

The cost of acquisition must be allocated to assets, liabilities and potential 

liabilities of the acquired company, valued at the respective fair value at the 

date of acquisition, which meet the criteria under IFRS 3. Any difference 

recorded between the cost of the business combination and the acquirer's 

interest at fair value of the assets, liabilities and potential liabilities must be 

accounted as goodwill. 
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Goodwill acquired in a business combination is not amortized. The acquirer 

must check for value impairment annually, or more frequently if specific 

events or changed circumstances indicate the possibility that it could have been 

affected by a value loss, according to IAS 36 Impairment of Assets. 

Goodwill undergoes a recoverability analysis on a yearly basis, or even 

more frequently should events or circumstances change leading to any 

impairment. 

 

The minority interest in the acquired companies is initially measured in 

proportion to the minority interest of the current values of recognised assets, 

liabilities and potential liabilities. 

 

Tangible fixed assets. 

Tangible assets are made up of “company-owned assets” and “assets subject to 

reversion free of charge” made up of technical assets subject to concession 

(runways, buildings, parking lots, roads and connected installations). 

 

They are entered at the purchase or realisation cost which includes the price 

paid to purchase or construct the asset (net of discounts and allowances) and 

any costs directly attributable to the purchase and the putting into operation of 

the asset. Assets held by third parties are valued at the fair value based on a 

specific assessment.  
The purchase price or realisation cost is understood to be net of public capital 

contributions which are disclosed when the conditions for their concession are 

verified. 

 

Land, whether free of construction or annexed to civil and industrial buildings, 

were posted separately and are not subject to depreciation, in that it has an 

indefinite useful life. 

 

Tangible assets are shown net of related accumulated depreciation and any 

reduction in value, determined according to the methods described below. 

L’ammortamento è calcolato in quote costanti in base alla vita utile stimata 

del bene. 
 

The assets subject to reversion free of charge are depreciated in the duration 

period of the concession or the useful life of the asset, if lower. Improvement, 

upgrading and transformation costs, which add value to the tangible assets, are 

entered into the net assets. The expense fund for restoring the assets subject to 

reversion free of charge is entered among the provisions for liabilities and 

charges. With particular reference to the accounting of items characterizing the 

businesses operating under concession regimes, such as assets subject to 

reversion free of charge and the provision for adjustment and replacement, 

refer to the considerations made later on in the notes to the paragraph "Future 

changes in accounting policies". 
 

In view of current obligations concerning the dismantling, removal and 

restoring of assets, the book value includes the estimated costs (discounted 

back) to pay upon abandonment of the structures, off set to a specific 

provision. The effects of the estimated revisions of these costs are indicated in 
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the section “Provisions for liabilities and charges.” 
 

The replacement cost of identifiable components of complex assets is charged 

to the balance sheet and depreciated for the remaining useful life. The residual 

book value of the component to be replaced is entered into the income 

statement. 

 

The residual value and useful life of the tangible assets are reviewed at least at 

the end of each financial period to reveal any impairment, if events or changes 

in circumstances indicate that the carrying value can no longer be recovered.  

Should such events take place, and should book values be above estimated 

selling price, assets are written down as long as they reflect their selling 

price. The selling price of tangible assets will be whichever is greater, its 

net selling price or its value in use. 
 

Impairment is reported in the income statement under depreciation costs.  

This impairment is reversed should the motives which generated it cease to 

exist. 
 

At the moment of sale, or when future economic benefits for using the good 

no longer subsist, these are removed from the financial statements, and 

potential losses or profits (calculated as the difference between the sales 

value and the book value) are entered into the income statement for the year 

in which they were removed.  

 

If an asset is made up of components that have different useful lives or provide 

benefits, depreciation is made for each individual component. Land is not 

subject to depreciation and tangible assets held for sale are valued at the lower 

of the book value and the fair value, net of disposal charges. 
 

Maintenance and repair charges, that are not object of revaluation and/or 

extend the outstanding residual life of the assets, expensed in the year in which 

they are incurred; otherwise, they are capitalized. 

 

The annual rates applied to the main intangible assets are: 

 

Category Assets owned  Assets subject to 

reversion free of 

charge 

Runways, forecourts and roads - remaining duration 

of concession 
Light constructions and buildings  3% 

- 

10.0% - 4% and 

residual duration 

of the 

concession 

Runway equipment machinery 31.5% - 

Operating machinery 10.0% - 

Heating and cooling systems  

- 

 

15,0% 

Electrical systems  - 4.0% and 



SAVE Group Consolidated Financial Statements and SAVE S.p.A. Financial Statements as at 31 December 2006 

 78

residual duration 

of the 

concession 

Remote signalling equipment 25.0% - 

Other runway systems - 31.5% 

Other systems 8%-12% 15.0% - 20.0% 

Equipment 15.0%-25% - 

Motor vehicles  20.0% - 

Electronic equipment  20.0% - 

Office equipment and furnishings 10%-12%-

15% 

- 

 

 

Assets on financial lease 

Financial lease contracts that transfer all the risks and benefits coming from the 

property of the leased good to the Group are capitalized from the start date of 

the lease contract at the fair value of the leased good or, if lower, at the current 

value of the lease fees while also recording the corresponding financial liability 

to lease companies with payables.  

The lease fees are divided between the capital quota and the interest quota in 

order to apply a constant interest rate on the remaining balance of the debt 

(capital quota). Financial charges are charged to the income statement. 

Capitalized leased goods are amortized based on their estimated useful life. 

 

Impairment in tangible and intangible assets 

The accounting values of the tangible and intangible assets of the Save Group 

are valued each time there are clear internal or external signals indicating the 

possibility of a value loss of the asset or group of assets (known as the Cash-

Generating Unit or C.G.U.). 

The impairment test is conducted at least annually for goodwill, other 

intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not in use. 

The recoverable value is determined per individual asset, except when these 

assets generate financial flows that are not widely independent from those 

generated by other assets or groups of assets. 

If the book value of an asset is higher than its recoverable value, this asset has 

suffered impairment and is consequently written down until its recoverable 

value is recorded. In determining the use value, the Group discounts estimated 

future cash flows at the current value using the time-discounted pre tax rate 

that reflects the market value on the current value of cash and specific risks of 

the asset. In determining the fair value net of selling costs, an appropriate 

valuation model is used. These calculations are reached using appropriate 

evaluation multipliers, share prices quoted for subsidiaries whose securities are 

publicly traded, and other available fair-value indicators. 

Impairment on assets in operation are recorded in the income statement in the 

cost categories that match the use of the asset that has suffered the loss of 

value. 

At year-end, with reference to assets other than goodwill, the Group also 

checks for any signs of elimination (or reduction) of previously recorded 

impairment and, if these indications exist, estimates the recoverable value. 

Impairment of an asset previously written down can be reversed only if 
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changes have taken place in the estimates on which calculation of the 

recoverable value was determined, subsequent to recording the most recent loss 

in value. Impairment reversal cannot exceed the book value that would have 

been determined, net of amortization, in the case where no impairment had 

been recorded in previous years. This recovery is recorded in the income 

statement unless the asset is not booked at the revalued value, in which case, 

the recovered value is treated as an increase from revaluation. 

Reversal of an impairment loss for goodwill is prohibited. 

 

The following criteria are used for accounting for impairment related to 

specific kinds of assets: 

 

Goodwill 

The Group submits goodwill to tests for impairment on an annual basis, or 

more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

accounting value could be subject to loss of value. 

Impairment of goodwill is determined by evaluating the recoverable amount of 

this cash-generating unit (or group of CGU) to which goodwill is related. An 

impairment loss should be recognized whenever recoverable amount of a cash-

generating unit (or group of CGU) is below the carrying amount of the cash-

generating unit (or group of CGU) to which goodwill is allocated. Reversal of 

an impairment loss for goodwill is prohibited. The Group tests goodwill for 

impairment annually at year end. 

To test for impairment, the carrying value of the asset or cash-generating unit is 

compared with its recoverable value, given by the higher of fair value (net of 

sales expenses) and the value of time-discounted net cash flows that are 

expected to be produced by the asset or the CGU. 

Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is so allocated represents the 

lowest level in the Group in which goodwill is monitored for internal 

management purposes. 

The conditions and methods for reversing the value of an impaired asset 

applied by the Group, without prejudice to the inability to reverse impairment 

on goodwill, are as laid down by the IAS 36. 

 

Holdings in affiliates 

Group shareholdings in associated companies are valued with the equity 

method.  An associated company is a company in which the Group has 

significant influence but not control or joint control.   
Accordance with the equity method, a shareholding in an affiliate company is 

initially recorded at cost and subsequently adjusted to reflect the Group's share 

of the net profit or loss of the associate. Goodwill relating to the affiliate 

company is included in the accounting value of the shareholding and is not 

subject to amortization. After applying the equity method, the Group 

determines whether it's necessary to recognize added impairment with 

reference to the net equity investment of the Group in the affiliate. The income 

statement reflects the Group share of the results of the affiliate company. If an 

affiliate recognizes adjustments directly to shareholders' equity, the Group 

recognizes its share and posts it, where applicable, in the statement of changes 

in shareholders' equity. Income arising from transactions between the Group 

and the affiliate is eliminated in proportion to the investment in the affiliate. 
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The date of account closure of the affiliates is the same as the Group; the 

accounting principles used comply with the ones used by the Group, for 

transactions and events of the same nature and in similar circumstances. 

 

Other financial assets 

IAS 39 includes the following types of financial instruments: financial assets at 

fair value with changes recognized in the income statement; loans and 

receivables; investments held to maturity; and assets available for sale. 
Initially, all financial assets are measured at fair value, plus incidental charges 

in the event of assets other than fair value with changes recognized in the 

income statement. At the time of recognition, the Group decides whether a 

contract includes implicit derivatives. 
Implicit derivatives are separated out from the host contract if this is not valued 

at fair value when the analysis shows that the economic characteristics and 

risks of the implicit derivative are not strictly related to those of the host 

contract. 

The Group classifies its financial assets after initial recognition and where 

appropriate and allowable, reviews this classification at the end of each 

financial year. 
 

Financial assets at fair value with changes charged to the income statement  

This category includes financial assets held for trading and financial assets 

designated on initial recognition as one to be measured at fair value with fair 

value changes in profit or loss charged to the income statement.   

Assets held for trading are represented by assets purchased for the purpose of 

selling in the short term. Derivatives, including separate out assets, are 

classified as financial instruments held for trading, unless they have been 

designated as hedge instruments. Gains or losses on assets held for trading are 

booked to the income statement. 

If a contract includes one or more embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid 

contract can be designated as a fair value financial asset with adjustments 

charged to the income statement, except for those cases in which the implicit 

derivative does not substantially modify cash flows or it is clear that the 

embedded derivative can not be separated out. 

Initially, financial assets should be measured at fair value, with adjustments 

booked to the income statement provided the following conditions apply: (i) 

the fair value option designation eliminates or significantly reduces an 

accounting mismatch that would arise by assessing or measuring gains or 

losses that these assets generate, according to other criteria; or (ii) the assets are 

part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both is managed and 

its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a 

documented risk management strategy; or (iii) the financial asset contains an 

implicit derivative that should be removed or accounted for separately. 

 
Loans and receivables  

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payment that are not listed on an active market. After initial 

recognition, these assets are valued according to the amortized cost method 

using the effective discount rate, net of provisions for impairment. 
The amortized cost is calculated taking into consideration every purchase 

discount or bonus and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective 
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interest rate and transaction costs. Any gain or loss is recognized in the 

income statement when the loans or receivables are written off or impairment 

appears, in addition to through the amortization process. 
 
Financial assets available for sale 

Available-for-sale financial assets (AFS) are any non-derivative financial 

assets designated on initial recognition as available for sale and not classified 

in any other of the previous categories. AFS assets are initially recognized at 

fair value and gains or losses are recognized in a separate item in shareholders’ 

equity. Fair value is determined in reference to the bid price at the date of 

closure of the period in question; the fair value of instruments not listed is 

determined using commonly used financial assessment techniques. When the 

assets are written off, cumulative gains or losses are recognized in the income 

statement. Accrued or paid interest on these investments are accounted for as 

interest income or charges, using the effective interest rate. Dividends accrued 

on these investments are charged to the income statement as "dividends 

received" when the right to collection arises. 
 

Fair value 

In the case of securities traded on regulated markets, the fair value is 

determined by referring to the stock market quotation measured at the end of 

trading at year-end. For investments for which there is no active market, the 

fair value is determined by appraisal techniques, based on (i) recent transaction 

prices between independent parties; (ii) current market value of a substantially 

similar instrument; (iii) analysis of time-discounted cash flows; and (iv) models 

of appreciation of the options. 
 

Impairment on financial assets 

The Group checks if a financial asset or group of financial assets has suffered 

impairment at the financial statement date. 
 

Assets measured according to the amortized cost method. 

If there is an objective indication that a loan or receivable booked at the 

amortized cost has suffered impairment, the amount of the loss is measured as 

the difference between the accounting value of the asset and the current value 

of future estimated cash flows (not including future losses on receivables not 

yet incurred) discounted at the effective original interest rate of the financial 

asset (i.e. the actual interest rate calculated at the date of original posting). The 

book value of the asset is reduced through the use of an amortization provision 

and the amount of the impairment is recorded in the income statement. 
The Group values the existence of objective indications of impairment on an 

individual level, for financial assets that are individually significant, and then 

on an individual or collective level for financial assets that are not. In the 

absence of objective indications of impairment, for a financial asset valued 

individually, whether it is significant or not, this asset is included in a group of 

financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and this group is 

subjected to checks for impairment on a group level. Assets valued on an 

individual level where there is or there continues to be impairment will not be 

included in a group valuation. 
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Later, if the amount of impairment is reduced and this reduction can be 

objectively attributed to an event taking place after the impairment, the value 

reduced previously can be reinstated. Any subsequent reinstatement of value is 

booked to the income statement, in the amount in which the book value of the 

asset does not exceed the amortized cost at the date of reinstatement. 
With reference to trade receivables, an allocation for impairment is made when 

there are objective indications (such as the probability of insolvency or 

significant financial difficulties of the debtor) that the Group will not be able to 

recover all the amounts due based on the original invoice terms. The book 

value of the receivable is reduced by making use of a specific provision. 

Receivables subject to impairment are reversed when they are determined to be 

uncollectible. 
 

Financial assets available for sale 

In the event of impairment of a financial asset available for sale, a value equal 

to the difference between its cost (net of the reimbursement of capital and 

amortization) is transferred from the shareholders' equity to the income 

statement and its current fair value, net of impairment previously booked to the 

income statement. 

Reinstatements of value relating to shareholdings classified as available for 

sale are not booked to the income statement. Reinstatements of value relating 

to debt instruments are recorded in the income statement if the increase in the 

fair value of the instrument can be attributed to an event taking place after the 

impairment was posted to the income statement.  
 

Own shares 

Instruments representing the capital paid, such as own shares, must be 

deducted from capital. No gain or loss must be posted to the income statement 

at the time of acquisition, sale, issue, or writing off of these instruments 

representing capital. The amount paid is posted directly to shareholders' equity. 
 

Inventories 

Inventories, except for work in progress, are stated at the lower of the purchase 

or production cost and the estimated realizable value represented by the 

amount that the company expects to obtain from their sale in ordinary 

operations. The cost of inventories is determined by applying the weighted 

average cost method 
 

Contract work in progress for customers is measured based on the amounts 

agreed upon in relation to completion status using cost-to-cost method. 

Advances paid by customers are deducted from the value of the inventories in 

the amounts of the considerations accrued; the remainder is posted to liabilities. 

Any impairment arising from the closure of jobs are posted entirely during the 

year in which they are expected to occur. 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include quantifiable investments that are short-

term or convertible on demand, without risk of significant changes in value 

and expenses for their conversion. 
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Employee benefits  

The benefits guaranteed to employees distributed during or subsequent to 

ending the employment relationship through defined benefits programmes 

(employee severance indemnity) or other long-term benefits are recognized in 

the period the benefit accrues. 

 

The liability related to defined benefit programmes, net of any assets used 

in the plan, is determined on the basis of actuarial projections, and is shown 

on an accrual basis in relation to the services necessary to obtain these 

benefits; this liability is calculated by independent actuaries using the 

projected unit credit method. Gains and losses arising from the actuarial 

calculation are charged to the income statement as a cost or revenue regardless 

of their value, without using the "corridor method". 
The amount reflects payables accrued at the year-end date of the financial 

statements as well as future salary increases and correlated statistical dynamics. 
 

Provision for liabilities and charges 

Provisions for liabilities and charges concern specific costs and charges and 

those which are certain or probable and whose amounts are as yet to be 

determined at the closing date of the FY.   Provisions are posted when: 
(i) there is likely to be a current, legal or implicit obligation arising from a past 

event; 

(ii) it is likely that the obligation is fulfilled for a consideration; 

(iii) the amount of the obligation can be estimated in a reliable manner. 

 

Provisions are registered at a value representative of the best estimate – 

sometimes supported by experts – of the amount the business would pay to 

discharge the obligation, that is, to transfer it onto a third party at the 

closing date for the period.  When the financial effect of the time is significant 

and the payment dates of the liabilities can be reliably estimated, the provision 

is object of time-discounting. The increase in the provision connected with the 

passage of time is recognized in the income statement under the item 

“Financial income (expenses)”. 
When the liability refers to tangible assets (demolition of assets), the provision 

is posted to cover the asset it refers to; the income statement is charged through 

the depreciation process. 

The provisions are periodically updated to reflect changes in the cost estimates, 

implementation times, and the discount rate; reviews of the estimate of the 

reserves are charged to the same item in the income statement which has 

previously held the allocation or, when the liability relates to tangible assets, to 

balance the asset to which it refers. 

 

Trade payables and other non financial liabilities 

Trade payables, which mature within a normal commercial time-span are 

not discounted, and are entered at cost (identified by their face value). 

Payables denominated in foreign currency are recorded at the exchange rate in 

force on the date of the transaction and, subsequently, translated to the year-

end rate. Gains or losses arising from the translation are booked to the income 

statement. 
Other liabilities are posted at cost (identified by the par value). 
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Loans  

Other financial liabilities, except for derivatives, are initially recognized at 

cost, which corresponds to the fair value of the liability, net of the transaction 

costs which are directly attributed to issue of the liability. 

 

After initial recording, financial liabilities are valued using the amortized 

cost method, using the effective original interest rate represented by the rate 

that equalizes the current value of the cash flows and the value of original 

posting (the amortized cost method) at the time of initial posting. 

Gains or losses are booked to the income statement when the liability is 

extinguished, as well as through the amortization process. 
 

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities  

 

Financial assets 

A financial asset (or where applicable, part of a financial asset or part of a 

group of similar financial assets) is written off from the financial statements 

when: 

• rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 

• the Group holds the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has 

undertaken the contractual obligation to pay them in full and immediately to a 

third party; 

• the Group has transferred the right to receive cash flow from the asset and (a) 

has essentially transferred all the risks and benefits of ownership of the 

financial asset or (b) has not transferred nor retain the risks and benefits of the 

asset, but has transferred its control. 

If the Group has transferred the right to receive cash flow from an asset and has 

neither transferred nor held the risks and benefits nor has it lost control of 

them, the asset is recognized in the Group financial statements to the extent of 

its outstanding involvement in the asset. Residual involvement that takes the 

form of a guarantee on the transferred asset is valued at the lesser of the 

original book value of the asset and the maximum value of the amount that the 

Group could be required to pay. 
 

Financial liabilities  

A financial liability is written off from the financial statements when the 

obligation underlying the liability is extinguished, voided or fulfilled. 
 

Derivative financial instruments and hedging contracts 

The Group uses financial derivatives such as interest rate contracts to hedge 

risks arising mainly from fluctuations in the interest rate (i.e. cash flow hedge). 

These financial derivatives are initially booked at the fair value at the date they 

are signed; subsequently, the fair value is periodically recalculated. They are 

accounted for as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when 

the fair value is negative. 
Any gains or losses resulting from changes in the fair value of unsuitable 

derivatives for "hedge accounting" are charged directly to the income statement 

during the year. 
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The fair value of swap contracts on interest rates is determined with reference 

to the market value for similar instruments. 

In keeping with the strategy it has chosen, the Group does not perform 

derivative transactions for speculative purposes. 

 

Accounting for income 

Revenues are posted in the amount in which it is possible to reliably determine 

the fair value and it is likely that the related economic benefits will be used. 

According to the type of operation, revenue is reported on the basis of the 

specific criteria illustrated below: 

- revenue from the sale of assets is shown when the significant risks and 

benefits of their ownership are transferred to the purchaser; 

- revenues arising from performance of services are accounted for when the 

service is performed; 

- revenues for the performance of services related to contract work are recorded 

with reference to the state of completion of the assets based on the same 

criteria provided for work in progress. 

 

Revenues are booked net of returns, discounts, bonuses, and promotional 

charges directly related to sales revenues as well as directly related taxes. 

Commercial discounts, directly charged as a deduction to the revenues, were 

calculated based on contracts signed with airline carriers and tour operators. 

Royalties are booked on an accrual basis according to the substance of the 

contract agreements. 

Interest income is booked according to an accrual principle, based on which the 

actual yield of the asset to which it refers is considered. 

Dividends are shown when shareholders become entitled to receive 

payment. 

 

Recording of costs and expenses  

Costs are recognized when they relate to assets and services sold or used 

during the year or by systematic allocation, or when the future benefit cannot 

be determined. 

 

Income Taxes 

 

Current taxes 

Current taxes for the year in progress and previous years are valued at the 

amount that is expected to be reimbursed by or paid to the tax authorities. Tax 

rates and tax regulations used to calculate the amount are those issued or 

essentially issued at year-end. Current taxes relating to items posted directly to 

shareholders' equity are recorded directly to the balance sheet and not to the 

income statement. 
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Deferred taxes 

Deferred taxes are calculated using the "liability method" on the interim 

differences resulting at the year-end date between fiscal values used as 

reference for the assets and liabilities and values shown in the financial 

statements. Deferred tax liabilities are posted against all the taxable interim 

differences, except for when deferred tax liabilities arise from the initial 

posting of goodwill or an asset or liability of a transaction that is not a business 

combination and which, at the time of the transaction, does not lead to effects 

on the income of the year, calculated for financial statement purposes nor on 

the profit or loss calculated for tax purposes. 
A deferred tax asset should be recognized for deductible temporary differences, 

unused tax losses and unused tax assets to the extent that it is probable that 

taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 

differences can be utilized, unless the deferred tax asset arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset/liability other than in a business combination which, at 

the time of the transaction, does not affect the accounting or the taxable profit. 
 

The rates used to calculate deferred taxation, which reflects prospective 

taxation in compliance with national current legislation, are mainly the 

following: 

 

IRES      33.00%  
IRAP (regional tax on productive activity)  4.25% 
Income taxes for Airest     25% 

 
Conversion of entries in foreign currency 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euro, which is the 

functional currency adopted by the Company. Each company of the Group 

defines their functional currency, which is used to evaluate the items in the 

financial statements. Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are 

recognized at the exchange rate (with reference to functional currency) in force 

at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign 

currencies are converted into the exchange rate current at the closing date of 

the financial statements. Exchange gains and losses are posted to the income 

statement. Non-monetary items valued at the historic cost in foreign currency 

are converted using the exchange rates in force at the original date of 

recognition of the transaction. Non-monetary items booked at fair value in 

foreign currency are converted using the exchange rate at the date of 

calculating this value. 
At year-end, Airest Slovensko assets and liabilities are posted in SKK (Slovak 

koruna) with an average exchange rate in 2006 of 37.234 korunas per Euro and 

a year-end exchange rate at 29/12/06 of 34.435 per Euro; Airest Catering d.o.o 

uses the SIT (Slovenian tolar) with a fixed exchange rate of 239.64 tolars per 

Euro. The figures of these subsidiaries are translated into the presentation 

currency (the Euro) at the exchange rate on the transaction date, and in the 

income statement, translated at the average exchange rate of the year. 

Exchange differences arising from different translation rates are reported in 

shareholders' equity and are recorded separately in a special reserve. On 
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disposal of a foreign operation, exchange differences arising on monetary items 

that form part of shareholders' equity are included in the income statement. 
 

Profit per share 

Profit per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the period 

attributable to the company’s shareholders by the weighted average number 

of outstanding shares of common stock over the period. 

For the purposes of measuring diluted earnings per share, the weighted average 

of outstanding shares is modified while assuming the conversion of all the 

potential shares having a diluting effect.  The net results of the Group are 

adjusted to consider the effects of the translation, net of related taxes. 
 

Future changes in accounting policies 

 

IFRIC interpretations not yet in force 

IFRIC 12 was issued in November 2006 and will become effective as from 1 

January 2008. According to this interpretation, assets object of concession 

agreements whereby the grantor will hold control of the assets at the end of the 

concession and the operator has the right to a license fee of the service 

provided must be booked with intangible assets according to theory of the 

intangible asset model. 
The same interpretation, under paragraph 21, also states that if the concession 

agreement includes the contractual obligation of the operator to maintain the 

infrastructure at a given level of functionality and efficiency and/or restore the 

infrastructure to a certain level of use before returning it to the grantor at the 

end of the concession, this contractual obligation must be recorded and valued 

based on the provisions under IAS 37 regarding provisions and contingencies, 

making the best possible estimate of the charges that might be incurred to meet 

the current obligation at year end.  
 

Since this interpretation cannot be applied at this time, the Group has kept the 

original organization, posting these assets with tangible assets and allocating a 

provision for renewal of assets subject to reversion free of charge according to 

the methods above. 

 

Employee severance indemnity and Finance Act 2007 

As from January 1, 2007, the Finance Act and implementation decrees relating 

thereto introduced significant amendments to the rules governing employee 

severance indemnities, including the possibility for workers to make decisions 

on allocation of their severance indemnity accrued and accruing. In particular, 

workers are entitled to assign the new flows of severance indemnity to specific 

pension schemes or they may decide to keep them within their employer’s 

organization (in which case, the latter shall pay severance indemnity-related 

contributions into a Social Security treasury account). Presently, perplexities 

on interpretation of the above, recently enacted rule, the possible different 

interpretations of classification of severance indemnities accrued and accruing 

under IAS 19 and any consequent changes in actuarial calculations thereof, in 

addition to the impossibility to make suppositions on the decisions of workers 

on allocation of their severance pay (which choice is to be made by individual 
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workers by no later than next 30 June) make premature any hypotheses on 

actuarial modifications to the calculation process of severance indemnities 

accrued at December 31, 2006. 

 

Assets held for sale 

In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 5, the Group deconsolidated assets held 

for sale in the early months of 2007 on a line by line base, recording them in a 

single line. 

The same was done for the liabilities related to the assets object of sale. 

In terms of the income statement, revenues and costs relating to the business unit 

held for sale were deconsolidated line by line and the net result was represented in 

a single line under the results of the year, giving specific evidence in the income 

statement schedule. 

 

Assets under concession  

The airport of Venice and related property constructed are covered by a regime of 

total concession. After this, SAVE ensures the airport services provided and 

received regarding the entire structure and earns all the income from the year of 

airport business, as well as for income pertaining to the government. 

 

The areas of the airport of Treviso and related property realized and to realize are 

covered by a regime of early occupation pursuant to Article 17 Law Decree 

67/1997. 
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BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND PURCHASES OF MINORITY 

INTEREST  
 

Acquisitions in 2006 

 

Acquisition of Airest Group 

During the first half of 2006, SAVE Group purchased the Airest Group from 

Austrian Airlines. The company operates in the sectors of terminal and airline 

catering and to a lesser degree also in business catering. 

The acquisition agreement was signed in February of 2006, and control was 

officially transferred on 6 April, 2006 with payment made on 12 April, 2006. 

 

Airest GMBH, along with its subsidiaries and affiliates, manages: 
- activities in airline catering at the airports of Vienna and Bratislava, supplying 

for over forty airlines 

- activities in terminal catering basically as a concession agent, at the airport of 

Vienna, other major Austrian airports, and Lubiana airport, through the 

management of over thirty food and beverage locations 

- minor activities in business catering 

In FY 2005 Airest GMBH brought in € 74.3 million in operating revenue and 

other proceeds and had a net result of € 1.8 million. 

 

Transaction 

The transaction was organized through SAVE Group’s establishment of a 

company incorporated under Austrian law, Airline Terminal & Business 

Catering Holding Gmbh, which purchased the shares directly from two selling 

partners (both belonging to the group Austrian Airlines) for a countervalue of 

around € 26.4 million (including additional charges).  Airest’s net equity at the 

time of acquisition was € 0.8 million. 
 

Financial Coverage  

The vehicle company was capitalized with equity equivalent for the amount of 

€ 5 million from the subsidiary Airport Elite S.r.l., and financed through a loan 

issued by Unicredito for € 14 million and another issued by SAVE S.p.A., after 

that of Unicredito, for € 8 million.  
 

Consolidation 

The Airest Group was consolidated as of 1 April, 2006, through the line-by-

line method. 

It therefore contributed to SAVE Group’s consolidated figures for 2006 with € 

25.6 million in revenue for the last three quarters and a significant net result 

for the Group amounting to € 3.5 million, or 21.1% of the total. The net result 

also benefits from € 45.5 million in revenue connected to dismissed assets. 
 

The following section provides details on the assets and liabilities acquired at 

their current values and the resulting allocation of surplus on the purchases 

price of the shareholdings, in comparison to these net assets. This also further 

to reallocation of the price paid, based on the will the Group expressed at year-

end, to sell airline and business catering activities, and on the formal 

documents regarding the dismissals to the purchasing counterparty.  
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Figures shown in euros/000

Accounting 

figures as at 

31/03/2006

Attribution of 

capital gain paid

Current figures 

at 31/03/2006

Cash and cash equivalents 2.934 2.934

Financial assets 642 642

Inventories 2.241 2.241

Trade receivables 7.205 7.205

Other receivables 1.417 1.417

CURRENT ASSETS 14.439 14.439

Tangible fixed assets 6.343 6.343

Intangible fixed assets 161 6.950 7.111

Financial fixed assets 818 818

NON CURRENT ASSETS 7.322 6.950 14.272

TOTAL ASSETS 21.761 6.950 28.711

Payables to banks 4.000 4.000

Other financial liabilities – current share 

Trade payables 5.579 5.579

Other payables 5.269 5.269

CURRENT LIABILITIES 14.848 14.848

Financial payables net of current share

Provision for deferred taxes 1.738 1.738

Severance indemnity and other provisions 6.160 6.160

Other payables

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 6.160 1.738 7.898

TOTAL LIABILITIES 21.008 1.738 22.746

NET ASSETS 753 5.212 5.965

GOODWILL ON ACQUISITION 20.413 20.413

TOTAL COST FOR THE OPERATION 25.625 26.378  
 

The company’s accounts on the date of acquisition were adjusted to place the 

highest possible value on the price paid with regard to net equity at the time of 

acquisition. This was done through the following steps: 

• € 6.95 million, which can be traced back to intangible fixed assets with a definite 

life, relating to both airline catering for concessions as well as terminal catering 

for customer list value, and was therefore amortized over their duration, 10 and 

7.75 years respectively; 

• € 20.4 million, which can be traced back to intangible fixed assets with an 

indefinite life, (goodwill), relating to airline catering, terminal catering, and 

business catering, and was therefore not amortized and is subject to periodic 

impairment testing; 

• on the other hand, according to IAS 12 the provision for deferred taxes 

payable was recorded for an amount equal to the theoretical tax burden (25%) 

of the value of specific intangible fixed assets with a definite life. 
 

 
Acquisition of Ristop S.r.l. 

During October 2006, SAVE Group purchased 100% of Ristop S.r.l.’s capital 

from Serenessima Investimenti S.r.l. of the group Società Autostrada Brescia-

Padova. Ristop operates primarily in the area of motorway food services 
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(approx. 80% of turnover) with minor food service activities in airports and 

other urban locations. 

The acquisition agreement was signed in May 2006, and the sale and official 

transfer of control took place on 10 October, 2006. 

 

In FY 2006 Ristop S.r.l. recorded € 82.7 million in operating revenue and other 

proceeds and showed a net loss of € 2.3 million. 

 

Transaction 

The transaction occurred through the acquisition of 50% of Ristop’s shares, for 

a countervalue of € 21 million. The remaining 50% of the capital was paid in 

kind after an increase in Airport Elite’s share capital, reserved for former 

partner of Ristop, which subscribed for a 13.5% share in Airport Elite’s capital 

amounting to € 21 million. The total countervalue of the transaction was € 42 

million plus incidental costs. 
Ristop’s net equity totalled € 2.4 million according to IAS standards at the 

time of acquisition. 

 

Financial Coverage  

The group financed the transaction by taking out a loan from Banca Intesa for 

the amount of € 20 million.   
 

Consolidation 

Ristop S.r.l was consolidated as of 1 October, 2006 through the line-by-line 

consolidation method. 

It therefore contributed to SAVE Group's consolidated figures for 2006, with € 

19.9 million in statutory revenue for the last quarter, and a significant net loss 

for the Group equalling € 0.7 million. 

 

The following section provides details on the assets and liabilities acquired at 

their current values and the resulting allocation of the surplus on the purchase 

price of the shareholdings compared to net assets. 
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Figures shown in euros/000

Accounting 

figures as at 

30.09.06

Attribution of 

capital gain paid

Current figures 

at 30.09.06

Cash and cash equivalents 6.425 6.425

Financial assets

Inventories 3.548 3.548

Trade receivables 1.874 1.874

Other receivables 2.656 2.656

CURRENT ASSETS 14.503 14.503

Tangible fixed assets 16.149 544 16.693

Intangible fixed assets 508 508

Financial fixed assets 52 52

NON CURRENT ASSETS 16.709 544 17.253

TOTAL ASSETS 31.212 544 31.756

Payables to banks 2.397 2.397

Other financial liabilities – current share 54 54

Trade payables 13.581 13.581

Other payables 4.757 4.757

CURRENT LIABILITIES 20.789 20.789

Financial payables net of current share 3.553 3.553

Provision for deferred taxes 462 462

Severance indemnity and other provisions 3.869 3.869

Other payables 148 148

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 8.032 8.032

TOTAL LIABILITIES 28.821 28.821

NET ASSETS 2.391 544 2.935

GOODWILL ON ACQUISITION 39.848 39.848

TOTAL COST FOR THE OPERATION 40.392 42.783  
 

The company’s accounts on the date of acquisition were adjusted to place the 

highest possible value on the price paid with regard to net equity at the time of 

acquisition. This was done through the following steps: 

• € 0.5 million for the highest value attributed to non instrumental real estate 

• € 39.8 million, which can be traced back to intangible fixed assets with an 

indefinite life (goodwill), relating to the ability to generate future profit 

expressed by the company, and therefore was not amortized and is subject to 

periodic impairment testing 

 

Acquisitions of minority interest  

During FY 2006, the entire capital of Naitec was purchased by different partners 

from the parent company, which held 49% of the capital. The transaction was 

completed based on the company's book value, without any change in value 

occurring. 

 

Sector disclosure 

The Group’s main presentation outline is divided according to business area, 

given that the risks and profitability of the Group reflect the differences in 

products and services provided. The business areas cited are: 
- Airport management; 

- Infrastructure management; 
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- Food & beverage and retail services management. 

The secondary outline broken down into geographic segments was not used 

here, because it was considered to be less significant due to the fact that the 

Group's activities are concentrated in Italy, with the exception of Airest 

(mainly object of the dismissal). Prices for transfers among the sectors are 

defined according to the same conditions applied to transactions with third 

parties. Revenue, costs, and sector results include the transfers among sectors, 

which are, however, cancelled from consolidation. 
For a detailed analysis of economic data or figures for specific areas, one may 

refer to the directors’ report. The balance sheet broken down by sectors and 

major amounts is as follows. 
 

ANALYSIS OF REVENUE AND MARGINS BY BUSINESS AREA

(in thousands of euros)

Year to date 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

103.371 98.231 26.411 24.794 102.514 48.956 -7.115 -5.976 225.181 166.004

Operating result 24.624 21.393 1.465 204 4.386 2.697 30.475 24.294

Net profit 13.456 10.797 -493 -1.098 3.588 1.267 16.551 10.966

Operating revenue and other 

income

2006

TotalAirport management
Infrastructure 

management

Food & Beverage and 

Retail

Cancellation among 

segments

 

 

BALANCE SHEET BY BUSINESS AREA

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

(in thousands of euros)

Total current assets 64.916 67.164 11.159 15.847 60.159 10.180 -8.625 -2.763 127.609 90.428

Total non current assets 317.753 257.203 91.306 89.591 80.942 6.062 -12.633 -2.384 477.368 350.472

TOTAL ASSETS 382.669 324.367 102.465 105.438 141.101 16.242 -21.258 -5.147 604.977 440.900

LIABILITIES

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

(in thousands of euros)

Total current liabilities 67.079 58.790 14.897 15.337 68.611 10.779 -8.625 -2.763 129.394 82.143

Total non current liabilities 77.136 76.043 39.699 39.239 41.904 2.010 -12.633 -2.384 158.674 114.908

TOTAL LIABILITIES 144.215 134.833 54.596 54.576 110.515 12.789 -21.258 -5.147 288.068 197.051

Total Airport management Infrastructure F&B and Retail Cancellations among 

ASSETS

Total Cancellations among F&B and RetailInfrastructure Airport management

 

 

Discontinued operations  
In the fourth quarter of the Save Group expressed the desire to sell the airline and 
event catering businesses of the Airest Group, a company acquired in the year. 
The sale took place on 1 March 2007; at 31 December 2006, the final negotiations 
for sale were regularly in progress. At that date, the relevant part of the Airest 
Group, object of the disposal, was classified with assets held for sale and therefore 
available for sale. The disposal transaction is structured with a total disposal 
formula with concurrent repurchase of the business unit of terminal catering 
granted in a specific, newly incorporated company. 

 

Results of the part of the company awaiting disposal for the period of ownership of 

the shareholding from acquisition to the end of the year are presented in the 

schedule below: 
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 2006 
 €/000 
  
Revenues 45,507 
Costs (41967) 

Operating result 3,540 
Financial income / (expenses)  175 
Pre-tax profit of discontinued operations 3,715 
Tax liabilities   
Pre-tax profit (885) 

Operating profit of discontinued operations 2,830 

  
The main classes of assets and liabilities classified as available for 
sale at 31 December are as follows: 

 

 2006 
 €/000 
Assets   
Intangible fixed assets 15,803 
Tangible fixed assets 2,844 
Financial fixed assets 544 
Inventories 1,682 
Accounts Receivable* 11,039 
Cash availability  2,529 
Assets classified as available for sale 34,441 
  
Liabilities  
Employee severance indemnity  3,741 
Other provisions  3,666 

Accounts payable 6,217 

Provision for deferred taxes 1,301 
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as available 
for sale 14,925 

  

Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale 19,516 

  

* Including receivables from the parent company Airport Elite for € 3,325 

thousand which are written off during consolidation. 
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BREAKDOWN OF KEY BALANCE SHEET ITEMS 
(unless expressly specified, the amounts are given in thousands of Euro) 

 

ASSETS 

 

 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Total  12.2006 € 127,609 

 12.2005 € 81,782 

 Change   45,827 

Of which Airest and Ristop   48,902 

 

Compared to the financial year 2005, € 8,646 relating to prepaid tax receivables 

were reclassified from current assets to non-current assets, in accordance with the 

main accounting standards. 

 

The components of the aforementioned aggregation are as follows: 

 

1. Cash and cash equivalents 

Total  12.2006 € 34,941 

 12.2005 € 26,563 

 Change   8,378 

Of which Airest and Ristop   7,163 

 

The Parent Company has net cash at year end of € 16.9 million. The balance of 

cash in the current account held at Ferrovie dello Stato S.p.A. by Centostazioni 

S.p.A., pertaining to the SAVE group, is € 0.9 million.   

 

 

2. Financial assets 

Total  12.2006 € 293 

 12.2005 € 0 

 Change   293 

Of which Airest and Ristop   0 

 

The increase compared to 31 December 2005 is due essentially to the mark to 

market evaluation of derivative tools at the Parent Company for € 0.2 million. 

 

3. Tax assets 

Total  12.2006 € 2,359 

 12.2005 € 2,461 

 Change   (102) 
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Of which Airest and Ristop   837 

 

Tax receivables mainly refer to the VAT receivable in Save S.p.A. for € 0.3 

million. Figures relating to other companies refer to AerTre for 0.9 million, for 

Ristop for € 0.8 million, and for Archimede 2 for € 0.1 million.  
 

4. Other receivables 

Total  12.2006 € 16.071 

 12.2005 € 19.020 

 Change   (2.949) 

Of which Airest and Ristop   934 

 

The breakdown is as follows:  
 

 31/12/2006 31/12/2005 Diff. Of which 

Airest and 

Ristop 

Associated companies of 

Centostazioni (FS Group) 
5,878 8,212 (2,334) 0 

E.N.A.C. for contributions 7,342 7,434 (92) 0 

Advances to suppliers  1,392 1,494 (102) 0 

Social security agencies 134 131 3 0 

Sundry receivables 1,325 1,749 (424) 934 

Total other receivables 16,071 19,020 (2,949) 934 

 

The item receivables from associated companies of Centostazioni S.p.A. of € 5.9 

million includes the balance of receivables from companies belonging to the 

Ferrovie dello Stato. The decrease of € 2.3 million is due to settlement of 

intercompany items between  Centostazioni and the Ferrovie dello Stato Group. 
The receivables from E.N.A.C. for contributions in investments related to the 

Venice airport can be broken down by individual work. 

 
 31/12/2006  

31/12/2005 Diff. 

New airport 3,682

 3,682 

 0 

New gooods depot   0

 92 

 (92) 

New electric cabin E2 1,714

 1,714 

 0 

Dock expansion 1,922

 1,922  

Padova Airport  24

 24 
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 0 

Total receivables from E.N.A.C. 7,342

 7,434 

 (92) 

 

Other receivables related to acquisitions (for disclosure) include transactions with 

Group companies  

 

5. Trade receivables 

Total  12.2006 € 33,450 

 12.2005 € 29,051 

 Change   4,399 

Of which Airest and Ristop   1,472 

 

 

These essentially comprise receivables from airline companies for aviation and 

catering, sub-licensers in airports, ports and train stations. 

 

The schedule below shows the composition of commercial receivables and 

respective adjustment provisions: 

 

 

 31/12/2006 31/12/2005 Of 

which 

Airest 

and 

Ristop 

Trade receivables 46,578 39,785 1,757 

Provision for bad debts (13,128) (10,734) (285) 

Total trade receivables 33,450 29,051 1,472 

 

Trade receivables were € 4.4 million higher year-on-year, amounting to € 33.5 

million at 31 December 2006, net of the provision for bad debts of € 13.1 million. 

Of these, € 1.5 million refer to acquisition of Airest and Ristop. Except for the 

Airest receivables, most receivables are from Italian customers. 

 

The parent company in particular continued its monitoring activity and constant 

collections work from customers to limit credit risk.  
After year end, and after undertaking specific legal actions, payments of past-due 

receivables held against one major customer were rescheduled (in agreement 

between the parties) and methods of paying future receivables were confirmed. 

Save S.p.A. is protected by an insurance surety from a primary company and by a 

first request guarantee issued by the guarantor of the customer. The agreement 

was reached subject to the fact that a large amount of the past-due amount would 

be paid concurrent with signing the agreement.  
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The Group is also continuing to manage the advance payment of fees due from 

another primary customers, along with continued efforts in every legal action 

undertaken to protect the existing credit on the past due receivable. Similarly, in 

other situations, when deemed potentially risky, the company demands payment 

in advance. 

 

As regards the balance of trade receivables, pursuant to actions – Including legal 

action undertaken to protect credit and collections and based on the information 

available to date – supported by the attorneys who are handling the respective 

disputes, the value indicated net of the provisions, and considering the guarantees 

received, is considered to prudently reflect the presumed realizable value. 

 

The Group provision for bad debts comes to € 13.1 million, to wholly cover net 

receivables from customers in bankruptcy proceedings in progress, including 

extraordinary administration for the large companies of the Volare Group in 

financial difficulty (6 million) and in relation to the remaining total risk; the value 

of the provision was quantified while considering analyses of specific positions 

and an evaluation regarding the age of the receivable. This is in line with the 

evaluation methods applied over time. 

 

To protect the receivables in situations of potential risk, customers are asked to 

make advance payment for the services provided and the company follows a 

policy of soliciting collection using all available legal instruments, including court-

ordered injunctions. 

 

Changes in the provision in the year in progress were as follows: 

 

Balance as at 31.12.05 (10,734) 

Uses of losses / collections 300 

Allocations for the period (2,216) 

Change in consolidation area (433) 

Other (45) 

Balance as at 31.12.06 (13,128) 
 

The change in the area of consolidation refers to inclusion of Airest and Ristop 

Groups into the scope of consolidation, respectively as of April and October of the 

financial year. 

Except for the Airest receivables, their value is essentially toward domestic 

customers. 

 

6. Inventories 

Total 12.2006 € 9,379 

 12.2005 € 4,687 

 Change   4,692 

Of which Airest and Ristop   4,055 

 

The difference of € 4.7 million with respect to FY 2005 is essentially attributable 

to the inventories of the new subsidiaries, Airest and Ristop, respectively for € 0.7 
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million and € 3.4 million, as well as increase in the inventories of Airport Elite of 

€ 0.9 million related to increased business expectations. 

 

Current assets also include assets held for sale relating to the Airest Group of an 

amount of € 31.1 million, already net of a receivable to the parent company, 

Airport Elite for € 3.3 million. Of these, € 2.5 million are financial in nature, 

while € 28.6 million are non-financial. 

 

NON CURRENT ASSETS 

Total  12.2006 € 477,368 

 12.2005 € 359,118 

  Change   118,250 

Of which Airest and Ristop   73,651 

 

They are broken down as follows: 

 

7. Tangible fixed assets 

 

Total  12.2006 € 208,057 

 12.2005 € 176,714 

 Change   31,343 

Of which Airest and Ristop   22,103 

 

Assets owned and assets subject to reversion free of charge are entered 

separately. 

In particular: 

 

 31/12/2006 31/12/2005 Diff. Of 

which 

Airest 

and 

Ristop 

Assets owned  75,428 49,690 25,738 18,903 

Assets subject to reversion free of 

charge 

132,629 127,024 5,605 3,200 

Total tangible fixed assets  208,057 176,714 31,343 22,103 

 

The breakdown of the financial statement balances and respective changes in the 

key categories of tangible assets, for assets subject to reversion free of charge and 

assets owned by the Group, is shown in Schedule A, annexed to these notes. 

Depreciation for the period was € 15.4 million and includes write-downs for an 

amount of € 0.5 million relating to tangible assets, tangible assets currently being 

constructed, and advances. 

 

Owned assets in the year show an increase of € 25.7 million, net of depreciation 
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for € 7.6 million. 

Assets subject to reversion free of charge show a net increase during the year of € 

5.6 million, net of depreciation for € 7.3 million. 

 

Investments amounted to € 27.1 million and mainly relate to the parent company 

for € 5.7 million, the Treviso air terminal for € 9.1 million, purchase of additional 

land adjacent to the Venice airport for € 1.3 million, Centostazioni for leasehold 

improvements for € 5.1 million, Airport Elite for leasehold improvements and 

development of new retail stations for € 2.7 million, the Airest Group for € 1.5 

million, and Ristop for € 1.9 million. 

 

The net carrying value of assets acquired by Ristop amounts to € 18.2 million 

with reference to owned tangible assets and assets subject to reversion free of 

charge. 

The net carrying value of the assets of the Airest Group amount to € 3.3 million 

and are entirely constituted by owned assets. 

 

8. Intangible fixed assets 

Total  12.2006 € 124,538 

 12.2005 € 75,722 

 Change   48,816 

Of which Airest and Ristop   51,007 

 

Also shown in a separate item are "Concessions", "Other intangible assets with a 

definite life" and "Goodwill-other intangible assets with an indefinite life." 

 

In particular: 

 31/12/2006 31/12/2005 Diff. Of 

which 

Airest 

and 

Ristop 

Licences  72,972 73,396 (424) 1,805 

Other intangible fixed assets with a 

finite life 

2,357 2,326 31 33 

Goodwill – other intangible assets 

with indefinite life 

49,209 0 49,209  

 49,169    

Total intangible fixed assets 124,538 75,722 48,816 51,007 

 

The composition of these intangible assets is illustrated in detail in schedule B, 

which reports the figures related to the historic cost, amortization and outstanding 

values to amortize, posted by individual asset category. 

The increase compared to FY 2005 is € 48.8 million, net of amortization of € 3.8 

million. 

As regards the item "Concessions", amortization of the license value paid during 

acquisition of the Centostazioni shareholding of € 2 million. 

The net carrying value of intangible assets acquired with the Airest Group 
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amounts to € 11.1 million. These refer partly to assets with a definite life and 

partly with an indefinite life, in relation to the law suit and to current and future 

economic relationships. In particular, a value of "concessions" was identified 

(amortization based on the duration of the contract or the licenses) and a value of 

residual goodwill not attributed to specific items. Amortization during the year 

related to the Airest acquisition amounted to € 0.2 million. In addition, “customer 

list value” and outstanding goodwill were classified with assets held for resale.  

The net carrying value of the assets acquired with Ristop came to € 39.8 million, 

wholly attributed to the premium paid with respect to shareholders' equity of the 

company, allocated to the item "Goodwill". Based on IAS, the Group reclassified 

tangible assets for a net carrying value of € 5.8 million, zeroing out the amount of 

leasehold improvements, which were classified with intangible assets in 

accordance with Italian accounting standards. 

 

9. Shareholdings 

Total  12.2006 € 129,354 

 12.2005 € 92,253 

 Change   37,101 

Of which Airest and Ristop   0 

 

The balance refers chiefly to shareholdings in associated companies and other 

companies, the details of which are given below. 

 

Shareholdings in subsidiaries 
 Share 

% 

12/2006 12/2005 Change  

La Piazza di Spagna S.r.l.  51 51 51 0 

Total subsidiaries   51 51  0 

Refer to the instructions contained in the notes regarding the scope of 

consolidation. 

 

Shareholdings in affiliates 

 
 Share 

% 

12/2006 12/2005 Change  

Nicelli S.p.A. 48.43 342 616 (274) 

Venezia Terminal Passeggeri S.p.A. 21 2,854 1,840 1,014 

GAP S.p.A. Gest.Aeroporto Pantelleria 30.26 92 95 (3) 

Gest Park Pordenone S.r.l. 0 0 5 (5) 

Total affiliates   3,288 2,556 732 

 

Shareholdings in other companies 
 % 12/2006 12/2005 Change  
Gemina S.p.A. 10.26 124,509 88,141 36,368 

Società delle Autostrade Venezia e 

Padova S.p.A.  

4.64 1,490 1,490 0 

Consorzio Sive Formazione = 2 2 0 

Consorzio CONAI = 0,1 0,1 0 
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Interporto Padova = 13 13 0 

Total other companies   126,015 89,646 36,369 

 

During FY 2006, the Group sold 6.46 million shares in Gemina S.p.A., realizing a 

capital gain of € 2.7 million and reducing the percentage of its shareholding from 

12.03% to 10.26% of the share capital. The value of the shareholding at 31 

December 2006, based on stock market quotations, was € 124.5 million. The 

increase in value with respect to the average purchase cost was € 43.9 million and 

the respective increase in shareholders' equity, net of the fiscal effect, was € 41.6 

million. At 31 December 2005, the Gemina S.p.A. shareholding, based on 

quotations less than the cost incurred, determined a reduction in shareholders' 

equity equal to € 6.1 million. 

In January 2007, the shareholding was the object of a securities loan, described in 

the subsequent event. 

Shareholdings in other companies were not object of write ups or write downs. 

 

 

10. Other financial assets 

Total  12.2006 € 1,586 

 12.2005 € 1,239 

 Change   347 

Of which Airest and Ristop   54 

 

This item includes receivables for security deposits on utilities, radio bridge 

license fee, and deposits on rental contracts. As regards Aer Tre, there was a 

receivable for security deposits paid to ENAC of more than € 1 million as a result 

of the regime of early airport occupation and equal to 10% of the monthly fees 

collected.  
 

11. Deferred tax assets 

Total  12.2006 € 13,833 

 12.2005 € 13,092 

 Change   741 

Of which Airest and Ristop   487 

 

Deferred tax assets totalled € 13.8 million and were entirely used in the medium to 

long-term, in accordance with the provisions of the IAS. 
 

The key timing differences on which advance tax assets are booked include: 

• taxable funds, such as the provision for renewal of assets subject to reversion 

free of charge, the provision for risks and contingencies, and the provision for 

bad debts 

• difference in the periods of amortization of assets recognized for fiscal and 

statutory purposes 

• costs for the tax deductible stock market listing procedure 

• other adjustments related to the application of international accounting 

standards (chiefly uncapitalized multi-year costs, and fair value of derivative 



SAVE Group Consolidated Financial Statements and SAVE S.p.A. Financial Statements as at 31 December 2006 

 103

hedge instruments) 

• other costs that, based on the prevailing tax provisions, will become deductible 

in coming years  
The schedule below illustrates the categories that determine registration of 

deferred tax assets, making a distinction between IRES and IRAP: 

 

TAXABLE BASE % TAX USE INCREASES TAXABLE BASE % TAX

ASSETS FOR PRE PAID TAXES (TEMPORARY DEDUCTIBLE DIFFERENCES)

Provision for bad debts 4.007 33% 1.332 -48 1.949 5.907 33% 1.960

Provision for liabilities and charges 6.144 33% 2.013 -1.078 1.932 6.998 33% 2.294

Other provisions 2.653 2.653 33% 876

Administrative professional fees 49 33% 16 -49 276 276 33% 91

Writedowns of tangible fixed assets 623 33% 205 -230 611 1.004 33% 211

Writedowns of shareholdings 733 33% 241 -366 366 33% 120

Other writedowns 190 33% 62 190 33% 63

Goodwill 1.108 33% 364 -8 381 1.481 33% 489

Personnel Cost 494 33% 163 -494 660 660 33% 218

Taxes deductible 22 33% 7 -22 33 33 33% 11

Maintenance exceeding 5% 108 33% 35 -90 9 27 33% 9

Entertainment expenses 105 33% 34 -48 61 118 33% 39

Emoluments to Directors not paid 136 33% 44 -131 102 107 33% 35

Contributions to category association 47 33% 15 -22 6 31 33% 10

Gifts > € 25.82 21 33% 7 -9 10 22 33% 7

Acquired companies 412 412 25% 103

Payables to tax authorities 2.665 33% 879 1.163 3.829 33% 1.264

Stock Exchange 9.837 33% 3.246 -2.227 7.610 33% 2.511

Start-up and expansion costs 291 33% 96 -220 71 33% 23

Deferred expenses 1.316 33% 434 -67 5 1.254 33% 414

Securities 870 33% 287 -870 0 33% 0

MTM appraisal 2.073 33% 684 -1.338 735 33% 145

Component approach 1.631 33% 538 1.631 33% 538

Adjustment to inter-company margins 4.126 33% 1.360 -115 13 4.024 33% 1.328

Balance deferred tax assets IRES 2006 36.594 12.064 -7.432 10.277 39.440 12.758

TAXABLE BASE % TAX USE INCREASES TAXABLE BASE % TAX

ASSETS FOR PRE PAID TAXES (TEMPORARY DEDUCTIBLE DIFFERENCES)

Provision for liabilities and charges 4.420 4,25% 190 -855 1.428 4.993 4,25% 218

Other provisions 2.653 2.653 4,25% 113

Administrative professional fees 49 4,25% 2 -49 276 276 4,25% 12

Writedowns of tangible fixed assets 623 4,25% 26 -230 393 4,25% 17

Other writedowns 190 4,25% 8 190 4,25% 8

Taxes deductible 22 4,25% 1 -22 33 33 4,25% 1

Maintenance exceeding 5% 108 4,25% 5 -90 9 27 4,25% 1

Entertainment expenses 105 4,25% 4 -48 61 118 4,25% 5

Emoluments to Directors not paid 9 4,25% 0 -9 23 23 4,25% 1

Contributions to category association 47 4,25% 2 -22 6 31 4,25% 1

Gifts > € 25.82 21 4,25% 1 -9 10 22 4,25% 1

Goodwill 1.111 4,25% 50 -11 381 1.481 4,25% 67

Stock Exchange 9.837 4,25% 417 -2.227 7.610 4,25% 323

Start-up and expansion costs 291 4,25% 12 -220 71 4,25% 3

Deferred expenses 1.546 4,25% 66 -67 2 1.481 4,25% 63

Component approach 1.631 4,25% 69 1.631 4,25% 69

Adjustment to inter-company margins 4.126,00 4,25% 174 -115 13 4.024 4,25% 171

Balance deferred tax assets IRAP 2006 24.136 1.028 -3.974 4.896 25.058 1.074

TOTAL PREPAID TAXES 31-dic-05 13.092 31-dic-06 13.833

IRES (rate 33%)

IRAP (rate 4.25%)

TAX EFFECT CHANGE IN TAXABLE BASE TAX EFFECT

31-dic-05 31-dic-06

31-dic-05 31-dic-06

TAX EFFECT CHANGE IN TAXABLE BASE TAX EFFECT

 
 

 

12. Other receivables 

Total  12.2006 € 0 

 12.2005 € 98 

 Change   (98) 

Of which Airest and Ristop   0 
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LIABILITIES 

 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Total  12.2006 € 129,394 

 12.2005 € 82,143 

 Change   47,251 

Of which Airest and Ristop   49,018 

 

They are broken down as follows: 

 

13. Trade payables 

Total  12.2006 € 54,232 

 12.2005 € 39,709 

 Change   14,523 

Of which Airest and Ristop   14,846 

 

Trade receivables amount to € 54.2 million at 31 December 2006 and posted an 

increase of € 14.5 million with respect to 31 December 2005. Nearly the entire 

increase can be attributed to acquisitions: € 14.6 million in payables from Ristop, 

while € 0.3 million arising from the Airest Group. 
Payables, except for Airest payables, are mainly due from national suppliers. 

 

14. Other payables 

Total  12.2006 € 12,542 

 12.2005 € 9,068 

 Change   3,474 

Of which Airest and Ristop   4,990 

 

The item includes payables to personnel for deferred compensation and payables 

to associated companies of Centostazioni S.p.A. belonging to the FS Group for 

current transactions. 

The overall increase is mainly due to consolidation of the two new Airest and 

Ristop Groups for which compensation has been deferred to the start of the 

following month. 

Payables at the Parent Company have decreased pursuant to settlement of a 

payable for dividends of an amount of € 1.2 million, also thanks to settlement of a 

dispute. 

 

15. Payables to tax authorities 

Total  12.2006 € 8,773 

 12.2005 € 10,870 

 Change   (2,097) 
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Of which Airest and Ristop   702 

 

Payables to tax authorities not only includes taxes pertaining to the period, but 

also includes the payable to the Ministry of Finance for the airport license fee of 

the Parent Company, for € 3.5 million. 
 

16. Payables to social security authorities 

Total  12.2006 € 3,317 

 12.2005 € 2,550 

 Change   767 

Of which Airest and Ristop   608 

 

The increase in these payables relates to rise in the number of employees, with 

reference to acquisition of the Airest and Ristop shareholdings. 

 

17. Payables to banks 

Total  12.2006 € 32,637 

 12.2005 € 16,092 

 Change   16,545 

Of which Airest and Ristop   2,661 

 

Short-term gross borrowing from banks amounted to € 32.6 million, up € 16.5 

million approx. from the previous period. The value of portions of loans falling 

due during the year amounted to € 16.3 million, of which € 4.2 million relate to 

loans opened or cashed during the year. In the course of the year, the Parent 

Company used bank lines of credit to provide loans to its subsidiaries for 

acquisition transactions for € 13 million in relation to Airest. 

 

18. Other financial liabilities – current share  

Total  12.2006 € 2,967 

 12.2005 € 3,854 

 Change   (887) 

Of which Airest and Ristop   35 

 

In the name of disclosure, € 10.2 million indicated as pertaining to Airest and 

Ristop refer to the Save loan to the vehicle company used for the Airest 

acquisition. 

This item includes the short-term amount of the outstanding payable of the 

financial lease contracts in force at 31 December 2006 for approximately € 1.8 

million, as well as a payable arising from the fair value evaluation of the IRS 

derivative financial instruments for € 0.9 million pertaining to the Parent 

Company and Archimede 1. 

 

The group possesses derivative financial instruments for the purpose of hedging 
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its exposure to the risk of variation in interest rates with regard to specific 

liabilities (cash flow hedges). 

The Group has not executed any transactions on derivatives for purely speculative 

purposes; however, in the absence of formal and documentary requirements, these 

transactions, while economically qualified as hedges, are not perceived as such 

from an accounting perspective. A specific transaction shows the lack of 

effectiveness as a hedge as it does not have the substantial requirements to define 

it non speculative. The methods of reporting them in the accounts are the same in 

both cases: changes in the fair value are shown in the income statement.  

 

Current liabilities include liabilities held for sale, relating to the Airest Group, for 

an amount of € 14.9 million. They are all non-financial in nature. 

 

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Total  12.2006 € 158,674 

 12.2005 € 114,908 

 Change   43,766 

Of which Airest and Ristop   22,982 

 

They are broken down as follows: 

 

19. Other payables 

 Total 12.2006 € 181 

 12.2005 € 328 

 Change.  (147) 

 Of which Airest and Ristop   0 

 

20. Financial payables net of current share to banks 

Total  12.2006 € 124,401 

 12.2005 € 89,194 

 Change   35,207 

Of which Airest and Ristop   16,742 

 

Bank borrowings, net of the current amount, are constituted by the medium- to 

long-term portion of loans signed by the Group and in force at 31 December 2006. 

The value of the loans to be repaid within one year amounted to € 16.3 million 

and beyond the year € 124.4, of which € 46.8 million fall due beyond five years. 

 

In April 2006, the Group opened up a new loan for a contract value of € 14 

million, pursuant to the Airest acquisition transaction. This loan was opened by 

Airline Terminal & Business Catering Holding GmbH and the terms included two 

years of pre-amortization and a five-year repayment schedule, with five annual 

instalments of € 2.8 million each, falling due on 30 June 2012. 
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In October 2006, the Group opened up a new loan for € 20 million, in order to 

execute the Ristop acquisition transaction. This loan was opened by Airport Elite 

S.r.l., with a repayment period of six years, in 12 semi-annual instalments. The 

first payment falls due on 30 June 2007. The loan will expire in 2012. 

In December 2006, the Parent Company cashed a loan underwritten in 2005 for € 

12.5 million, repayment period from June 2007 to 2016 in two annual instalments. 

The loan envisages the option of "discharging" it by the end of 2006. The loan 

was taken out for purchase of land adjacent to the Venice airport for future 

development. 

Medium- to long-term bank borrowings, including the amount falling due in the 

coming 12 months (€ 16.3 million), amount to € 140.7 million. 

 

Approximately 45% of the total value of medium and long-term loans is subject to 

non-speculative hedging (I.R.S.) against the risk of rising interest rates. 

 

The breakdown, by calendar year, of the medium- to long-term bank borrowings, 

is as follows: 

 

  

2007 16.3 

2008 20.2 

2009 18.6 

2010 18.6 

2011 20.2 

2012 16.9 

2013 7.2 

2014 8.3 

2015 9.2 

2016 5.2 

Total medium and long term payables to banks  140.7 

 

The Parent Company has unused lines of credit with banks totalling € 62.6 

million. 
 

21. Financial payables net of current share to others 

Total  12.2006 € 3,013 

 12.2005 € 4,811 

 Change   (1,798) 

Of which Airest and Ristop   0 

 

Other financial payables, net of the current portion, are made up of the medium- 

to long-term portion of the outstanding amounts of financial lease contracts in 

force at 31 December 2006. 

 

22. Provision for deferred taxes 

Total 12.2006 € 9,593 

 12.2005 € 5,840 
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 Change   3,753 

Of which Airest and Ristop   888 

 

The key reasons for allocating the provision for deferred taxes include booking (i) 

off-balance sheet accelerated amortization, (ii) financial amortization, (iii) 

deferred tax capital gains, (iv)  write downs of receivables made off balance sheet 

and in order to adapt to the international accounting standards, (v) adjustments 

relating to time-discounting the reserves relating to pension indemnities, 

accounting for leases according to the financial criteria, and fair value assessment 

of shareholdings not included in the regime of participation exemption and 

derivative hedge instruments. The schedules below precisely illustrate the changes 

in the cases in point:  

 

(amounts in thousands)

IRES (rate 33%- 25%)

Amount of 

previous 

FY

New 

consolidation 

area

Rate

Amount of 

previous 

FY

New 

consolidation 

area

Use Increases

Financial amortization 1.100 33% 363 -25 1.075 33% 355

Accelerated depreciation 7.794 203 33% 2.572 67 -700 1.532 8.829 33% 2.914

Capital gains 1.379 33% 455 -777 602 33% 199

Employee severance indemnity  1.154 33% 381 -3 687 1.838 33% 606

Demolition provision 148 33% 49 -33 35 150 33% 49

MTM derivatives appraisal 197 197 33% 65

Shareholdings 43.875 43.875 5% 2.317

Capital lease 4.171 480 33% 1.375 158 -83 1.248 5.816 33% 1.919

gains on currency exchange 5 5 33% 2

Off balance sheet writedowns of receivables 75 33% 25 8 83 33% 27

Goodwill 1950 33% 488 -146 1.804 25% 451

Balance of  deferred tax liabilities - Ires 2006 15.821 2.633 5.220 713 -1.767 47.587 64.274 3 8.904

(amounts in thousands)

IRAP (rate 4.25%)

Amount of 

previous 

FY

New 

consolidation 

area

Rate

Amount of 

previous 

FY

New 

consolidation 

area

Use Increases

Financial amortization 1.100 4,25% 47 -25 1.075 4,25% 46

Accelerated depreciation 7.794 4,25% 331 -700 1.465 8.559 4,25% 364

Capital gains 1.379 4,25% 59 -777 602 4,25% 26

Demolition provision 148 4,25% 6 -33 35 150 4,25% 6

Capital lease 4.171 480 4,25% 177 20 -83 1.248 5.816 4,25% 247

Balance of deferred tax liabilities - Irap 2006 14.592 480 620 20 -1.618 2.748 16.202 689

9.593

Taxable 

base
Rate Tax

31-dic-05 31-dic-06

Taxable base Tax change in taxable base

LIABILITIES FOR DEFERED TAXES (TEMPORARY TAXABLE DIFFERENCES)

Taxable 

base
Rate Tax

31-dic-0631-dic-05

LIABILITIES FOR DEFERED TAXES (TEMPORARY TAXABLE DIFFERENCES)

Taxable base Tax change in taxable base

 

 

23. Provision for severance indemnity and other staff provisions  

Total 12.2006 € 12,768 

 12.2005 € 7,075 

 Change   5,693 

Of which Airest and Ristop   5,115 

 

Liabilities for severance indemnity as at 31 December 2006 are broken down in 

the following schedule. The increase is essentially related to the change in the 

scope of consolidation for € 5.7 million. 

  

Balance as at 31.12.05 7,075 

Use (1,016) 
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Transfers 0 

Advances granted during the FY (759) 

Use for supplemental operations (54) 

Lieu Tax as per article 11 of Legislative Decree 47/2000 (19) 

Allocations for the year 2,464 

Reassessments  40 

Change in consolidation area 5,726 

Changes due to IAS time-discounting  (689) 

Balance as at 31.12.06 12,768 

Of which Airest and Ristop 5,115 

The allocation refers to the amount accrued during the year, including revaluation 

of the reserve existing at the end of the year.  

 

According to the methods laid down by the international accounting principle IAS 

19, the liability related to the TFR must be evaluated by application of the 

Projected Unit Credit Method. This method requires preparation of an actuarial 

assessment based on a series of assumptions. The primary assumptions used in 

calculation are: 

• Mortality rate: Tables INPS55 

• Disability rate: Tables INPS – 2000 

• Personnel turnover rate: 1.5% 

• Discount rate: 4% 

• Rate of salary increase: 2.5% 

• Rate of advance payment: 1% 

• Inflation rate: 1.5% 

 

24. Other provisions for liabilities and charges 

Total  12.2006 € 8,718 

 12.2005 € 7,660 

 Change   1,058 

Of which Airest and Ristop   237 

 

The item is broken down as follows: 

 

31/12/

2006 

31/12/

2005 

Change  Of 

which 

Airest 

and 

Ristop 
Provision for liabilities and charges 2,713 2,501 212 237 

Provision for assets subject to reversion free 

of charge 

6,005 5,159 846 0 

Total other provisions for liabilities and 

charges 

8,718 7,660 1,058 237 

 

Provision for liabilities and charges 

Changes in the provision in the year in progress were as follows: 
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Balance as at 31.12.05 2,501 

Uses/Reclassifications  (851) 

Allowances for future risks and charges  809 

Change in the consolidation area 254 

Balance as at 31.12.06 2,713 

 

This item is mainly formed by provisions made to cover potential liabilities 

payable by Group companies. It is believed that the reserves are sufficient to 

cover the risk arising from legal causes and disputes of a specific nature where the 

Group is plaintiff or respondent, based on a reasonable estimate made using the 

information available and after seeking the opinion of legal consultants.  

 

At 31 December 2006, the reserve is comprised primarily of: 

• € 1.6 million for potential liabilities for transactions and contract and 

commercial agreements and legal actions, relating to the parent company 

• € 0.7 million for risks caused by pending legal disputes and other 

transactions on commercial relationships in the process of definition, 

relating to Centostazioni S.p.A. 

• € 0.3 million related to Ristop. 

 

In the financial year 2006, injunctions were requested of, and partly granted by the 

Court of Venice, to protect company receivables; legal proceedings are still in 

progress. 

 

As regards AerTre S.p.A., the suit filed by Eurofly S.p.A. seeking compensation 

for damage to an aircraft in 2002 has not had significant developments during the 

year. Due to the complexity of the case and since it is still in the early stages, 

company legal advisors feel that it is not possible to make predictions on the 

outcome of proceedings; we believe that the potential related liabilities must be 

considered possible or off-chance. 

Several disputes regarding Centostazioni S.p.A. filed by catering companies in 

some stations are still pending. 

During the year in progress, there have been legal arguments with a partner of the 

airport of Padua which are currently being settled in an amicable way. 

 

Provision for renewal of assets subject to reversion free of charge 
Total 12.2006 € 6,005 

 12.2005 € 5,159 

 Change   846 

 

This provision represents the estimate for maintenance and renewal jobs that must 

be done on assets subject to reversion free of charge booked under assets in the 

balance sheet; these assets must be returned to the government in perfect working 

order at the end of the Group airport licenses. The entire provision refers to 

scheduled repair and maintenance operations on the airport area of Venice 

(Tessera).  

 

The provision for renewal relating to the airport land area of Venice is allocated 

yearly, based on a technical evaluation of the estimate of future charges relating to 
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scheduled maintenance required to maintain the assets that must be returned free 

of charge at the end of the license period. The provision is used for such 

maintenance during the year. 

 

During the year, the provision was increased by € 930 thousand. 

 

NET EQUITY 

 

25. Net equity 

Total 12.2006 € 316,909 

 12.2005 € 243,849 

 Change   73,060 

 

The share capital – amounting to € 17,985,500 – is divided into 27,670,000 

ordinary shares with a par value of € 0.65 each, and is fully paid-up. 

 

Group share of shareholders' equity is € 288.8 million while minority equity 

stands at € 28.1 million. 
  

Group shareholders' equity is comprised as follows:   
 

Share capital 

Total 12.2006 € 17,985 

 12.2005 € 17,985 

 Change   0 

 

Share premium reserve 

Total 
12.2006 € 148,33

7 

 
12.2005 € 148,33

7 

 Change   0 

 

It arises from a share premium allowed and paid pursuant to the initial public 

offering in 2005, net of costs incurred for the stock market listing process. 

 

Legal reserve 

Total 12.2006 € 3,058 

 12.2005 € 2,600 

 Change   458 

 

The increase is due to allocation of a portion of 2005 profits. Further additions are 

still necessary to reach the legal minimum of one-fifth of the share capital. 
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Reserve for treasury shares 

Total 12.2006 € (3,272) 

 12.2005 € 0 

 Change   (3,272) 

 

During the period, the Company purchased 154,853 own shares in compliance 

with the terms provided for in specific shareholders’ resolution. The par value of 

the shares acquired was € 100.7 thousand, equal to 0.56% of the share capital; the 

Group paid an amount of € 3.3 million.  

 

Other reserves and profits carried forward 

Total 
12.2006 € 106,13

4 

 12.2005 € 39,488 

 Change   66,646 

 

"Other reserves" increased during the year, in particular due to revaluation of the 

securities posted at the fair value among non-current assets (Gemina shares) with 

respect to the average purchase cost. At year end, changes in this reserve are 

mainly resulting from the following: 

• increase in the reserve relating to equity investments in Gemina, valuated at fair 

value and totaling € 47.7 million, net of any tax effects, versus a negative amount 

of € 6.1 million at the end of 2005; 

• establishment of a consolidation reserve of € 17.2 million, as a result of 

recognition of the economic value of the subsidiary Airport Elite as compared to 

the value of such equity investments recorded in the financial statements of the 

Parent Company, following the Ristop purchase deal partially concluded against 

grant of shares in exchange for a capital increase reserved for entry of the seller of 

Ristop as minority shareholder. 

 

Dividends paid in FY 2006 amounted to € 8.69 million, i.e. € 0.314 per share. 

 

Minority equity represents the amount of shareholders' equity and results of the 

year of not wholly-owned subsidiaries.   

 

Minority interest net equity  

Total 12.2006 € 28.116 

 12.2005 € 24.472 

 Change   3.644 

 
 

The table below shows the reconciliation statement of shareholders’ equity and 

the results of the year of Save S.p.A. and the Save Group. 
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31/12/2006 2006 31/12/2005

SAVE's financial statements (Parent Company) 263.943 12.644 215.575

Elimination of carrying value of consolidated shareholdings

- difference between the book value and pro quota value (100.026) 7.113 (81.132) 

- goodwill/badwill on consolidation 125.093 (2.028) 86.735

Elimination of profits earned on sale of assets and infragroup shareholdings (4.278) 67 (4.345) 

Derecognition of paid dividends 829 (1.879) 

Effect of net equity valuation of shareholdings 1.392 332 1.060

Other operations 419 416 (50) 

Tax effects on consolidation adjustments 1.421 (114) 1.534

Net equity and operating profit pertaining to the Group 288.793 16.551 219.377

Net minority interest 28.116 (183) 24.472

Net equity and result for the year of the consolidated financial statements 316.909 16.368 243.849

Statement of Reconciliation of Net Equity and the Result for the Period
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INCOME STATEMENT  
 

Below are the key items on the income statement in the FY 2006, compared to 

2005. The income statement for the year in question was affected by the Airest 

Group and Ristop S.r.l. acquisitions; the new companies contribute to the 

consolidated income statement with respect to costs and revenues as of 1 April 

and 1 October, when they were acquired.   
 

 

OPERATING REVENUE AND OTHER PROCEEDS  

 

26. Operating revenue and other proceeds 
Total  12/2006 € 225,181 

 12/2005 € 166,004 

 Change   59,177 

Of which Airest and Ristop   45,637 

 

The breakdown in operating revenue and other proceeds is shown in the table 

below  

 

(euros / 1000) 2006  % 2005  % Difference

Difference 

%

REVENUE:

Aeronautical 59.994 26,6% 55.547 33,5% 4.447 8,0%

Merchandise Handling Deposit 4.983 2,2% 4.677 2,8% 306 6,5%

Ticketing 959 0,4% 859 0,5% 100 11,6%

Parking 9.348 4,2% 8.683 5,2% 665 7,7%

Commercial/Marketing 16.138 7,2% 14.747 8,9% 1.391 9,4%

Advertisement 1.600 0,7% 1.550 0,9% 50 3,2%

Handling 1.927 0,9% 1.944 1,2% (17 ) (0,9%)

Other Characteristics 2.249 1,0% 1.818 1,1% 431 23,7%

Other Revenue 6.173 2,7% 8.406 5,1% (2.233 ) (26,6%)

Total airport management 103.371        45,9% 98.231 59,2% 5.140            5,2%

Terminal operation 26.411 11,7% 24.794 14,9% 1.617 6,5%

Total infrastructure management 26.411 11,7% 24.794 14,9% 1.617 6,5%

Retail 28.773 12,8% 26.097 15,7% 2.676 10,3%

Food&Beverage 27.290 12,1% 22.024 13,3% 5.266 23,9%

Airest  (*) 25.593 11,4% 25.593

Ristop 19.864 8,8% 19.864

Other 994 0,4% 835 0,5% 159 19,1%

Total food & beverage and retail 102.514 45,5% 48.956 29,5% 53.558 109,4%

Intercompany among diverse SBU (7.115 ) (3,2%) (5.976 ) (3,6%) (1.139 ) 19,1%

Total 225.181 100,0% 166.004 100,0% 59.176 35,6%  
 

 

Revenue and other proceeds is shown for € 225.2 million, with growth on 31 

December 2005 of € 59.2 million, equal to 36%. This figure is affected by Airest 

and Ristop acquisitions for € 45.6 million: this amount represents revenue earned 

by the new companies in the respective periods of consolidation. 

The year 2005 included, among other income, non-recurring items equal to € 2.95 

million, determined by the addition of the € 1.75-million property (valued by 
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appraisal), non-recurring use of a contingency reserve and collection of part of a 

receivable from Volare of € 0.84 million, previously wholly written down.  

 

In addition, growth has continued and consolidated in the sectors where the Group 

is present; this growth increased pursuant to the increase in passenger traffic, 

including due to the policy of development in the food & beverage and retail 

segments, at airports, terminals and train stations.  

 

Operating revenue 

Total  12/2006 € 213,474 

 12/2005 € 153,635 

 Change   59,839 

Of which Airest and Ristop   44,538 

 

In particular, with reference to operating revenue, increases were posted of 

approximately € 59.8 million, of which € 44.5 million relating to Airest and 

Ristop. On a uniform area, operating revenue increased by 10% for an amount of 

€ 15.3 million, confirming a sizable growth trend in all the business units. 

 

Other proceeds 
Total  12/2006 € 11,707 

 12/2005 € 12,370 

 Change   (663) 

Of which Airest and Ristop   1,099 

 

The item includes changes for work in progress and internal capitalizations, 

primarily for costs of engineering and revenue from leases of air terminal spaces 

and chargebacks for condominium costs from sub-contractors and considerations 

for technical matters of Centostazioni S.p.A..  

 

 

COSTS OF PRODUCTION  
Total  12/2006  € 194,706 

 12/2005 € 141,710 

 Change   52,996 

Of which Airest and Ristop   44,730 

 

They are broken down as follows: 

 

 

27. Raw and ancillary materials and consumables 

Total  12/2006 € 46,033 

 12/2005 € 25,330 

 Change   20,703 
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Of which Airest and Ristop   16,815 

 

Costs refer predominantly to merchandise acquisitions destined to resale in the 

food & beverage and retail sectors; these refer to Airest and Ristop for about € 

16.8 million.  
 

28. Services 
Total  12/2006 € 46,980 

 12/2005 € 39,360 

 Change   7,620 

Of which Airest and Ristop   4,694 

 

They are made up of the following: 
 

 

2006 2005 Change  Of 

which 

Airest 

and 

Ristop 

Industrial services 34,556 28,961 5,595 3,974 

General services 8,729 5,763 2,966 525 

Commercial services 3,695 4,636 (941) 195 

Total services 46,980 39,360 7,620 4,694 

 

The increase determined by the Airest and Ristop acquisitions was equal to € 4.7 

million, on a total of € 7.6 million. The main items are broken down as follows:  

 

Industrial services 

 

2006 2005 Change  Of 

which 

Airest 

and 

Ristop 

Contract maintenance on Centostazioni S.p.A. 

assets 
10,392 10,475 (83) 0 

Ordinary maintenance  5,985 4,344 1,641 507 

Miscellaneous utilities 6,305 3,992 2,313 1,548 

Cleaning  3,948 2,876 1,072 912 

Airport security  61 51 10 0 

Industrial services 2,960 1,895 1,065 998 

Professional services 1,497 2,149 (652) 2 

Canteen 868 782 86 0 

Data transmission  580 563 17 7 

Other 1,960 1,834 126 0 

Total 34,556 28,961 5,595 3,974 

 



SAVE Group Consolidated Financial Statements and SAVE S.p.A. Financial Statements as at 31 December 2006 

 117

As regards FY 2005, the Group reclassified € 869 thousand relating to 

professional technical services of Centostazioni, from general services to technical 

services. 

In a homogeneous perimeter, there is growth in the costs for utilities, determined 

by the effect of the higher cost of petroleum on gas and electricity and by growth 

in volumes and retail outlets, especially food and beverage and retail. The growth 

in volumes has also impacted cleaning and maintenance. 

 

General services 

 

2006 2005 Change  Of 

which 

Airest 

and 

Ristop 

Insurance 2,035 1,713 322 106 

Professional services 3,227 1,694 1533 124 

Development costs 752 0 752 0 

Remuneration and expense accounts for 

directors  
1,037 1,063 (26) 2 

Remuneration and expense accounts for 

auditors  
447 298 149 7 

Software updates 225 245 (20) 27 

Sundry services  1,006 750 256 259 

Total 8,729 5,763 2,966 525 

 

The rise in emoluments to the Statutory Auditors was due to changes in the value 

of shareholders' equity, which is substantially higher in 2006 than in the previous 

year due to capitalization of the company pursuant to stock market listing. This 

parameter represents the main index for calculating emoluments to the Statutory 

Auditors. 

In 2006, costs were incurred for € 0.8 million in participating in tenders or 

potential new acquisitions, not executed, in partnership with managers, advisors 

and banks of international standing to bolster the growth process in airport 

management and in food and beverage and retail activities. Two substantial 

acquisitions were executed. 

 

Below is the analysis of the emoluments payable to directors and auditors (not 

including social security contributions and expense reimbursements) of the Parent 

Company for the jobs covered by them on behalf of all Group companies. (values 

expressed in euros) 
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Directors: 

 

Office Director from to Fees 

Chairman of the BoDMarchi Enrico 01/01/06 31/12/06 480.883          

Director Bertolini Laura 21/04/06 31/12/06 16.472            

Director Bonaiti Luca 01/01/06 21/04/06 7.028              

Director Borrini Amerigo 01/01/06 31/12/06 25.494            

Director Calzavara Giorgio 01/01/06 21/04/06 7.028              

Director De Puppi Luigi 21/04/06 31/12/06 19.466            

Director Fincato Laura 01/01/06 21/04/06 900                 

Director Nordio Alberto 21/04/06 31/12/06 17.131            

Director Olivetti Maurizio 01/01/06 21/04/06 7.628              

Director Pessi Oliviero Edoardo 01/01/06 31/12/06 28.452            

Director Riello Andrea 21/04/06 31/12/06 18.466            

Director Sacchi Roberto 01/01/06 21/04/06 7.628              

Director Sartori Amalia 01/01/06 31/12/06 26.494            

Director Sbroggio' Mauro 21/04/06 31/12/06 16.472            

Director Todesco Matteo 21/04/06 31/12/06 16.472            

Director Tosi Loris 01/01/06 21/04/06 918

Director Zaia Luca 01/01/06 31/12/06 23.951            

Director Zola Enrico 21/04/06 31/12/06 16.472            

Director Zoppas Gianfranco 21/04/06 31/12/06 19.966            

Total fees 700.821          

Office period

 
 

 

Board of Auditors: 

 
 

Office Statutory Auditor Fees 

from to 

Chairman Brunello Giampietro 21/04/06 31/12/06 9.990                   

Statutory Auditor D'Ancona Antonio 01/01/06 21/04/06 42.794                 

Statutory Auditor Arnaboldi Luca 01/01/06 21/04/06 38.930                 

Statutory Auditor De Luca Lino 01/01/06 12/12/06 71.416                 

Statutory Auditor Diana Giuseppe 01/01/06 31/12/06 75.263                 

Statutory Auditor Pastena Valter 21/04/06 31/12/06 10.866                 

Statutory Auditor Penso Guido 01/01/06 21/04/06 3.867                   

Statutory Auditor Venuti Paolo 21/04/06 31/12/06 19.657                 

Total fees 272.783               

Office period

 
 

In accordance with the CONSOB 15520 ruling, annual gross compensation of top 

executives with strategic responsibility amounted to € 760 thousand. 
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Commercial services 

 

 

2006 2005 Change  Of which 

Airest 

and 

Ristop 

Airport traffic development  2,765 3,886 (1,121) 0 

Advertising and events 930 750 180 195 

Total 3,695 4,636 (941) 195 

 

The decrease in commercial services refers for € 1 million sustained only in 2005 

of the cost of temporarily opening a new route to the Far East. 

 

29. Lease and rental costs 

Total  12/2006 € 20,123 

 12/2005 € 12,867 

 Change   7,256 

Of which Airest and Ristop   5,640 

 

They are made up of the following:  

 

2006 2005 Change  Of 

which 

Airest 

and 

Ristop 

Airport license fee 4,514 3,809 705 0 

Train station license fee 4,522 3,964 558 0 

Royalties 6,510 2,922 3,588 3,191 

Leases and other 4,577 2,172 2,405 2,449 

Total lease and rental costs 20,123 12,867 7,256 5,640 

 

The changes are due to: 

• the increase in the airport fee is related to both an increase in passengers 

and an additional cost of seven Euro cents per departing passenger that 

was not incurred in the previous year 

• charges and fees relating to improvements in managing the property 

holdings, payable to the FS Group, owner of the property, based on the 

contract between Centostazioni S.p.A.  and RFI 

• royalties related to the higher number of  food and beverage and retail 

outlets in relation to increases in volumes 

• increased operating financial lease costs. 

 

The cost of the license fee, in the parent company and in Aer Tre, was reported 

using the criteria applied in 2005, which were consistent with measuring revenue, 
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as the Company has protested application of the "system requirements" 

regulation, which envisages a 75% decrease in the license fee to compensate for 

the potential cut in rates.  

 

30. Personnel costs 

Total  12/2006 € 56,639 

 12/2005 € 38,317 

 Change   18,322 

Of which Airest and Ristop   14,889 

 

The rise in personnel costs is related to the additional personnel from Airest and 

Ristop, as well as the larger number of employees necessary to staff the newly 

opened businesses.  
 

31. Depreciation, amortization and write-downs 
Total  12/2006 € 19,186 

 12/2005 € 18,489 

 Change   697 

Of which Airest   1,946 

 

They can be broken down as follows: 

 

 

2006 2005 Change  Of 

which 

Airest 

and 

Ristop 
Amortisation and write-downs of intangible 

fixed assets 
3,804 3,841 (37) 45 

Amortisation and write-downs of tangible 

fixed assets 
15,382 14,648 734 1,901 

Total amortisation and depreciation 19,186 18,489 697 1,946 

 

Amortization of intangible assets with an indefinite economic life related to 

acquisition of Airest and Ristop amounted to € 0.2 million. 

 

32. Write down of short term assets 

Total  12/2006 € 2,216 

 12/2005 € 2,990 

 Change   (774) 

Of which Airest and Ristop   14 

 

The item "Write down of short term assets" includes allocations made to the 

provision for bad debts; these allocations were made according to a prudent 

evaluation of the possible critical situations and the related risks of non-collection. 
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In determining the amount to allocate, an additional evaluation was made 

regarding the size of the reserve with respect to the total amount of past due 

receivables. In addition to the matters discussed previously, note that allocations 

in the year amounted to € 2.2 million to cover the net risk in the Parent Company 

and in Aer Tre arising from application of airport fees at the prevailing 2005 

amounts, as the Company is involved in the dispute relating to the "system 

requirements" rule. This provision would be remarkably reduced if the legislation 

regarding "system requirements" wasn't considered. 

 

33. Variation in inventories of raw and ancillary materials, consumables 

and goods 

Total  12/2006 € (588) 

 12/2005 € 326 

 Change   (914) 

Of which Airest and Ristop   208 

 

The change in inventories refers mainly to inventories of consumable materials 

and inventories of merchandise intended for resale.  

 

34. Provisions for risks 

Total  12/2006 € 929 

 12/2005 € 868 

 Change   61 

Of which Airest and Ristop   0 

 

During the year, € 0.8 million were appropriated for potential liabilities arising 

from existing legal disputes and charges associated thereto, and for the risk of 

probable disputes or lawsuits underway.  

 

35. Provisions for assets subject to reversion free of charge 

Total  12/2006 € 930 

 12/2005 € 849 

 
 

Change  

  

81 

Of which Airest and Ristop   0 

 

These amounts represent the allocation of the period to the provision for renewal 

of assets subject to reversion free of charge defined annually pursuant to a special 

assessment done by independent appraisers.  
 

 

36. Other charges  

Total  12/2006 € 2,258 

 12/2005 € 2,315 
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 Change   (57) 

Of which Airest and Ristop   569 

 

The breakdown of sundry operating expenses is as follows: 
 

 

2006 2005 Change  Of 

which 

Airest 

and 

Ristop 

• Contributions to category associations 300 235 65 0 

• Taxes 610 332 278 106 

• Donations  90 113 (23) 2 

• Others 1,258 1,635 (377) 461 

Total other charges 2,258 2,315 (57) 569 

 

 

FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES 

 

37. Financial income and expenses 

Total  12/2006 € (1,734) 

 12/2005 € (1,917) 

 Change   183 

Of which Airest and Ristop   (707) 

 

Financial income and expenses are broken down as follows: 

 

 

2006 2005 Change  Of 

which 

Airest 

and 

Ristop 
Financial income and write-ups of financial 

assets 

5,181 3,004 2,177 30 

Interest, other financial charges and write-

downs of financial assets 

(7,309) (5,210) (2,099) (737) 

Profits from affiliates, valued at net equity  394 289 105 0 

Total financial income and expenses (1,734) (1,917) 183 (707) 

 

The increase in "Financial income and write-ups of financial assets" was 

determined by the following key factors: 

• capital gain from the sale of shares in Gemina S.p.A. for € 2.7 million; in 

2005, income was booked on financial  put and call instruments for € 0.4 

million 
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• the “mark to market” evaluation of IRS transactions with a view to 

stabilizing the cost of debt shows a financial gain of € 1.5 million with 

respect to a gain in 2005 of just € 0.1 million 

• a non-recurring write-down in the parent company for € 1.4 million in 

relation to an affiliate, with respect to a capital gain from sale of 

shareholding for € 0.7 million in 2005 

• income and charges relating to liquidity and debt. Note that the Company 

had benefited in 2005 from the additional liquidity arising from the listing 

process. 

 

The non-recurring write-down in the Parent Company of € 1.4 million relates 

to an affiliated company whose book value was written down based on its 

limited revenue outlook which would make it difficult to cover the respective 

costs and amortization of assets. 

 

INCOME TAXES 

 

38. Income Taxes 

Total  12/2006 € 15,203 

 12/2005 € 11,608 

 Change   3,595 

Of which Airest and Ristop   301 

 

Income taxes are broken down as follows: 

2006 2005 Change  Of 

which 

Airest 

and 

Ristop 
Current taxes 15,548 12,575 2,973 610 

Prepaid and deferred taxes (345) (967) 622 (309) 

Total income taxes 15,203 11,608 3,595 301 

 

The schedules below show the economic impact of the deferred tax and the tax 

rate in the two periods  compared: 
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in thousands of euros FY FY

2006 2005

pre-tax result 28.741        22.377          

theoretical taxes 9.416          33,0% 7.384            33,0%

actual taxes 15.203        52,9% 11.608          51,9%

the difference is explained by: 5.787 20,1% 4.224 18,9%

1) different rates in force in other countries -             

2) effect of trademarks and patents on amortization -             

3) non-recoverable tax losses for the year 102             0,4% 609               2,7%

4) previous tax losses recoverable during the FY 16-               -0,1% 57-                 -0,3%

5) tax incentives -             5-                   0,0%

6) difference of tax rate compared to previous FY 20               0,1%   

7) permanent differences -               

i) IRAP and other local taxes 3.395          11,8% 2.840            12,7%

ii) taxes for previous years -               

iii) effect of tax reform on taxation of dividends 19-               -0,1% 13-                 -0,1%

iv) effect of tax reform on taxation of exempt capital gains 116-             -0,4% 193-               -0,9%

v) annulment of tax effects for previous years 97               0,3% 4                   0,0%

vi) other non deductible costs / non taxed income 1.706          5,9% 508               2,3%

vii) non-deductible amortization -               -                  

viii) prepaid taxes no longer recoverable -               

ix) advance taxes on future deductible IRAP charges 54-               -0,2% 82-                 -0,4%

x) effect of net equity mesurement of shareholdings 89-               -0,3% 125-               -0,6%

xi) adjustments on shareholdings 6                 0,0% -

xii) financial lease and amortization of goodwill 755             2,6% 755               3,4%

xiii) intercompany relations -             17-                 -0,1%

other

5.787          20,1% 4.224            18,9%  
  

Reconciliation between the theoretical applicable value for IRES and the actual 

rate shows that IRAP has a significant weight, determined by the structure of the 

characteristic costs, of which personnel costs, taxable IRAP, the taxability of 

financial charges and provisions account for one-third. 

 

The actual tax rate is 52.9% of the pre-tax results, slightly higher than the 51.9% 

in 2005. 

 

39. Net profit (loss) on assets sold/held for sale 

The item incorporates a value of € 2,830 thousand, and represents the profit of the 

Airest Group allocated to the sale in progress in the 2007 financial year. 

 

OPERATING RESULT  
Total 12/2006 € 16,368 

 12/2005 € 10,770 

 Change   5,598 

Of which Airest and Ristop   2,729 

 

Group and minority results are broken down as follows: 

 

 2006 2005 Change  

Consolidated result  16,368 10,770 5,598 

Minority loss (profit) 183 196 (13) 

Group profit for the period  16,551 10,966 5,585 
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39. Operations discontinued/to be disposed of (pagina 124) 

During the fourth quarter of the year, the SAVE Group expressed its intention 

to dispose of the Airline and Event Catering operations of the Airest Group, a 

company acquired during the year. The transfer took place on March 1, 2007; 

at December 31, 2006, final negotiations for such transfer were proceeding 

normally. On that date, the relevant portion of the Airest Group being 

transferred was therefore classified under discontinued operations, and as such 

available for sale. The transfer transaction is organized under a full transfer 

formula and simultaneous repurchase of the terminal catering business branch 

contributed to an on-purpose, newly established company. 

Year-end results of the portion of the transferred company for the equity 

investment holding period from acquisition to year end are shown below: 

 

(€/000)  2006 

Income  45,507 

Costs -41,967 

Operating result 3,540 

Financial Income/(Charges) 175 

Profit before taxes of operations to be disposed of 3,715 

Tax payable -885 

Profit for the year of operations to be disposed of 2,830 
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PROFIT PER SHARE 

As required by IAS 33 information on figures used to calculated profit and 

diluted profit per share is provided below.  

Profit per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the period 

attributable to the company’s shareholders by the number of shares.  
Please note that the numerator used to calculate basic profit per share was the 

economic result for the period less the minority share. Please also note that no 

privileged dividends exist, nor does a conversion of privileged shares or other 

similar effects which would lead to adjust the economic result for ordinary 

equity holders.     
Diluted profit per share is equal to profit per share since no ordinary shares 

exist which might have a diluting effect, and no actions or warrants will be 

exercised – which could have the same effect.  

The schedule below represents the results and number of ordinary shares used for 

the purposes of calculating base earnings per share, which are measured according 

to the methods set forth by the IAS 33. 

 

 2006 2005 

Weighted average number of outstanding shares   

- basic  27,670,000 24,623,014 

- diluted  27,610,810 24,623,014 

   

Profit per share 0.60 0.44 

Diluted profit per share 0.60 0.44 

 

Below is an indication of the profit per share, minus the profit relating to assets 

held for sale. 

 

 2006 2005 

Weighted average number of outstanding shares   

- basic  27,670.000 24,623,014 

- diluted  27,610,810 24,623,014 

   

Profit per share 0.50 0.44 

Diluted profit per share 0.50 0.44 

 

  

In this regard, note that in the financial year 2005, at 25/05/2005, the Company 

was admitted for listing on the stock market. At the end of the listing process, 

7,670,000 new shares were issued through the  initial public offering to bring an 

increase in the share capital, which increased from 20,000 to 27,670 thousand 

shares. 
 

In the first ten months of 2006, the Group acquired 154,853 own shares directly 

through Save S.p.A., based on the methods laid down in the shareholders' 

resolution. The par value of the shares acquired was € 100.7 thousand, equal to 

0.56% of the share capital; the Group paid an amount of € 3.3 million. The 

rationale for the acquisitions relate to the possibility of having an appropriate 

instrument that can be used to carry out any extraordinary financial 
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transactions and/or ensure the company shares an adequate volume of training 

and provide support to the quotations. 
 

The weighted average of ordinary shares outstanding during the period is the 

number of ordinary shares outstanding at the beginning of the period, adjusted by 

the number of ordinary shares bought back or issued during the period multiplied 

by a time-weighting factor. 

 

RELATIONS WITH AFFILIATES  

All transactions with subsidiaries, affiliates and related parties have been carried 

out in compliance with the market conditions regularly applied for similar services 

with the same level of quality.  

 

For information regarding the relationships entertained during the year with 

associated companies, see the notes cited under the remarks in the Balance Sheet 

and Income Statement contained in the Notes and see Annex D for 

payable/receivable and cost/revenue ratios.  

 

Specifically, the Group, together with Finanziaria Internazionale Holding S.p.A. 

(associated party as reference partner), established relationships of assistance and 

consultation related to possible purchases of share parcels or companies in sectors 

functional to the Group’s development.  

The ability to sign contracts essentially at "success fee" was approved by the 

boards of directors of the companies involved (the Parent Company and Airport 

Elite. S.r.l.) due to the company’s experience and standing as advisor. In addition, 

the regular and contractual relationship assures the Group a certain degree of 

reliability and complete confidentiality. Consulting relationships are regulated at 

arm's length conditions according to the type of need. Costs incurred during the 

year were € 263 thousand, of which € 86 thousand for Save S.p.A. and € 177 

thousand relating to Airport Elite S.r.l./Airest. Payables referring to services not 

yet paid for come to € 1,006 thousand and include trade payables, of which € 829 

thousand with reference to the parent company. These costs are incidental to the 

acquisitions and are booked with assets. 
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SAVE SPA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2006 

 

Balance Sheet 

Income Statement 

Cash Flow Statement 

Changes in Net Equity  
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SAVE SpA - BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS
NOTES 31/12/2006 31/12/2005 Change 

(Euros)

Cash and cash equivalents 1 16.857.932 19.792.325 -2.934.393 

Financial assets 2 197.030 197.030

Tax assets 3 300.379 1.775.475 -1.475.096 

Other receivables 4 26.169.316 14.702.416 11.466.900

Trade receivables 5 21.385.992 19.880.418 1.505.574

Inventories 6 663.666 725.173 -61.507 

of which Total current assets to related parties 18.070.500 6.346.500 11.724.000

Total current assets 65.574.315 56.875.807 8.698.508

Own tangible assets 7 11.216.108 13.779.493 -2.563.385 

Tangible assets subject to reversion free of charge 7 106.261.810 108.149.944 -1.888.134 

Other intangibles 8 1.261.756 1.266.835 -5.079 

Shareholdings 9 181.704.329 142.451.601 39.252.728

Other financial assets 10 17.043.768 4.894.156 12.149.612

Prepaid taxes 11 9.270.076 9.315.900 -45.824 

Other receivables 12 14.504 71.831 -57.327 

of which Total current assets to non-related parties 16.883.500 4.883.500 12.000.000

Total non current assets 326.772.351 279.929.760 46.842.591

TOTAL ASSETS 392.346.666 336.805.567 55.541.099

LIABILITIES
NOTES 31/12/2006 31/12/2005 Change 

(in thousands of euros)

Trade payables 13 16.083.904 18.246.545 -2.162.641

Other payables 14 8.823.963 11.045.352 -2.221.389

Payables to tax authorities 15 5.876.018 8.868.637 -2.992.619

Payables to social security authorities 16 1.033.120 1.081.933 -48.813

Payables to banks 17-19 23.600.846 12.726.225 10.874.621

Other financial liabilities – current share 18-20 263.860 1.312.000 -1.048.140

of which Total current liabilities to related parties 6.902.000 8.037.000 -1.135.000 

Total current liabilities 55.681.711 53.280.692 2.401.019

Financial payables net of current share to banks 19-17 54.562.500 52.937.500 1.625.000

Financial payables net of current share to others 20-18 10.780 30.000 -19.220

Provision for deferred taxes 21 6.338.233 3.862.488 2.475.745

Provision for severance indemnity and other staff provisions 22 4.365.855 4.275.029 90.826

Other provisions for liabilities and charges 23-35 7.444.150 6.845.343 598.807

of which Total non-current liabilities to related parties 0 0 0

Total non current liabilities 72.721.518 67.950.360 4.771.158

TOTAL LIABILITIES 128.403.229 121.231.052 7.172.177

NET EQUITY
NOTES 31/12/2006 31/12/2005 Change 

(in thousands of euros)

Share capital 24 17.985.500 17.985.500

Share premium reserve 24 148.336.862 148.336.862

Legal reserve 24 3.057.505 2.600.000 457.505

Reserve for treasury shares 24 -3.272.121 -3.272.121

Other reserves and profits carried forward 24 85.191.415 36.665.746 48.525.669

Profit for the year 24 12.644.276 9.986.407 2.657.869

TOTAL NET EQUITY 263.943.437 215.574.515 48.368.922

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET EQUITY 392.346.666 336.805.567 55.541.099  
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SAVE SpA - INCOME STATEMENT

2.005

NOTES

(Euros)

Operating revenue 25 78.337.034 72.085.817 6.251.217 8,7%

Other income 25 6.152.905 8.445.959 -2.293.054 -27,1%

of which to affiliates of Total operating revenue and other income: 10.190.819 9.282.214 908.605 9,8%

Total operating revenue and other income 84.489.939 80.531.776 3.958.163 4,9%

Cost of production

Raw and ancillary materials, consumables, and goods 26 1.134.721 1.282.246 -147.525 -11,5%

Services 27 28.172.542 26.149.720 2.022.822 7,7%

of which to affiliates for costs for services 6.623.952 6.222.033 401.919 6,5%

Lease and rental costs 28 4.230.206 3.506.201 724.005 20,6%

Personnel costs:

Wages and salaries and social contribution charges 29 15.447.129 15.363.891 83.238 0,5%

Severance indemnity 29 810.538 587.423 223.115 38,0%

other costs 29 352.556 162.830 189.726 116,5%

Depreciation, amortization and write-downs

Intangible fixed assets 30 682.319 656.653 25.666 3,9%

Tangible fixed assets 30 10.043.181 12.090.584 -2.047.403 -16,9%

Write-downs of short-term assets 31 1.660.000 2.680.000 -1.020.000 -38,1%

Change in inventories of raw and ancillary materials, consumables and goods32 61.507 (22.498) 84.005 -373,4%

Allocations for risks 33 255.000 525.331 -270.331 -51,5%

Provisions for assets subject to reversion free of charge 34 930.000 830.000 100.000 12,0%

Other charges 23-35 1.021.178 1.010.054 11.124 1,1%

Total cost of production 64.800.877 64.822.435 (21.558) 0,0%

Operating result 19.689.062 15.709.341 3.979.721 25,3%

Financial income and reassessment of financial assets 36 6.391.053 4.274.366 2.116.687 49,5%

Interest, other financial charges and writedowns to financial assets 36 (4.490.101) (3.461.801) -1.028.300 29,7%

of which Total income and financial charges to affiliates 489.156 64.126 425.030 662,8%

1.900.952 812.565 1.088.387 133,9%

Pre-tax result 21.590.014 16.521.906 5.068.108 30,7%

Income Taxes 8.945.738 6.535.499 2.410.239 36,9%

current 37 9.008.522 7.595.628 1.412.894 18,6%

deferred 37 (62.784) (1.060.129) 997.345 -94,1%

Profit (loss) for the year 12.644.276 9.986.407 2.657.869 26,6%

Profit per share

 - non diluted 0,46 0,41

 - diluted 0,46 0,41

Change % Change 

2006
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SAVE SpA - CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(in thousands of euros)

2006 NOTES 2005

Assets for the year

Profit for the year 12.644 9.986

- Amortization and depreciation 10.725 30 12.186

- Writedowns of assets 30 562

- Net movements of provision for staff termination indemnity 91 22-29 -381 

- Accrual to (Use of) provision for liabilities and charges 599 23-33-34-35 390

- Cash (capital gain) on dismissed shareholdings -2.715 36

(Write-up) Write-downs of shareholdings and non-cash non-operating profits 1.375 25-36 -1.424 

Subtotal self-financing (A) 22.719 21.319

Decrease (increse) in trade receivables -1.506  5-31 1.513

Decrease (increase) in other operating activities * -23.499  4-6 -1.763 

Decrease (increase) in assets/liabilities to/from tax authorities 1.004  3-11-21 -716 

Increase (decrease) in trade payables -2.163 13 3.843

Increase (decrease) in payables to social security institutions -49 16 115
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities for the year -968 14 1.377

Subtotal (B) -27.181 4.369

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (A + B) = ( C ) -4.462 25.688

Investment activities

(Net acquisitions) of tangible assets -5.685  7-30 -16.668 

Contributions on tangible assets 93  7-30 93

(Acquisition) of intangible assets -677  8-30 807

Net (increase) decrease in financial fixed assets ** 7.041  9-10 -110.678 

Cash (capital gain) on dismissed shareholdings ** 2.715 36

Net change in fair value assessment of shareholdings and investments other than cash ***  24-25 1.750

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES (D) 3.487 -124.696 

Financing activities

Acquisition (repayment) of payables to other lenders -1.067  18-20 -215 

(decrease/repayment) of medium, long-term loans 1.625  19-17 -9.625 

New loans for acquisitions  19-17

(Increase) decrease in financial assets other than fixed assets -197 2

Dividends paid -9.944 24 -5.500 

of which related to previous years -1.254 14

Own shares purchased -3.272 24

Increases in capital for PTO 24 153.322

Other 21 24 -3 

CASH FLOW FINANCING ACTIVITIES (E) -12.834 137.979

NET CASH FLOW FOR THE YEAR(C+D+E) -13.809 38.971

INITIAL NET CASH AVAILABILITY 7.066 1-18-21 -31.905 

FINAL NET CASH AVAILABILITY -6.743 1-18-21 7.066

* Including financial receivables and cash pooling from subsidiaries

 ** In 2006, 6.46 million Gemina shares were sold, which led to a  cash-in of € 16.6 mil. which already includes a capital gain of € 2.7 million.

 *** € 47.7 million relating to the change in the fair value assessment of the Gemina shares , net of the tax effect, with respect to year-end 2005.

Additional information: 

Interest paid 2.950

Taxes paid 16.600  
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CHANGES IN NET EQUITY

(in thousands of euros)

(in thousands of 

euros)

Share 

capital

Legal 

reserve

Share 

premium 

reserve

Own share 

reserve

Other 

reserves

Results 

carried 

forward 

from 

previous 

years 

Total 

reserves

Profits (losses) 

for the year / 

period Net equity

Total as at 31 December 2004 13.000 2.600 43.222 45.822 7.135 65.957

(Italian Accounting Standards)

Initial impacts of IFRSs (2.081) (2.081) (2.081)

IFRS Balance at 1 

January 2005 13.000 2.600 43.222 (2.081) 43.741 7.135 63.876

Allocation of 2004 result 1.635 1.635 (1.635)

Capital increase 4.986 148.337 148.337 153.323

Dividend payment (5.500) (5.500)

Fair value assessment of securities (6.111) (6.111) (6.111)

Other movements 

2005 result 9.986 9.986

Total as at 31 December 2005 17.986 2.600 148.337 38.746 (2.081) 187.602 9.986 215.575

Allocation of 2005 result 458 838 1.296 (1.296)

Capital increase

Dividend payment (8.690) (8.690)

Own shares purchased (3.272) (3.272) (3.272)

Change in fair value assessment of securities 47.668 47.668 47.668

Other movements 19 19 19

Result 12.644 12.644

Total as at 31 December 2006 17.986 3.058 148.337 (3.272) 86.433 (1.243) 233.313 12.644 263.943
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Aeroporto di Venezia Marco Polo S.p.A. - SAVE 

Share capital: € 17,985,500 fully paid-up 

Registered address: Aeroporto Marco Polo - Venezia Tessera 

Viale G. Galilei, 30/1 

Economic and Administrative Index of Venice (REA) no. 201102 

Corporate Registry of Venice no., tax identification code, and VAT registration 

no. 02193960271 

 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2006 

 

 

 

 

COMPANY INFORMATION: BUSINESS AREAS 
The Group is active in three main business areas: airport management, transport 

infrastructures (railway stations) and traveller services (management of 

commercial and food & beverage activities).   

 

IAS/IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ADOPTED IN DRAFTING THE 

SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2006 

 

Drafting criteria  

These financial statements refer to FY closed on 31 December 2006. 

They were drafted based on the principle of historical cost, with the exclusion of 

the section regarding derivative financial instruments or financial assets held for 

sale, which are recorded at fair value. 

The financial statements are presented in Euros, and all of the figures are rounded 

off to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated. 

 

Conformity to IAS/IFRS 

All financial figures as at 31 December 2006 are released in accordance with 

IFRS adopted by the EU and in force on the date it was drafted. 

  

Form and content of separate financial statements 

These notes were drafted by the Board of Directors based on account entries 

updated to 31 December, 2006. 

For purposes of comparison, the financial statements contain reports presenting 

balance sheet data as at 31 December, 2005 and economic data from 2005. 

The company chose to use the preferred schemes outlined in IAS 1 for the income 

statement, balance sheet, cash flow statement, and changes in equity, considering 

this to be the most effective way to illustrate the company’s performance. More 

specifically: balance sheet divided into current and non-current assets and 

liabilities; income statement recording income and charges by cost nature; and 

cash flow statement divided into operations, investment, and financing activities.  

  

Change in accounting standards  

The accounting standards applied are the same as those used for the previous year. 

None of the IFRS standards released in 2006, nor the revised versions of other 

ones released in the past have been applied, since the resulting adjustments were 
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not considered necessary for these financial statements. In addition, it should be 

mentioned that the new or revised IFRS standards released during FY 2006 have 

not been applied in advance. 

 

Significant accounting estimates 

Below are the key assumptions regarding the future and other important sources 

of uncertainty in the year-end estimates, which could produce significant 

adjustments in the book values of assets and liabilities by the end of the financial 

year.  

 
Deferred taxes receivable 

Deferred or prepaid taxes are measured on the interim difference of deferred costs, 

mainly concerning allocations to provisions for risks, and fiscal losses of some 

Group companies – included in the tax consolidation – carried over.  

Prepaid tax assets are entered into the accounts when their recovery is probable, 

based on the discretion of directors, valued with particular concern for the ability 

of the Company to generate positive taxable income, including pursuant to the 

decision to take advantage of "tax consolidation". Directors must estimate the 

probable time and amount of future taxable income. 

The evaluation was made based on the expected tax rate for the year in which the 

interim difference is expected to take place. 

Further details are given in the notes. 

 

Provision for bad debts 

The provision for bad debts is determined based on a specific analysis of disputes 

and other items that, while not in dispute, demonstrate symptoms of a potential 

delayed collection. Overall assessment of the realizable value of trade receivables 

calls for estimates regarding the probability to collect on these items, therefore, it 

is subject to uncertainty. 

 

Provision for renewal of assets subject to reversion free of charge 

Against property held under license agreements, the Company allocates a special 

provision for maintenance and renewal that need to be done on assets subject to 

reversion free of charge booked in the balance sheet, which must be transferred to 

the State in perfect conditions at the end of the grant. 
The provision for renewal is allocated yearly – and used in accordance with the 

actual maintenance carried out during the FY – based on a technical evaluation of 

the estimate of future charges related to scheduled maintenance required to 

maintain the assets that must be returned free of charge at the end of the 

concession in 2041. 

 

 

MEASUREMENT CRITERIA 

The IAS/IFRS standards applied are uniform with those used at 31 December 

2005, indicated in the following points. 

 

 

Intangible fixed assets. 

Intangible assets refer to assets without identifiable physical form, 

controlled by the company, which can generate future economic benefits in 

addition to assets arising from business combination transactions. 
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The useful life of intangible assets may be assessed as limited or unlimited. 

Intangible fixed assets are entered at purchase or production cost, including 

additional charges, if any. Amounts are net of amortization charges, 

systematically calculated on a straight-line basis in relation to the remaining 

useful life of the asset or capitalized cost, according to IAS 36, and submitted 

to tests of congruence each time there is indication of a possible impairment. 

Amortization is applied systematically throughout the life of the asset, 

according to the estimated prospects of economic use. The outstanding 

value at the end of the useful life is presumed to be zero, unless there is a 

commitment by third parties to acquire the asset at the end of its life or if 

there is a market for the asset. Directors review the useful life of the 

intangible asset at the end of each year. 

Amortization allowances of intangible assets with a finite life are posted in the 

income statement in the cost category, consistent with the function of the 

intangible asset. 

 

Intangible assets with an indefinite life are submitted to annual review of their 

recoverable value, individually or as cash-generating units (impairment test). 

Recovery of the book value is verified by adopting the criteria below. 

No amortization is calculated for these assets. Intangible assets with an 

indefinite life are reviewed annually at year-end to check the continuation of 

the conditions based on this classification. 

 

The estimated useful life of the various types of intangible assets are shown 

below: 

 

Category Amortization period  

Patent and intellectual property rights: software 3 years 

 

Patents and use of intellectual property rights refer mainly to the costs of 

using and personalizing operating software 

 

 

Tangible fixed assets. 

Tangible assets are made up of “company-owned assets” and “assets subject 

to reversion free of charge” made up of technical assets subject to 

concession (runways, buildings, parking lots, roads and connected 

installations). 

 

They are entered at the purchase or realisation cost which includes the price 

paid to purchase or construct the asset (net of discounts and allowances) and 

any costs directly attributable to the purchase and the putting into operation 

of the asset. Assets held by third parties are valued at the fair value based on 

a specific assessment.  
The purchase price or realisation cost is understood to be net of public 

capital contributions which are disclosed when the conditions for their 

concession are verified. 

 

Land, whether free of construction or annexed to civil and industrial buildings, 

were posted separately and are not subject to depreciation, in that it has an 
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indefinite useful life. 

 

Tangible assets are shown net of related accumulated depreciation and any 

impairment, determined according to the methods described below. 

Depreciation is calculated at fixed rates based on the asset's estimated 

useful life. 
 

The assets subject to reversion free of charge are depreciated in the duration 

period of the concession or the useful life of the asset, if lower. 

Improvement, upgrading and transformation costs, which add value to the 

tangible assets, are entered into the net assets. The expense fund for 

restoring the assets subject to reversion free of charge is entered among the 

provisions for liabilities and charges. With particular reference to the 

accounting of items characterizing the businesses operating under 

concession regimes, such as assets subject to reversion free of charge and 

the provision for adjustment and replacement, refer to the considerations 

made later on in the notes to the paragraph "Future changes in accounting 

policies". 
 

In view of current obligations concerning the dismantling, removal and 

restoring of assets, the book value includes the estimated costs (discounted 

back) to pay upon abandonment of the structures, off set to a specific 

provision. The effects of the estimated revisions of these costs are indicated 

in the section “Provisions for liabilities and charges.” 
 

The replacement cost of identifiable components of complex assets is 

charged to the balance sheet and depreciated for the remaining useful life. 

The residual book value of the component to be replaced is entered into the 

income statement. 
 

The residual value and useful life of the tangible assets are reviewed at least 

at the end of each financial period to reveal any impairment, if events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value can no longer be 

recovered.  Should such events take place, and should book values be above 

estimated selling price, assets are written down as long as they reflect their 

selling price. The selling price of tangible assets will be whichever is 

greater, its net selling price or its value in use. 
 

Impairment is reported in the income statement under depreciation costs.  

This impairment is reversed should the motives which generated it cease to 

exist. 
 

At the moment of sale, or when future economic benefits for using the good 

no longer subsist, these are removed from the financial statements, and 

potential losses or profits (calculated as the difference between the sales 

value and the book value) are entered into the income statement for the year 

in which they were removed.  

 

If an asset is made up of components that have different useful lives or 

provide benefits, depreciation is made for each individual component. Land 
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is not subject to depreciation and tangible assets held for sale are valued at 

the lower of the book value and the fair value, net of disposal charges. 
 

Maintenance and repair charges, that are not object of revaluation and/or 

extend the outstanding residual life of the assets, expensed in the year in 

which they are incurred; otherwise, they are capitalized. 

 

The annual rates applied to the main intangible assets are: 

 

Category Assets owned  Assets subject to 

reversion free of 

charge 

Runways, forecourts and roads - remaining duration 

of concession 
Light constructions and buildings   

- 

10.0% - 4% and 

residual duration 

of the 

concession 

Runway equipment machinery 31.5% - 

Operating machinery 10.0% - 

Heating and cooling systems  

- 

 

15.0% 

Electrical systems  - 4.0% and 

residual duration 

of the 

concession 

Remote signalling equipment 25.0% - 

Other runway systems - 31.5% 

Other systems - 15.0% - 20.0% 

Equipment 15.0% - 

Motor vehicles  20.0% - 

Electronic equipment  20.0% - 

Office equipment and furnishings 15.0% - 

12.0% 

- 

 

 

Assets on financial lease 

Financial lease contracts that transfer all the risks and benefits coming from the 

property of the leased good to the Company are capitalized from the start date 

of the lease contract at the fair value of the leased good or, if lower, at the 

current value of the lease fees while also recording the corresponding financial 

liability to lease companies with payables.  

The lease fees are divided between the capital quota and the interest quota in 

order to apply a constant interest rate on the remaining balance of the debt 

(capital quota). Financial charges are charged to the income statement. 

Capitalized leased goods are amortized based on their estimated useful life. 

 

Impairment in tangible and intangible assets 

The accounting values of the tangible and intangible assets of the Company 

are valued each time there are clear internal or external signals indicating 
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the possibility of a value loss of the asset or group of assets (known as the 

Cash-Generating Unit or C.G.U.). 

The impairment test is conducted at least annually for goodwill, other 

intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not in use. 

The recoverable value is determined per individual asset, except when these 

assets generate financial flows that are not widely independent from those 

generated by other assets or groups of assets. 

If the book value of an asset is higher than its recoverable value, this asset has 

suffered impairment and is consequently written down until its recoverable 

value is recorded. In determining the use value, the Company discounts 

estimated future cash flows at the current value using the time-discounted pre 

tax rate that reflects the market value on the current value of cash and specific 

risks of the asset. In determining the fair value net of selling costs, an 

appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are reached using 

appropriate evaluation multipliers, share prices quoted for subsidiaries whose 

securities are publicly traded, and other available fair-value indicators. 

 

Impairment on assets in operation are recorded in the income statement in the 

cost categories that match the use of the asset that has suffered the loss of 

value. 

At year-end, the Company also checks for any signs of elimination (or 

reduction) of previously recorded impairment and, if these indications exist, 

estimates the recoverable value. Impairment of an asset previously written 

down can be reversed only if changes have taken place in the estimates on 

which calculation of the recoverable value was determined, subsequent to 

recording the most recent loss in value. Impairment reversal cannot exceed the 

book value that would have been determined, net of amortization, in the case 

where no impairment had been recorded in previous years. This recovery is 

recorded in the income statement unless the asset is not booked at the revalued 

value, in which case, the recovered value is treated as an increase from 

revaluation. 

 

Shareholdings in subsidiaries, affiliates, and joint ventures 

Subsidiaries are shareholdings in which the company has the power to make 

strategic decisions in order to gain related benefits. A company is generally 

considered to have this level of control when it directly or indirectly holds 

more than half of the voting rights that can be exercised at Shareholders’ 

Meetings. 
Affiliates are shareholdings in which the company has considerable 

influence in making strategic decisions, despite the fact that it does not have 

control. This type of influence can be established when the company 

directly or indirectly holds more than 20% of the voting rights that can be 

exercised at Ordinary Shareholders’ Meetings. 

Joint ventures are shareholdings in which the company establishes joint control 

over financial management, based on a contractual agreement among 

shareholders. 

Shareholdings in subsidiaries, affiliates, and joint ventures are valued at 

purchase cost, which may be reduced in the event that capital or capital 

reserves are distributed, or rather when there prove to be certain 

impairments, having applied the impairment test. The cost is reinstated for 
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subsequent fiscal years should the reasons that generated the write-downs 

cease to exist. 
 

Other financial assets 

IAS 39 includes the following types of financial instruments: financial 

assets at fair value with changes recognized in the income statement; loans 

and receivables; investments held to maturity; and assets available for sale. 
Initially, all financial assets are measured at fair value, plus incidental 

charges in the event of assets other than fair value with changes recognized 

in the income statement. At the time of recognition, the Company decides 

whether a contract includes implicit derivatives. 
Implicit derivatives are separated out from the host contract if this is not valued 

at fair value when the analysis shows that the economic characteristics and 

risks of the implicit derivative are not strictly related to those of the host 

contract. 

The Company classifies its financial assets after initial recognition and where 

appropriate and allowable, reviews this classification at the end of each 

financial year. 

 

Financial assets at fair value with changes charged to the income statement  

This category includes financial assets held for trading and financial assets 

designated on initial recognition as one to be measured at fair value with fair 

value changes in profit or loss charged to the income statement.   

Assets held for trading are represented by assets purchased for the purpose of 

selling in the short term. Derivatives, including separate out assets, are 

classified as financial instruments held for trading, unless they have been 

designated as hedge instruments. Gains or losses on assets held for trading are 

booked to the income statement. 

If a contract includes one or more embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid 

contract can be designated as a fair value financial asset with adjustments 

charged to the income statement, except for those cases in which the implicit 

derivative does not substantially modify cash flows or it is clear that the 

embedded derivative must be separated out. 

Initially, financial assets should be measured at fair value, with adjustments 

booked to the income statement provided the following conditions apply: (i) 

the fair value option designation eliminates or significantly reduces an 

accounting mismatch that would arise by assessing or measuring gains or 

losses that these assets generate, according to other criteria; or (ii) the assets are 

part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both is managed and 

its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a 

documented risk management strategy; or (iii) the financial asset contains an 

implicit derivative that would be removed or accounted for separately. 

 
 
Loans and receivables  

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payment that are not listed on an active market. After initial 

recognition, these assets are valued according to the amortized cost method 

using the effective discount rate, net of provisions for impairment. 
The amortized cost is calculated taking into consideration every purchase 

discount or bonus and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective 
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interest rate and transaction costs. Any gain or loss is recognized in the 

income statement when the loans or receivables are written off or 

impairment appears, in addition to through the amortization process. 
 
Financial assets available for sale 

Available-for-sale financial assets (AFS) are any non-derivative financial 

assets designated on initial recognition as available for sale and not 

classified in any other of the 3 previous categories. AFS assets are initially 

recognized at fair value and gains or losses are recognized in a separate item 

in shareholders’ equity. Fair value is determined in reference to the bid 

price at the date of closure of the period in question; the fair value of 

instruments not listed is determined using commonly used financial 

assessment techniques. When the assets are written off, cumulative gains or 

losses are recognized in the income statement. Accrued or paid interest on 

these investments are accounted for as interest income or charges, using the 

effective interest rate. Dividends accrued on these investments are charged 

to the income statement as "dividends received" when the right to collection 

arises. 
 

Fair value 

In the case of securities traded on regulated markets, the fair value is 

determined by referring to the stock market quotation measured at the end 

of trading at year-end. For investments for which there is no active market, 

the fair value is determined by appraisal techniques, based on (i) recent 

transaction prices between independent parties; (ii) current market value of 

a substantially similar instrument; (iii) analysis of time-discounted cash 

flows; and (iv) models of appreciation of the options. 
 

Impairment on financial assets 

The Company checks if a financial asset or group of financial assets has 

suffered impairment at the financial statement date. 
 

Assets measured according to the amortized cost method. 

If there is an objective indication that a loan or receivable booked at the 

amortized cost has suffered impairment, the amount of the loss is measured 

as the difference between the accounting value of the asset and the current 

value of future estimated cash flows (not including future losses on 

receivables not yet incurred) discounted at the effective original interest rate 

of the financial asset (i.e. the effective interest rate calculated at the date of 

original posting). The book value of the asset is reduced through the use of 

an amortization provision and the amount of the impairment is recorded in 

the income statement. 
The Company values the existence of objective indications of impairment 

on an individual level, for financial assets that are individually significant, 

and then on an individual or collective level for financial assets that are not. 

In the absence of objective indications of impairment, for a financial asset 

valued individually, whether it is significant or not, this asset is included in 

a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and this 

group is subjected to checks for impairment on a group level. Assets valued 
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on an individual level where there is or there continues to be impairment 

will not be included in a group valuation. 
Later, if the amount of impairment is reduced and this reduction can be 

objectively attributed to an event taking place after the impairment, the 

value reduced previously can be reinstated. Any subsequent reinstatement 

of value is booked to the income statement, in the amount in which the book 

value of the asset does not exceed the amortized cost at the date of 

reinstatement. 
With reference to trade receivables, an allocation for impairment is made 

when there are objective indications (such as the probability of insolvency 

or significant financial difficulties of the debtor) that the Company will not 

be able to recover all the amounts due based on the original invoice terms. 

The book value of the receivable is reduced by making use of a specific 

provision. Receivables subject to impairment are reversed when they are 

determined to be uncollectible. 
 

Financial assets available for sale 

In the event of impairment of a financial asset available for sale, a value 

equal to the difference between its cost (net of the reimbursement of capital 

and amortization) is transferred from the shareholders' equity to the income 

statement and its current fair value, net of impairment previously booked to 

the income statement. 

Reinstatements of value relating to shareholdings classified as available for 

sale are not booked to the income statement. Reinstatements of value 

relating to debt instruments are recorded in the income statement if the 

increase in the fair value of the instrument can be attributed to an event 

taking place after the impairment was posted to the income statement.  
 

Own shares 

Instruments representing the capital paid, such as own shares, must be 

deducted from capital. No gain or loss must be posted to the income 

statement at the time of acquisition, sale, issue, or writing off of these 

instruments representing capital. The amount paid is posted directly to 

shareholders' equity. 
 

Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of the purchase cost and the estimated 

realizable value represented by the amount that the company expects to 

obtain from their sale in ordinary operations. The cost of inventories is 

determined by applying the weighted average cost method 
 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include quantifiable investments that are short-

term or convertible on demand, without risk of significant changes in value 

and expenses for their conversion. 

 

Employee benefits  

The benefits guaranteed to employees distributed during or subsequent to 

ending the employment relationship through defined benefits programmes 
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(employee severance indemnity) or other long-term benefits are recognized 

in the period the benefit accrues. 

 

The liability related to defined benefit programmes, net of any assets used 

in the plan, is determined on the basis of actuarial projections, and is shown 

on an accrual basis in relation to the services necessary to obtain these 

benefits; this liability is calculated by independent actuaries using the 

projected unit credit method. Gains and losses arising from the actuarial 

calculation are charged to the income statement as a cost or revenue 

regardless of their value, without using the "corridor method". 
The amount reflects payables accrued at the year-end date of the financial 

statements as well as future salary increases and correlated statistical 

dynamics. 
 

Provision for liabilities and charges 

Provisions for liabilities and charges concern specific costs and charges and 

those which are certain or probable and whose amounts are as yet to be 

determined at the closing date of the FY.  Provisions are posted when: 
(i) there is likely to be a current, legal or implicit liability arising from a 

past event; 

(ii) it is likely that the liability is fulfilled for a consideration; 

(iii) the amount of the liability can be estimated in a reliable manner. 

 

Provisions are registered at a value representative of the best estimate – 

sometimes supported by experts – of the amount the business would pay to 

discharge the obligation, that is, to transfer it onto a third party at the 

closing date for the period.  When the financial effect of the time is 

significant and the payment dates of the liabilities can be reliably estimated, 

the provision is object of time-discounting. The increase in the provision 

connected with the passage of time is recognized in the income statement 

under the item “Financial income (expenses)”. 
When the liability refers to tangible assets (demolition of assets), the 

provision is posted to cover the asset it refers to; the income statement is 

charged through the depreciation process. 

The provisions are periodically updated to reflect changes in the cost 

estimates, implementation times, and the discount rate; reviews of the 

estimate of the reserves are charged to the same item in the income 

statement which has previously held the allocation or, when the liability 

relates to tangible assets, to balance the asset to which it refers. 

 

Trade payables and other non financial liabilities 

Trade payables, which mature within a normal commercial time-span are 

not discounted, and are entered at cost (identified by their face value). 

Payables denominated in foreign currency are recorded at the exchange rate 

in force on the date of the transaction and, subsequently, translated to the 

year-end rate. Gains or losses arising from the translation are booked to the 

income statement. 
Other liabilities are posted at cost (identified by the par value). 
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Loans  

Other financial liabilities, except for derivatives, are initially recognized at 

cost, which corresponds to the fair value of the liability, net of the 

transaction costs which are directly attributed to issue of the liability. 

 

After initial recording, financial liabilities are valued using the amortized 

cost method, using the effective original interest rate represented by the rate 

that equalizes the current value of the cash flows and the value of original 

posting (the amortized cost method) at the time of initial posting. 

Gains or losses are booked to the income statement when the liability is 

extinguished, as well as through the amortization process. 
 

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities  

 

Financial assets 

A financial asset (or where applicable, part of a financial asset or part of a 

group of similar financial assets) is written off from the financial statements 

when: 

• rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 

• the Company holds the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has 

undertaken the contractual obligation to pay them in full and immediately to 

a third party; 

• the Company has transferred the right to receive cash flow from the asset and 

(a) has essentially transferred all the risks and benefits of ownership of the 

financial asset or (b) has not transferred nor retain the risks and benefits of the 

asset, but has transferred its control. 

If the Company has transferred the right to receive cash flow from an asset 

and has neither transferred nor held the risks and benefits nor has it lost 

control of them, the asset is recognized in the Company financial statements 

to the extent of its outstanding involvement in the asset. Residual 

involvement that takes the form of a guarantee on the transferred asset is 

valued at the lesser of the original book value of the asset and the maximum 

value of the amount that the Company could be required to pay. 
 

Financial liabilities  

A financial liability is written off from the financial statements when the 

obligation underlying the liability is extinguished, voided or fulfilled. 
 

Derivative financial instruments and hedging contracts 

The Company uses financial derivatives such as interest rate contracts to 

hedge risks arising mainly from fluctuations in the interest rate (i.e. cash 

flow hedge). These financial derivatives are initially booked at the fair 

value at the date they are signed; subsequently, the fair value is periodically 

recalculated. They are accounted for as assets when the fair value is positive 

and as liabilities when the fair value is negative. 
Any gains or losses resulting from changes in the fair value of unsuitable 

derivatives for "hedge accounting" are charged directly to the income 

statement during the year. 

The fair value of swap contracts on interest rates is determined with 

reference to the market value for similar instruments. 
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In keeping with the strategy it has chosen, the Company does not perform 

derivative transactions for speculative purposes. 

 

Accounting for income 

Revenues are posted in the amount in which it is possible to reliably 

determine the fair value and it is likely that the related economic benefits 

will be used. 

According to the type of operation, revenue is reported on the basis of the 

specific criteria illustrated below: 

- revenue from the sale of assets is shown when the significant risks and 

benefits of their ownership are transferred to the purchaser; 

- revenues arising from performance of services are accounted for when the 

service is performed. 

Revenues are booked net of returns, discounts, bonuses, and promotional 

charges directly related to sales revenues as well as directly related taxes. 

Commercial discounts, directly charged as a deduction to the revenues, 

were calculated based on contracts signed with airline carriers and tour 

operators. 

Royalties are booked on an accrual basis according to the substance of the 

contract agreements. 

Interest income is booked according to an accrual principle, based on which 

the actual yield of the asset to which it refers is considered. 

Dividends are shown when shareholders become entitled to receive 

payment. 

 

Recording of costs and expenses  

Costs are recognized when they relate to assets and services sold or used 

during the year or by systematic allocation, or when the future use cannot be 

determined. 

 

Income Taxes 

 

Current taxes 

Current taxes for the year in progress and previous years are valued at the 

amount that is expected to be reimbursed by or paid to the tax authorities. 

Tax rates and tax regulations used to calculate the amount are those issued 

or essentially issued at year-end. Current taxes relating to items posted 

directly to shareholders' equity are recorded directly to the balance sheet 

and not to the income statement. 
 

Deferred taxes 

Deferred taxes are calculated using the "liability method" on the interim 

differences resulting at the year-end date between fiscal values used as 

reference for the assets and liabilities and values shown in the financial 

statements. Deferred tax liabilities are posted against all the taxable interim 

differences, except for when deferred tax liabilities arise from the initial 

posting of goodwill or an asset or liability of a transaction that is not a 

business combination and which, at the time of the transaction, does not 

lead to effects on the income of the year, calculated for financial statement 

purposes nor on the profit or loss calculated for tax purposes. 
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A deferred tax asset should be recognized for deductible temporary 

differences, unused tax losses and unused tax assets to the extent that it is 

probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 

temporary differences can be utilized, unless the deferred tax asset arises 

from the initial recognition of an asset/liability other than in a business 

combination which, at the time of the transaction, does not affect the 

accounting or the taxable profit. 
 

The rates used to calculate deferred taxation, which reflects prospective 

taxation in compliance with national current legislation, are mainly the 

following: 

 

IRES 33.00%  
IRAP (regional tax on productive activity)    4.25% 

 

Profit per share 

Profit per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the period 

attributable to the company’s shareholders by the weighted average number 

of outstanding shares of common stock over the period. 

For the purposes of measuring diluted earnings per share, the weighted 

average of outstanding shares is modified while assuming the conversion of 

all the potential shares having a diluting effect.  The net results of the 

Company are adjusted to consider the effects of the translation, net of 

related taxes. 
 

Assets under concession  

The airport of Venice and related property constructed are covered by a regime of 

total concession. After this, SAVE ensures the airport services provided and 

received regarding the entire structure and earns all the income from the year of 

airport business, as well as for income pertaining to the government. 

 

Future changes in accounting policies 

 

IFRIC interpretations not yet in force 

IFRIC 12 was issued in November 2006 and will become effective as from 

1 January 2008. According to this interpretation, assets object of concession 

agreements whereby the grantor will hold control of the assets at the end of 

the concession and the operator has the right to a license fee of the service 

provided must be booked with intangible assets according to theory of the 

intangible asset model. 
The same interpretation, under paragraph 21, also states that if the 

concession agreement includes the contractual obligation of the operator to 

maintain the infrastructure at a given level of functionality and efficiency 

and/or restore the infrastructure to a certain level of use before returning it 

to the grantor at the end of the concession, this contractual obligation must 

be recorded and valued based on the provisions under IAS 37 regarding 

provisions and contingencies, making the best possible estimate of the 

charges that might be incurred to meet the current obligation at year end.  
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Since this interpretation cannot be applied at this time, the Company has kept 

the original organization, posting these assets with tangible assets and 

allocating a provision for renewal of assets subject to reversion free of charge 

according to the methods above. 

 

As from January 1, 2007, the Finance Act and implementation decrees relating 

thereto introduced significant amendments to the rules governing employee 

severance indemnities, including the possibility for workers to make decisions 

on allocation of their severance indemnity accrued and accruing. In particular, 

workers are entitled to assign the new flows of severance indemnity to specific 

pension schemes or they may decide to keep them within their employer’s 

organization (in which case, the latter shall pay severance indemnity-related 

contributions into a Social Security treasury account). Presently, perplexities 

on interpretation of the above, recently enacted rule, the possible different 

interpretations of classification of severance indemnities accrued and accruing 

under IAS 19 and any consequent changes in actuarial calculations thereof, in 

addition to the impossibility to make suppositions on the decisions of workers 

on allocation of their severance pay (which choice is to be made by individual 

workers by no later than next 30 June) make premature any hypotheses on 

actuarial modifications to the calculation process of severance indemnities 

accrued at December 31, 2006. 

Below, the net financial position prepared according with the Consob 

communication No. 6064293 is disclosed, drawing on the Consob Resolution 

15519 of July 27, 2006. Cash pooling and financial relations with associated 

companies totaling € 29.9 million of debtors and € 2.9 million of creditors are 

not included. 

 
NET FINANCIAL POSITION

31/12/2006 31/12/2005 Change

(in thousands of euros)

cash and cash equivalents 16.858 19.792 -2.934 

** financial assets 197 197

Short-term assets 17.055 19.792 -2.737

* payables to banks 23.601 12.726 10.875

** Other financial liabilities – current share 264 1.312 -1.048 

Short-term liabilities 23.865 14.038 9.826

* Financial payables net of current share to banks 54.563 52.938 1.625

Financial payables net of current share to others 11 30 -19 

Long-term liabilities 54.574 52.968 1.606

Net Financial Position 61.384 47.214 14.170

* of which gross payables to banks 78.163 65.664 12.500

** of which for net measurement to fair value  derivative contracts /1000 47 1.196 -1.149
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BREAKDOWN OF KEY BALANCE SHEET ITEMS 
(unless expressly specified, the amounts are given in thousands of Euro) 

 

ASSETS 

 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Total  12.2006 € 65,574 

 12.2005 € 56,874 

 Change   8700 

 

The components of the aforementioned aggregation are as follows: 

 

1. Cash and cash equivalents 

Total  12.2006 € 16,858 

 12.2005 € 19,792 

 Change   (2,934) 

 

2. Financial assets 

Total  12.2006 € 197 

 12.2005 € 0 

 Change   197 

 

The item reflects the fair value measurement of derivative financial instruments 

I.R.S.. 

For the breakdown, reference should be made to following point 18. 

 

3. Tax assets 

Total  12.2006 € 300 

 12.2005 € 1,775 

 Change   (1,475) 

 

Tax receivables mainly refer to the VAT receivable as at 31 December 2006. 

The decrease is due to the VAT receivable collected in July 2006 - € 1.2 

million - related to 3Q 2005. 

 

4. Other receivables 

Total  12.2006 € 26,169 

 12.2005 € 14,702 

 Change   11,467 
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The breakdown is as follows: 

 

 31/12/20

06 

31/12/20

05 

Chan

ge  

• Subsidiaries  17,805 6,233 11,57

2 

• Affiliates  108 125 (17) 

• E.N.A.C. for contributions 7,318 7,410 (92) 

• Advances to suppliers  689 496 193 

• Social security agencies 111 111 0 

• Sundry receivables 138 327 (189) 

Total other receivables 26,169 14,702 11,46

7 

 

The increase of € 11.6 million in receivables from subsidiaries was essentially due 

for € 4 million to additional portions of the loan to the subsidiary Aer Tre and for 

€ 6,972 in receivables of a financial nature as a result of the "cash pooling" 

management between Group companies. In particular, the position vis-à-vis 

Airport Elite shows a receivable of € 5.3 million, as it was payable last year. 

 

The receivables from E.N.A.C. for contributions in investments related to the 

Venice airport can be broken down by individual work. 

 

 31/12/20

06 

31/12/20

05 

Chang

e  

• New airport 3,682 3,682 0 

• New cargo building 0 92 (92) 

• New E2 electrical substation 1,714 1,714 0 

• Expansion of the docking 

area 

1,922 1,922 0 

Total receivables from E.N.A.C. 7,318 7,410 (92) 

 

 

5. Trade receivables 

Total  12.2006 € 21,386 

 12.2005 € 19,880 

 Change   1,506 

 

These essentially comprise receivables from airline companies for aviation and 

sub-licensers in the airport. 

 

The schedule below shows the composition of commercial receivables and 

respective adjustment provisions: 
 

 31/12/2006 31/12/2005 Change  

Trade receivables 32,554 29,413 3,141 

Provision for bad debts (11,168) (9,533) (1,635) 

Total trade receivables 21,386 19,880 1,506 
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Trade receivables were € 1.5 million higher year-on-year, amounting to € 21.3 

million at 31 December 2006, net of the provision for bad debts of € 11.1 million.  

In order to limit credit risk, monitoring activity and constant collections work 

from customers continued.  
After period end, and after undertaking specific legal actions, payments of 

past-due receivables held against one major customer were rescheduled (in 

agreement between the parties) and methods of paying future receivables were 

confirmed. Save S.p.A. is protected by an insurance surety from a primary 

company and by a first request guarantee issued by the guarantor of the 

customer. The agreement was reached subject to the fact that a large amount of 

the past-due amount would be paid concurrent with signing the agreement.  All 

receivable protection actions continued this year. 
 

The Group is also continuing to manage the advance payment of fees due from 

another primary customers, along with continued efforts in every legal action 

undertaken to protect the existing credit on the past due receivable. Similarly, in 

other situations, when deemed potentially risky, the company demands payment 

in advance. 

 

As regards the balance of trade receivables, pursuant to actions – Including 

legal action undertaken to protect credit and collections and based on the 

information available to date – supported by the attorneys who are handling 

the respective disputes, the value indicated net of the provisions, and 

considering the guarantees received, is considered to prudently reflect the 

presumed realizable value. 

 

The provision for bad debts comes to € 11.1 million, to wholly cover net 

receivables from customers in bankruptcy proceedings in progress, including 

extraordinary administration for the large companies of the Volare Group in 

financial difficulty (5.7 million) and in relation to the remaining total risk; the 

value of the provision was quantified while considering analyses of specific 

positions and an evaluation regarding the age of the receivable. This is in line 

with the evaluation methods applied over time. 

 

To protect the receivables in situations of potential risk, customers are asked to 

make advance payment for the services provided and the company follows a 

policy of soliciting collection using all available legal instruments, including 

court-ordered injunctions. 

 

In the FY, the provision showed the following changes: 

 

Balance as at 31.12.05 9,533 

Uses of losses / collections (25) 

Allocations for the period 1,660 

Balance as at 31.12.06 11,168 

 

6. Inventories 

Total 12.2006 € 664 



SAVE Group Consolidated Financial Statements and SAVE S.p.A. Financial Statements as at 31 December 2006 

 157

 12.2005 € 725 

 Change   (61) 

 

This section mainly includes inventories on electrical equipment for runways 

and buildings, materials used for ordinary maintenance, and surplus products 

for heating and de-icing aircraft. 

 

NON CURRENT ASSETS 

Total  12.2006 € 326,773 

 12.2005 € 279,930 

  Change   46,843 

 

They are broken down as follows: 

 

7. Tangible fixed assets 

Total  12.2006 € 117,478 

 12.2005 € 121,929 

 Change   (4,451) 

 

Assets owned and assets subject to reversion free of charge are entered 

separately. 

In particular: 

 

 31/12/200

6 

31/12/2005 Chang

e  

Assets owned  11,216 13,779 (2,563) 

Assets subject to reversion 

free of charge 

106,262 108,150 (1,888) 

Total tangible fixed assets  117,478 121,929 (4,451) 

 

The breakdown of the financial statement balances and respective changes in the 

key categories of tangible assets, for assets subject to reversion free of charge and 

assets owned, is shown in Schedule B, annexed to these notes. Depreciation for 

the period equalled € 10 million.  

 

Owned assets in the year show a decrease of € 2.6 million, net of depreciation 

for € 3.8 million. 

Investments amounted to € 1.3 million, with € 0.5 million relating mostly to the 

baggage sorting system, and € 0.4 to the video surveillance system. 

Assets subject to reversion free of charge show a net decrease during the year 

of € 1.9 million, net of depreciation for € 6.2 million. 

 

Investments came to € 4.4 million and mainly involved completion of the works 

related to the "docking area expansion" contract for € 0.5 million, a sanitary sewer 

channel for € 0.4 million and conclusion of the "boarding bridge and tower no. 6” 
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for € 0.4 million. As regards work in progress, investments were made for € 2.1 

million, whose composition is illustrated in detail in schedule "B1". 

 

8. Intangible fixed assets 

Total  12.2006 € 1,262 

 12.2005 € 1,267 

 Change   (5) 

 

In particular:  

 31/12/200

6 

31/12/2005 Chang

e  

Other intangibles 1,262 1,267 (5) 

Total intangible fixed assets 1,262 1,267 (5) 

 

The composition of these intangible assets is illustrated in detail in schedule A, 

which reports the figures related to the historic cost, amortization and 

outstanding values to amortize, posted by individual asset category. 

 

Investments in developing computer systems over the course of the FY amounted 

to € 0.6 million. 

 

9. Shareholdings 

Total  12.2006 € 181,704 

 12.2005 € 142,452 

 Change   39,252 

 

The balance refers chiefly to shareholdings in associated companies and other 

companies, the details of which are given below. 

 

Shareholdings in subsidiaries 
 Share 

% 

12/2006 12/2005 Change  

Save Engineering S.p.A. 97 501 501 0 

Aer Tre S.p.A. 45 725 725 0 

Marco Polo Park S.r.l. 100 716 716 0 

Aeroporto Civile di Padova 

S.p.A. 

62.86 584 105 479 

Airport Elite S.r.l. 86.5 2,000 80 1,920 

N.Aitec S.r.l. 100 90 20 70 

Save Security S.r.l. 65 65 65 0 

Archimede 1 S.p.A. 60 34,041 34,041 0 

Archimede 3 S.p.A. 100 73 73 0 
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Agricola Altinia S.r.l. 0 0 9,314 (9,314) 

Agricola Cà Bolzan S.r.l. 100 16,474 7,160 9,314 

Idea 2 S.r.l. 100 28 18 10 

Total subsidiaries   55,297 52,818 2,479 

 

On 21 December 2006 the Società Agricola Altinia S.r.l. merged by incorporation 

into the Società Agricola Cà Bolzan S.r.l. 

Refer to the instructions contained in the notes regarding the scope of 

consolidation. 

 

Shareholdings in affiliates 

 
 Share 

% 

12/2006 12/2005 Cha

nge  
Nicelli S.p.A. 48.43 342 616 (274

) 

Venezia Terminal Passeggeri S.p.A. 21 1,376 697 679 

GAP S.p.A. Gest.Aeroporto Pantelleria 30.26 178 178 0 

Total affiliates   1,896 1,491 405 

 

In 2006, a non-recurring writedown was made for € 1.4 million, relating to an 

affiliate whose carrying value was valued based on the limited estimates of 

revenues which are unlikely to cover the respective costs and amortization of 

assets. 

 

Shareholdings in other companies 
 % 12/200

6 

12/200

5 

Change  

• Gemina S.p.A. 10.259 124,509 88,141 36,368 

• Consorzio Sive Formazione = 2 2 0 

• Consorzio CONAI = 0.1 0.1 0 

• MUSE Consorzio Multiservizi = 0.3 0.3 0 

Total other companies   124,51

1 

88,143 36,368 

 

During FY 2006, the Group sold 6.46 million shares in Gemina S.p.A., realizing a 

capital gain of € 2.7 million and reducing the percentage of its shareholding from 

12.03% to 10.26% of the share capital. The value of the shareholding at 31 

December 2006, based on stock market quotations, was € 124.5 million. The 

increase in value with respect to the average purchase cost was € 43.9 million and 

the respective increase in shareholders' equity, net of the fiscal effect, was € 41.6 

million. At 31 December 2005, the Gemina S.p.A. shareholding, based on 

quotations less than the cost incurred, determined a reduction in shareholders' 

equity equal to € 6.1 million. 

In January 2007, the shareholding in Gemina S.p.A. was the object of a securities 
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loan, broadly described in the “subsequent events” paragraph. 

 

Shareholdings in other companies were not object of write ups or write downs. 

 

10. Other financial assets 

Total  12.2006 € 17,044 

 12.2005 € 4,894 

 Change   12,150 

 

This item mainly includes loans to group companies which extend beyond the 

current FY. 

The increase is primarily due to the loan for € 10.2 million issued to the subsidiary 

Airline Terminal & Business Catering Holding Gmbh. 

 

11. Deferred tax assets 

Total  12.2006 € 9,270 

 12.2005 € 9,316 

 Change   (46) 

 

 

The key timing differences on which advance tax assets are booked include: 

• taxable funds, such as the provision for renewal of assets subject to 

reversion free of charge, the provision for risks and contingencies, and the 

provision for bad debts 

• costs for the tax deductible stock market listing procedure 

• other costs that, based on the prevailing tax provisions, will become 

deductible in coming years  
 

TAXABLE BASE % TAX USE INCREASES TAXABLE BASE % TAX

Provision for bad debts 3.509 33% 1.158 1.509 5.017 33% 1.656

Provision for liabilities and charges 5.440 33% 1.793 -915 1.185 5.710 33% 1.882

Other provisions 2.653 2.653 33% 876

Administrative professional fees 49 33% 16 -49 256 256 33% 85

Writedowns of tangible fixed assets 563 33% 186 -230 333 33% 110

Writedowns of shareholdings 707 33% 233 -353 353 33% 116

Other writedowns 190 33% 63 190 33% 63

Personnel costs 364 33% 120 -364 392 392 33% 129

Taxes deductible 4 33% 1 -4 10 10 33% 3

Maintenance exceeding 5% 82 33% 27 -82 33%

Entertainment expenses 75 33% 25 -38 41 78 33% 26

Emoluments to Directors not paid 18 33% 6 -18 20 20 33% 7

Contributions to category association 38 33% 12 -13 25 33% 8

Gifts > € 25.82 21 33% 7 -9 10 22 33% 7

IAS EFFECTS:

Stock Exchange and fair value assessment 9.837 33% 3.532 -2.227 7.610 33% 2.511

Start-up and expansion costs 91 33% 30 -91 33%

Deferred expenses 1.273 33% 420 -56 1.217 33% 402

MTM appraisal 1.196 33% 395 -951 245 33% 81

Component approach 1.631 33% 538 1.631 33% 538

Balance deferred tax assets IRES 2006 25.086 8.563 -5.400 6.077 25.763 8.499

IRES (rate 33%)

31-dic-05 31-dic-06

TAX EFFECT TAXABLE BASE TAX EFFECT
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TAXABLE BASE % TAX USE INCREASES TAXABLE BASE % TAX

Provision for bad debts 2.788 4,25% 118 -207 930 3.511 4,25% 149

Provision for liabilities and charges 1.071 4,25% 46 -489 582 4,25% 25

Other provisions 4,25% 2.653 2.653 4,25% 113

Administrative professional fees 49 4,25% 2 -49 256 256 4,25% 11

Writedowns of tangible fixed assets 563 4,25% 24 -230 333 4,25% 14

Other writedowns 190 4,25% 8 190 4,25% 8

Taxes deductible 4 4,25% 0 -4 10 10 4,25% 0

Maintenance exceeding 5% 82 4,25% 3 -82

Entertainment expenses 75 4,25% 3 -38 41 78 4,25% 3

Emoluments to Directors not paid 7 4,25% 0 -7 20 20 4,25% 1

Contributions to category association 38 4,25% 2 -13 25 4,25% 1

Gifts > € 25.82 21 4,25% 1 -9 10 22 4,25% 1

IAS EFFECTS: 0

Stock Exchange 9.837 4,25% 418 -2.227 7.610 4,25% 323

Start-up and expansion costs 91 4,25% 4 -91 0

Deferred expenses 1.273 4,25% 54 -56 1.217 4,25% 52

Component approach 1.631,00 4,25% 69 1.631 4,25% 69

Balance deferred tax assets IRAP 2006 17.720 753 -3.502 3.921 18.139 771

TOTAL PREPAID TAXES 31-dic-05 9.316 31-dic-06 9.270

IRAP (rate 4.25%)

TAX EFFECT TAXABLE BASE TAX EFFECT

31-dic-05 31-dic-06

 
 

 

12. Other receivables 

Total  12.2006 € 15 

 12.2005 € 72 

 Change   (57) 
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LIABILITIES 

 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Total 12.2006 € 55,682 

 12.2005 € 53,281 

 Change   2,401 

 

They are broken down as follows: 

 

13. Trade payables 

Total  12.2006 € 16,084 

 12.2005 € 18,247 

 Change   (2,163) 

 

Trade payables as at 31 December 2006 amounted to € 16 million, showing a 

decrease of € 2.1 million compared to 31 December 2005. 

 

14. Other payables 

Total  12.2006 € 8,824 

 12.2005 € 11,045 

 Change   (2,221) 

 

This item includes payables to subsidiaries and affiliates for € 6.2 million, made 

up of € 2.8 million in financial payables as a result of "cash pooling" management 

between Group companies, € 304 in tax payables and € 2,806 in trade payables. 

 

Other payables include payables to personnel relating to deferred compensation of 

€ 1.5 million and payables to others for the remainder. 

 

The item was reduced by payment of a debt for dividends relating to the 2003 

financial year in the amount of € 1.2 million.  
 

15. Payables to tax authorities 

Total  12.2006 € 5,876 

 12.2005 € 8,869 

 Change   (2,993) 

 

Payables to tax authorities not only includes taxes pertaining to the period (€ 

1.3 million), but also includes the payables to the Ministry of Finance for the 

airport license fee for € 3.5 million. In compliance with how it accounts for 

revenue, the Company continues to provision for costs for license fees, and the 

resulting payable, based on the prevailing regulation in 2005, amounted to 100% 

of the license fee. 
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The decrease in payables for direct taxes of € 4 million is related to the changes 

taking place in advance taxes paid. 
 

16. Payables to social security authorities 

Total  12.2006 € 1,033 

 12.2005 € 1,082 

 Change   (49) 

 

The balance was basically in line with payables as at 31.12.2005.  

 

17. Payables to banks 

Total  12.2006 € 23,601 

 12.2005 € 12,726 

 Change   10,875 

 

Short-term gross borrowing from banks amounted to € 23.6 million, up € 10.8 

million approx. from the previous period. In the course of the year, the Company 

used bank lines of credit to provide loans to its subsidiaries for acquisition 

transactions for € 13 million in relation to Airest. 

 

18. Other financial liabilities – current share  

Total  12.2006 € 264 

 12.2005 € 1,312 

 Change   (1,048) 

 

The item is made up of the payable arising from the fair value assessment of the 

derivative I.R.S. financial instruments for € 0.2 million. The change relates to the 

“mark to market” assessment. 

 

The group possesses derivative financial instruments for the purpose of hedging 

its exposure to the risk of variation in interest rates with regard to specific 

liabilities (cash flow hedges). 

The Group has not executed any transactions on derivatives for purely speculative 

purposes; however, in the absence of formal and documentary requirements, these 

transactions, while economically qualified as hedges, are not perceived as such 

from an accounting perspective. The methods of reporting them in the accounts 

are the same in both cases: changes in the fair value are shown in the income 

statement. Tax handling of the changes in assessing interest rate hedges were 

consistent with the methods used in 2005. 

 

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 

Total  12.2006 € 72,722 

 12.2005 € 67,950 
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 Change   4,772 

 

They are broken down as follows: 

 

19. Financial payables net of current share to banks 

Total  12.2006 € 54,563 

 12.2005 € 52,938 

 Change   1,625 

 

Bank borrowings, net of the current amount, are constituted by the medium- to 

long-term portion of loans signed and in force at 31 December 2006. 

During the FY, € 9.6 million in medium-term financing payments were made.  

The value of the loans to be repaid within one year amounted to € 10.9 million 

and beyond the year € 54.6, of which € 11.1 million fall due beyond five years. 

 

In December 2006, the company took out a new loan for € 12.5 million in 

connection with the acquisition of land near the airport site. 

 

Medium- to long-term bank borrowings, including the amount falling due in 

the coming 12 months (€ 10.8 million), amount to € 65 million. 

 

Approximately 50% of the total value of medium and long-term loans is subject to 

non-speculative hedging (I.R.S.) against the risk of rising interest rates. 
 

The breakdown, by calendar year, of the medium- to long-term loans is as 

follows: 

 

  

2007 10.9 

2008 10.9 

2009 10.9 

2010 10.9 

2011 10.9 

2012 6.1 

2013 1.2 

2014 1.2 

2015 1.2 

2016 1.2 

Total medium and long term payables to banks  65.4 
 

The Company has short-term unused lines of credit with banks totalling € 62.6 

million. 

 

20. Financial payables net of current share to others 

Total  12.2006 € 11 

 12.2005 € 30 
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 Change   (19) 

 

Other financial payables, net of the current portion, are made up of the medium- 

to long-term portion of the outstanding amounts of financial lease contracts in 

force at 31 December 2006. 

 

21. Provision for deferred taxes 

Total 12.2006 € 6,338 

 12.2005 € 3,862 

 Change   2,476 

 

The main cases that lead to booking the provision for deferred taxes include 

measurement of off-balance sheet accelerated amortization, financial 

amortization, and deferred tax capital gains. 

 

IRES (rate 33%) TAXABLE BASERate Tax Use Increases TAXABLE BASE Rate Tax

Financial amortization 1.100 33% 363 (25) 1.075 33% 355 

Accelerated depreciation 7.794 33% 2.572 (700) 1.465 8.559 33% 2.823 

Capital gains 584 33% 193 (512) 72 33% 24 

IAS EFFECTS:

MTM derivatives appraisal 197 197 33% 65 

Shareholdings 43.875 43.875 33% 2.318 

Demolition provision and buildings 198 33% 65 (33) 35 151 33% 50 

Employee severance indemnity  542 33% 179 63 606 33% 200 

Capital lease 214 33% 71 (72) 87 230 33% 76 

Balance of  deferred tax liabilities - Ires 2006 10.433 3.444 (1.341) 45.721 54.763 5.910 

IRAP (rate 4.25%) TAXABLE BASERate Tax Use Increases TAXABLE BASE Rate Tax

Financial amortization 1.100 4,25% 47 (25) 1.075 33% 46 

Accelerated depreciation 7.794 4,25% 330 (700) 1.465 8.559 33% 363 

Capital gains 584 4,25% 25 (512) 72 33% 3 

IAS EFFECTS:

Demolition provision 1.148 4,25% 6 (33) 35 197 33% 6 

Capital lease 214 4,25% 9 (72) 87 43.875 33% 10 

Balance of deferred tax liabilities - Irap 2006 10.841 417 (1.341) 1.586 53.777 428 

Balance of  deferred tax liabilities -  2006 3.862 6.338 

31-dic-05 31-dic-06TAXABLE BASE 

31-dic-05 TAXABLE BASE 31-dic-06

 
 

 

22. Provision for severance indemnity and other staff provisions  

Total 12.2006 € 4,366 

 12.2005 € 4,275 

 Change   91 

 

Liabilities for severance indemnity as at 31 December 2006 are broken down in 

the following table. 
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 2006 2005 Change  

Initial provision for severance indemnity  4,275 5,033 (758) 

Transfers 67 (64) 131 

Advances granted during the FY (451) (850) 399 

Paid (302) (109) (193) 

Use for supplemental operations (47) (61) 14 

Lieu tax article 11 of Legislative Decree 47/00 (13) (13) 0 

Allocations for the year 900 881 19 

Changes due to IAS time-discounting  (63) (542) 479 

Final provision for severance indemnity  4,366 4,275 91 

 

The allocation refers to the amount accrued during the year, including revaluation 

of the reserve existing at the end of the year.   

 

According to the methods laid down by the international accounting principle IAS 

19, the liability related to the TFR must be evaluated by application of the 

Projected Unit Credit Method. This method requires preparation of an actuarial 

assessment based on a series of assumptions determined by an outside expert. 

 

23. Other provisions for liabilities and charges 

Total  12.2006 € 7,444 

 12.2005 € 6,845 

 Change   599 

 

 

 

The item is broken down as follows: 

 31/12/2006 31/12/2005 Change  

Provision for liabilities and charges 1,561 1,685 (124) 

Provision for assets subject to 

reversion free of charge 

5,883 5,160 723 

Total other provisions for liabilities 

and charges 

7,444 6,845 599 

 

 

Provision for liabilities and charges 

Changes in the provision in the year in progress were as follows: 

 

Balance as at 31.12.05 1,685 

Uses/Reclassifications  (379) 

Allowances for future risks and charges  255 

Balance as at 31.12.06 1,561 
 

This item is mainly formed by provisions made to cover potential liabilities 

payable by the company. It is believed that the reserves are sufficient to cover the 

risk arising from legal causes and disputes of a specific nature where the company 

is plaintiff or respondent, based on a reasonable estimate made using the 
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information available and after seeking the opinion of legal consultants.  

 

As at 31 December 2006, the provision included € 1.5 million for potential risks 

for commercial transactions and agreements and legal disputes. 

 

In the financial year 2005, injunctions were requested of, and partly granted by the 

Court of Venice, to protect company receivables; legal proceedings are still in 

progress. 

 

Provision for renewal of assets subject to reversion free of charge 

 

Total 12.2006 € 5,883 

 12.2005 € 5,160 

 Change   723 

 

This provision represents the estimate for maintenance and renewal jobs that must 

be done on assets subject to reversion free of charge booked under assets in the 

balance sheet; these assets must be returned to the government in perfect working 

order at the end of the Group airport licenses. The entire provision refers to 

scheduled repair and maintenance operations on the airport area of Venice 

(Tessera).  

 

The provision for renewal relating to the airport land area of Venice is allocated 

yearly, based on a technical evaluation of the estimate of future charges relating to 

scheduled maintenance required to maintain the assets that must be returned free 

of charge at the end of the license period. The provision is used for such 

maintenance during the year. 

 

During the year, the provision was increased by € 930 thousand. 

 

 

NET EQUITY 

 

24. Net equity 

Total 12.2006 € 263,943 

 12.2005 € 215,575 

 Change   48,368 

 

It is broken down as follows: 

 

Share capital 

Total 12.2006 € 17,986 

 12.2005 € 17,986 

 Change   0 
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The share capital – € 17,985,500 – is divided into 27,670,000 ordinary shares 

with a par value of € 0.65 each, and is fully paid-up. 

 

Share premium reserve 

Total 12.2006 € 148,337 

 12.2005 € 148,337 

 Change   0 

 

It arises from a share premium allowed and paid pursuant to the initial public 

offering in 2005, net of costs incurred for the stock market listing process. 

 

Legal reserve 

Total 12.2006 € 3,058 

 12.2005 € 2,600 

 Change   458 

 

The increase is due to allocation of a portion of 2005 profits. Further additions 

are still necessary to reach the legal minimum of one-fifth of the share capital. 
 

Reserve for treasury shares 

Total 12.2006 € (3,272) 

 12.2005 € 0 

 Change   (3,272) 

 

During the period, the Company purchased 154,853 own shares in compliance 

with the terms provided for in specific shareholders’ resolution. The par value of 

the shares acquired was € 100.7 thousand, equal to 0.56% of the share capital; the 

Group paid an amount of € 3.3 million. 

 

 

Other reserves and profits carried forward 

Total  12.2006 € 85,191 

 12.2005 € 36,666 

 Change   48,525 

 

Breakdown of the other reserves is as follows: 

 

Revaluation Reserve, € 15.4 in FY 1991 in conformity with Law no. 413/61 

and € 6,049 in FY 2000 in conformity with Law no. 342/2000. 

 

The provision for the fair value assessment of securities increased during the year 

due to the revaluation of securities booked at the fair value with non-current assets 
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(Gemina shares) was € 47,668 at 31 December 2006, with respect to the average 

purchase cost of € 53.8 million. 

 

 The remainder is formed by the unrestricted Extraordinary Reserve and the Profit 

Reserve. 

 

Dividends paid in FY 2006 amounted to € 8.69 million, i.e. € 0.314 per share. 

 

Profit for the year 

Total 12.2006 € 12,644 

 12.2005 € 9,986 

 Change   2,658 

 
 

Reconciliation of net equity and result for the period is shown here below. 

 

31/12/2006 2006 31/12/2005

SAVE's financial statements (Parent Company) 263.943 12.644 215.575

Elimination of carrying value of consolidated shareholdings

- difference between the book value and pro quota value (100.026) 7.113 (81.132) 

- goodwill/badwill on consolidation 125.093 (2.028) 86.735

Elimination of profits earned on sale of assets and infragroup shareholdings (4.278) 67 (4.345) 

Derecognition of paid dividends 829 (1.879) 

Effect of net equity valuation of shareholdings 1.392 332 1.060

Other operations 419 416 (50) 

Tax effects on consolidation adjustments 1.421 (114) 1.534

Net equity and operating profit pertaining to the Group 288.793 16.551 219.377

Net minority interest 28.116 (183) 24.472

Net equity and result for the year of the consolidated financial statements 316.909 16.368 243.849

Statement of Reconciliation of Net Equity and the Result for the Period

 
 

 

INCOME STATEMENT  
 

Changes to main items on 2006 income statement – compared with 2005 – are 

commented below. 

 

OPERATING REVENUE AND OTHER PROCEEDS  

 

25. Operating revenue and other proceeds 
Total  12/2006 € 84,490 
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 12/2005 € 80,532 

 Change   3,958 

 

The breakdown of operating revenue and other proceeds is as follows:  

 

2006  % 2.005  % Change Change %

REVENUE:

Aeronautical 52.597 62,3% 48.314 60,0% 4.283 8,9%

Commercial/Marketing 18.890 22,4% 17.385 21,6% 1.505 8,7%

Advertisement 1.600 1,9% 1.550 1,9% 50 3,2%

Ticketing 944 1,1% 858 1,1% 86 10,0%

Merchandise Handling Deposit 3.803 4,5% 3.477 4,3% 326 9,4%

Handling 503 0,6% 502 0,6% 1 0,2%

Other Revenue 6.153 7,3% 8.446 10,5% (2.293) (27,2%)

Total 84.490 100,0% 80.532 100,0% 3.958 4,9%

(in thousands of euros)

 
 

Revenue and other proceeds is shown for € 84.5 million, with year-on-year 

growth of € 3.96 million, equal to 4.9%. Aeronautical revenue is in line with the 

increase in passengers. 

 

Operating revenue 

Total  12/2006 € 78,337 

 12/2005 € 72,086 

 Change   6,251 

 

The performance in terms of revenue reflects the increased flow of passengers 

and goods in relation to ordinary operations and the movement of passengers. 

A good deal of emphasis is placed on the improved commercial penetration in 

airstation traffic. This translates to an increase in revenue from sub-contracting 

for commercial activities. 

More specifically, revenue from operations recorded an increase of approx. € 6.3 

million, i.e. 8.7%. 

 

Other income 

Total  12/2006 € 6,153 

 12/2005 € 8,446 

 Change   (2,293) 

 

This item mainly includes revenue from leases of air terminal spaces and 

chargebacks for condominium costs from sub-contractors. 

 

In the previous year, non-recurring revenue of € 2.9 million was recorded in the 

accounts, of which €1.75 million related to the company's purchase of a property 

(valued assessed independently), and € 0.8 million for collection of a previously 

wholly written-down receivable. 
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COSTS OF PRODUCTION  
Total  12/2006  € 64,801 

 12/2005 € 64,822 

 Change   (21) 

 

They are broken down as follows: 

 

26. Raw and ancillary materials and consumables 

Total  12/2006 € 1,135 

 12/2005 € 1,282 

 Change   (147) 

 

Costs are in line with the previous FY. 

 

27. Services 

 

Total  12/2006 € 28,173 

 12/2005 € 26,150 

 Change   2,023 

They are made up of the following: 
 

 2006 2005 Change  

Industrial services 19,501 17,966 1,535 

General services 5,343 4,212 1,131 

Commercial services 3,329 3,972 (643) 

Total services 28,173 26,150 2,023 

 

The main items are broken down as follows:  

Industrial services 

 2006 2005 Chan

ge  

Contract maintenance  3,020 2,660 360 

Ordinary maintenance  1,466 929 537 

Miscellaneous utilities 3,710 3,219 491 

Cleaning  2,442 2,433 9 

Airport security  5,400 5,250 150 

Industrial services 1,834 1,833 1 

Professional services 396 415 (19) 

Canteen 370 363 7 

Data transmission  573 563 10 

Other 290 301 (11) 

Total 19,501 17,966 1,535 

 



SAVE Group Consolidated Financial Statements and SAVE S.p.A. Financial Statements as at 31 December 2006 

 172

Some significant differences from the previous year include the following: 

• maintenance activities showing an increase of € 0.89 million, 0.4 million 

of which for baggage sorting system, in comparison to the year before, 

including both ordinary and scheduled maintenance. Over the year, 

scheduled maintenance amounted to € 207, therefore, the corresponding 

provision was used for the same amount; 

• miscellaneous utilities: showing the effects of higher costs relating to the 

increased price of energy on the international market. 

 

General services 

 2006 2005 Chang

e  

Insurance 1,625 1,445 180 

Professional services 1,539 1,247 292 

Remuneration and expense 

accounts for directors  
778 819 (41) 

Remuneration and expense 

accounts for auditors  
270 143 127 

Software updates 210 268 (58) 

Development costs 598 0 598 

Sundry services  323 290 33 

Total 5,343 4,212 1,131 

 

The increase in remuneration for the Board of Statutory Auditors is based on the 

value of net equity, much higher in the 2005 financial statements, as compared to 

the year before. This parameter represents the main index for calculating 

emoluments to the Statutory Auditors. 

 

Di seguito l’analisi degli emolumenti per competenza di amministratori e sindaci 

(esclusi i contributi ed i rimborsi spese). (Amounts shown in €) 
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Directors: 

 

Office Director from to Fees 

Chairman of the BoD Marchi Enrico 01/01/06 31/12/06 424.383               

Director Bertolini Laura 21/04/06 31/12/06 16.472                 

Director Bonaiti Luca 01/01/06 21/04/06 7.028                   

Director Borrini Amerigo 01/01/06 31/12/06 25.494                 

Director Calzavara Giorgio 01/01/06 21/04/06 7.028                   

Director De Puppi Luigi 21/04/06 31/12/06 19.466                 

Director Fincato Laura 01/01/06 21/04/06 900                      

Director Nordio Alberto 21/04/06 31/12/06 17.131                 

Director Olivetti Maurizio 01/01/06 21/04/06 7.628                   

Director Pessi Oliviero Edoardo 01/01/06 31/12/06 28.452                 

Director Riello Andrea 21/04/06 31/12/06 18.466                 

Director Sacchi Roberto 01/01/06 21/04/06 7.628                   

Director Sartori Amalia 01/01/06 31/12/06 26.494                 

Director Sbroggio' Mauro 21/04/06 31/12/06 16.472                 

Director Todesco Matteo 21/04/06 31/12/06 16.472                 

Director Tosi Loris 01/01/06 21/04/06 918

Director Zaia Luca 01/01/06 31/12/06 23.951                 

Director Zola Enrico 21/04/06 31/12/06 16.472                 

Director Zoppas Gianfranco 21/04/06 31/12/06 19.966                 

Total fees 700.821               

Office period

 
 

 

Board of Auditors: 

 

 

Office Director from to Fees 

Chairman of the Board of AuditorsBrunello Giampietro 21/04/06 31/12/06 9.990                   

Statutory Auditor D'Ancona Antonio 01/01/06 21/04/06 42.794                 

Statutory Auditor Arnaboldi Luca 01/01/06 21/04/06 38.930                 

Statutory Auditor De Luca Lino 01/01/06 12/12/06 54.237                 

Statutory Auditor Diana Giuseppe 01/01/06 31/12/06 75.263                 

Statutory Auditor Pastena Valter 21/04/06 21/04/06 10.866                 

Statutory Auditor Penso Guido 01/01/06 31/12/06 3.867                   

Statutory Auditor Venuti Paolo 21/04/06 21/04/06 10.526                 

Total fees 246.473               

Office period

 
 

 

Commercial services 

 

 2006 2005 Change  

Airport traffic development  2,278 3,250 (972) 

Advertising and events 1,051 722 329 

Total 3,329 3,972 (643) 

 

Costs for commercial services are basically in line with figures from the 

previous year. These costs relate to constant commercial activity with airlines, 
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aimed at optimizing promotional campaigns to improve airport traffic. 
 

The € 972 drop is due to costs sustained in 2005 for the temporary opening of a 

new flight route to the Far East. 

 

 

28. Lease and rental costs 

Total  12/2006 € 4,230 

 12/2005 € 3,506 

 Change   724 

 

They are made up of the following: 

 

 2006 2005 Change  

Airport license fee 3,758 3,138 620 

Leases and other 472 368 104 

Total lease and rental costs 4,230 3,506 724 

 

The changes are due to: 

• the increase in the airport fee is related to both an increase in passengers 

and an additional cost of seven Euro cents per departing passenger, 

mandatory as of October 2005 

The cost of the license fee was reported using the criteria applied in 2005, which 

were consistent with measuring revenue, as the Company has protested 

application of the "system requirements" regulation, which envisages a 75% 

decrease in the license fee to compensate for the potential cut in rates. 

 

29. Personnel costs 

Total  12/2006 € 16,611 

 12/2005 € 16,114 

 Change   497 

 

This item includes overall personnel costs, including promotions, cost of holiday 

leave not taken, and amounts accrued in accordance with the law and collective 

employment agreements. The increased cost of personnel is partially due to new 

financial terms in the contract for airport businesses belonging to Assaeroporti. 

Changes in staff that took place over the FY are illustrated in the following table: 
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STAFF 

Full

Time

Part

Time

Full

Time

Part

Time

Full

Time

Part

Time

Managers 9 8 1

Middle management 29 31 -2

White-collar personnel 153 12 153 14 -2

Blue-collar personnel 120 127 -7

Trainees

TOTAL 311 12 319 14 -8 -2

TOTAL STAFF

AVERAGE FULL TIME 

EQUIVALENT

31/12/2006 31/12/2005 Change 

326,4 330,6 -4,2

323 333 -10

 

 

30. Depreciation, amortization and write-downs 

 

Total  12/2006 € 10,725 

 12/2005 € 12,748 

 Change   (2,023) 

 

They can be broken down as follows: 

 

 2006 2005 Change  

Amortization and write-

downs of intangible fixed 

assets 

682 657 25 

Depreciation and write-

downs of tangible fixed assets 
10,043 12,091 (2,048) 

Total amortization and 

depreciation 
10,725 12,748 (2,023) 

 

The decrease was due for € 985 to lower depreciation relating to the end of the 

depreciation period for runways which became operational in 2002 and € 563 for 

the write-down made in 2005 of runways transferred to ENAV. 

 

31. Write-downs of short-term assets 

Total  12/2006 € 1,660 

 12/2005 € 2,680 

 Change   (1,020) 

 

The item "Write down of short term assets" includes allocations made to the 

provision for bad debts; these allocations were made according to a prudent 
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evaluation of the possible critical situations and the related risks of non-collection. 

In determining the amount to allocate, an additional evaluation was made 

regarding the size of the reserve with respect to the total amount of past due 

receivables.  

In addition to the matters discussed previously, note that allocations in the year 

amounted to € 1.7 million to cover the net risk arising from application of airport 

fees at the prevailing 2005 amounts, as the Company is involved in the dispute 

relating to the "system requirements" rule. This provision would be remarkably 

reduced if the legislation regarding "system requirements" wasn't considered. 

 

32. Variation in inventories of raw and ancillary materials, consumables 

and goods 

Total  12/2006 € 62 

 12/2005 € (22) 

 Change   84 

 

The change in inventories refers mainly to inventories of consumable materials 

and inventories of merchandise intended for resale.  

 

33. Provisions for risks 

Total  12/2006 € 255 

 12/2005 € 525 

 Change   (270) 

 

A provision was made during the year for € 0.3 million to cover potential losses 

relating to legal disputes already in progress and the respective charges and in 

relation to the risk of probable disputes or lawsuits in progress. 

 

These provisions were prudently created to cover losses which are certain or 

probable, but for which there was uncertainty as to the amount or the timing at 

year’s end.  

These refer to potential liabilities arising from legal disputes and the risk of 

disputes with suppliers or customers for amounts that are uncertain at this time. 

 

34. Provisions for assets subject to reversion free of charge 

Total  12/2006 € 930 

 12/2005 € 830 

 Change   100 

 

These amounts represent the allocation of the period to the provision for 

renewal of assets subject to reversion free of charge defined annually pursuant 

to a special assessment done by independent appraisers.  
 

35. Other charges  

Total  12/2006 € 1,020 
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 12/2005 € 1,009 

 Change   11 

 

The breakdown of sundry operating expenses is as follows: 
 

 2006 2005 Change  

• Contributions to category 

associations 
174 145 29 

• Taxes 268 227 41 

• Donations  14 52 (38) 

• Others 564 585 (21) 

Total other expenses 1,020 1,009 11 

 

Costs are in line with the previous FY. 

 

FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES 

 

36. Financial income and expenses 

Total  12/2006 € 1,901 

 12/2005 € 812 

 Change   1,089 

 

Financial income and expenses are broken down as follows: 

 

 2006 2005 Chang

e  

Financial income and write-ups of 

financial assets 
6,391 4,274 2,117 

Interest, other financial charges and write-

downs of financial assets 
(4,490

) 

(3,462

) 

(1,028

) 

Total financial income and expenses 1,901 812 1,089 

 

The change in "Financial income and write-ups of financial assets" was 

determined by the following key factors: 

• Capital gain on dismissal of some shares in Gemina S.p.A. for € 2.7 

million 

• Income for mark to market evaluation of the IRS transactions, intended to 

stabilize the cost of debt, for € 1.1 million with respect to a gain in 2005 of 

€ 0.4 million 

• lower bank interest receivable for € 0.5 million with respect to 2005 which 

was higher due to higher liquidity arising from the listing process 

• lower proceeds for € 0.4 million arising in 2005 from the closure of 

financial put & call transactions 
• lower income in 2006 for € 0.6 million relating to a capital gain for 

dismissal of a shareholding 
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The change in the item "interest, other charges and write-downs of financial 

assets" is determined predominantly by the write-down in the Nicelli S.p.A. 

shareholding. 

 

INCOME TAXES 

 

37. Income Taxes 

Total  12/2006 € 8,946 

 12/2005 € 6,536 

 Change   2,410 

 

Income taxes are broken down as follows: 

 

Taxes  2006 2005 Chang

e  

Current taxes 9,009 7,596 1,413 

Prepaid and deferred taxes (63) (1,060) 997 

Total income taxes 8,946 6,536 2,410 

 

The schedules below show the economic impact of the deferred tax and the tax 

rate in the two periods compared: 

 
Tax rate reconciliation 

(figures in thousands of euros)

FY % FY %

31-Dec-06 31-Dec-05

Before-Tax Profits 21.590             16.522             

Theoretical taxes 7.125               33,00% 5.452               33,00%

Actual taxes 8.946               41,44% 6.535               39,55%

The difference is explained by: 1.821               1.083               

1) fiscal losses previously considered recoverable during the year

2) tax incentives

3) permanent differences:

1651 7,6% 1.550               9,4%

-367 -1,7% -448 -2,7%

577 2,7% 246                  1,5%

-40 -0,2% -71 -0,4%

0 0,0% -193 -1,2%

Total difference 1821 1.083               

ix) adjustment of taxes of previous year

vi) advance taxes on future deductible IRAP charges

vii) detaxation of capital gains

i) IRAP and other local taxes

iii) effects of the tax reform on dividend taxation

iv) other non-deductible costs / non-taxed income 

 

 

Reconciliation between the theoretical applicable value for IRES and the actual 

rate shows that IRAP has a significant weight, determined by the structure of the 

characteristic costs, of which personnel costs, taxable IRAP, the taxability of 

financial charges and provisions account for one-third. 

 

The actual tax rate is 41.4% of the pre-tax results. 
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OPERATING RESULT  
Total 12/2006 € 12,644 

 12/2005 € 9,986 

 Change   2,658 

 

 

SECTOR DISCLOSURE  
The company does not group sectors or geographic areas together based on 

business activities in common.  

 

PROFIT PER SHARE 
     2006   2005 

Profit per share in euros:    

  - non diluted   0.46   0.41 

  - diluted    0.46   0.41 

 

 

Average number of shares: 27,610,810  24,474,167 

 

POLICY AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
The company does not group sectors or geographic areas together based on 

business activities in common.  

The Group strategy for financial risk management complies with company 

objectives and aims to minimize interest rate risk and related optimization of the 

cost of debt and credit and liquidity risk. 

These risks are managed while complying with principles of prudence and in 

accordance with “best practices” of the market and all risk management 

transactions are handled on a central level. 
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Additional Schedules 

Annex A

Statement of changes in intangible assets and respective amortization

(amounts in € / 1000)

Changes for the year Accumulated amortization

 % 

amort. 

 Value as at 

31.12.05 

Acquisitions Decreases and 

writedowns

Reclassifications  Value as at 

31.12.06 

 Value as at 

31.12.05 

Increases for the 

year

Uses and/or 

reclassifications
 Value as at 

31.12.06 

Net intangible 

fixed assets

1) Start-up and capital increase costs 20% 0 0 0 0 0

3) intellectual property rights and 

licences: Software

33,3%

6.160 544 148 6.851                      5.046 682 5.729                      1.122

6) Fixed assets in progress and advances. 154 133 -148 140 0 0 140

7) Other:

- Air terminal transaction 1,43% 0 0 0

- Motorway operator licenses 1,76% 0 0 0

- Deferred expenses 20% 0 0 0

- Brusutti agreement 2,26% 0 0 0

Total other intangible fixed assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total intangible fixed assets 6.314 677 0 0 6.991 5.046 682 0 5.729 1.262
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Annex B

Statement of changes in tangible assets and respective depreciation

(amounts in thousands of euros)

 Changes for the year  Accumulated amortization and depreciation 

 Valore al 

31/12/05 

 Acquisitions  

Reclassifications/Wo

rk in progress  

 Reclassifications  Decreases  Value as at 31.12.06  Value as at 

31.12.05 

 Technical   Decreases  Reclassifications 

and writedowns 

 Value as at 

31.12.06 

 Net tangible 

fixed assets 

Assets owned 
1) Land and buildings 899 899 0 0 899

2) Plant and machinery:

Total plants and machinery 24.802 942 0 0 -54 25.690 15.771 2.501 -21 18.191 7.499

3) Industrial equipment:

Total industrial equipment 2.633 168 0 0 0 2.801 1.801 244 0 0 2.045 755

4) Other assets:

Total other assets 10.301 169 0 0 -29 10.441 7.344 1.062 -28 0 8.378 2.063

5) Assets under construction and advances 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total owned assets 38.635 1.279 0 0 -83 39.831 24.856 3.808 -49 0 28.615 11.216

409                
 Changes for the year  Accumulated amortization and depreciation 

    Valore al 

31/12/05 

Acquisitions  

Reclassifications/Wo

rk in progress  

 Reclassifications Decreases  Value as at 31.12.06  Value as at 

31.12.05 

 Technical/financial   Decreases  Reclassifications 

and writedowns 

 Value as at 

31.12.06 

 Net tangible 

fixed assets 

Assets subject to reversion free of charge
6) Forecourts and roads 28.381 504 9 0 0 28.893 5.557 643 0 0 6.200 22.693

7) Buildings 78.469 719                          722 -5 79.905 13.039 3.217 16.256 63.648

8) Plants:

Total plants 35.550 1.005 394 0 -21 36.927 25.795 2.375 -3 0 28.167 8.761

Subtotal 142.399 2.228 1.124 0 -26 145.725 44.390 6.236 -3 0 50.623 95.102

 Work underway 10.142 2.141 -1.124 11.159 0 0 11.159

Public contributions 0 0 0 0

9)  Work in progress, net of completed work 10.142 2.141 -1.124 0 0 11.159 0 0 11.159

Total assets subject to reversion free of charge 152.541 4.369 0 0 -26 156.884 44.390 6.236 -3 0 50.623 106.262

Total tangible fixed assets 191.176 5.648 0 0 -109 196.715 69.246 10.044 -52 0 79.237 117.478
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Annex B 1

Statement of changes in fixed assets in progress 

(amounts in thousands of euros)

31/12/2005 Increase ReclassificationsDecrease 31/12/2006 31/12/2005 Increase Decrease

Other works being planned 800 66 -263 -17 586

New passenger terminal 301 9 310

Internal mobility system 1.161 1.161

Rainwater disposal system 38 38

New boarding tower 6 1.004 -1.004 

Master plan 546 267 813

F.O.G. Project 2.818 59 2.877

Rainwater 145 145

Slip road R5 11 69 80

New de icing forecourt 2.919 722 3.641

Financial Police and Fire Brigade station 399 1 400

Sewage canal construction 103 -103 

BHS Building 40 40

Safety runway along the lagoon 505 505

Ancillary runway 327 14 341

Air side infrastructure upgrading 146 76 222

Fixed assets in progress, Group owned assets 10.142 2.141 -1.124 11.159

Other work 

Fixed assets in progress, Group owned assets 

Total fixed assets in progress 10.142 2.141 -1.124 11.159

HISTORICAL COST CONTRIBUTIONS
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Annex C 

List of direct or indirect subsidiaries and affiliates 

(amounts in euros) as at 31 December 2006

Name Registered Office % held
Last financial statements / 

accounts
Share capital Net equity

Result for the 

period
Book value

Corresponding 

share of 

shareholders' 

equity

Difference

B A A-B

Subsidiaries

MARCO POLO PARK S.r.l. Tessera - Ve Viale G. Galilei, 30/1 100,00% 31/12/2006 (**) 516.460                   1.805.298            1.167.113         715.792            1.805.298            1.089.506         

AIRPORT ELITE S.r.l. Tessera - Ve Viale G. Galilei, 30/1 86,50% 31/12/2006 (**) 2.312.140                27.558.479          1.225.124         2.000.000         23.838.084          21.838.084       

SAVE SECURITY S.r.l. ***** Tessera - Ve Viale G. Galilei, 30/1 80,75% 31/12/2006 (**) 100.000                   192.523               22.454              65.000              155.463               +90.463

SAVE ENGINEERING S.p.A. Tessera - Ve Viale G. Galilei, 30/1 97,00% 31/12/2006 (**) 520.000                   1.101.344            404.122 243.268            1.068.303            +825.035

AEROPORTO CIVILE DI PADOVA S.p.A. Padova Via Sorio 89 62,86% 31/12/2006 (*******) 1.016.924                930.537               (86.386) 584.964 584.965               +0

N-AITEC S.r.l. Tessera - Ve Viale G. Galilei, 30/1 100,00% 31/12/2006 (**) 50.000                     415.288 270.662 90.000 415.288 325.288            

ARCHIMEDE 1 S.p.A. (****) Tessera - Ve Viale G. Galilei, 30/1 60,00% 31/12/2006 (**) 25.000.000              51.805.652          (764.773) 34.041.351       31.083.391          -2.957.960

CENTOSTAZIONI S.p.A. (****) Rome, Via B.Eustachio, 8 24,00% 31/12/2006 (**) 8.333.335                41.668.706          5.002.038 92.404.970       10.000.489          -82.404.481

AERTRE S.p.A. Treviso Via Noalese 63 45,00% 31/12/2006 (**) 3.119.840                8.479.906            629.049            725.069            3.815.963            3.090.894         

ARCHIMEDE 3 S.p.A Venice Viale G. Galilei, 30/1 100,00% 31/12/2006 (**) 50.000 59.879 (5.114) 72.500 59.879 -12.621 

ARCHIMEDE 2 S.r.l*** Catania Aeroporto Fontanarossa 86,50% 31/12/2006 (**) 400.000 415.850 97.078 400.000 359.710 -40.290 

PIAZZA DI SPAGNA S.r.l.*** Fiumicino Via dell'Aeroporto di Fiumicino 51,00% 31/12/2006 (**) 100.000 93.080 (1.882) 51.000 47.471 -3.529 

Airline, Terminal & Business Catering Holding Gmbh ***    

AIREST GROUP Vienna  AUSTRIA 86,50% 31/12/2006 (**) 35.000 8.511.814 3.472.270 5.000.000 7.362.719 2.362.719

AGRICOLA CA'BOLZAN  S.r.l. Venice Viale G. Galilei, 30/1 100,00% 31/12/2006 (**) 98.800 2.657.041 (58.804) 16.474.336 2.657.041 -13.817.295 

IDEA  2 S.r.l. Venice Viale G. Galilei, 30/1 100,00% 31/12/2006 (**) 10.000 13.294 (10.172) 27.525 13.294 -14.231 

ELITE TRE S.r.l. Venice Viale G. Galilei, 30/1 65,34% 31/12/2007 (******) 50.000 50.000 0 50.000 32.670 -17.330 

RISTOP S.r.l. Verona Via Enrico Fermi 2/4 86,50% 31/12/2006 (**) 3.000.000 917.217 (2.318.619) 42.783.321 793.393 -41.989.929 

Total subsidiaries 44.712.499              146.675.909        9.044.160         195.729.097     84.093.421          -111.635.676

Affiliates 

NICELLI S.p.A. Venezia Lido Aeroporto G. Nicelli 48,43% 31/12/2005 (*) 1.987.505                1.282.864            (167.413) 341.919            621.291               279.372            

G.A.P. S.p.A. Pantelleria Via Venezia, 32 30,26% 31/12/2005 (*) 386.250                   307.654               (9.114) 178.439            93.096                 -85.343

VENEZIA TERMINAL PASSEGGERI S.p.A. Venice Marittima Fabbricato 248 21,00% 31/05/2006 (*) 3.120.000                10.643.229          1.880.391         1.375.727         2.235.078            859.351            

GEMINA S.p.A. Milan Via Turati, 16/18 10,259% 31/12/2005 (*) 368.240.080            546.146.947        2.523.202         124.508.700     56.029.215          -68.479.485

Total affiliates 373.733.835            558.380.694        4.227.066         126.404.785     58.978.681          -67.426.105

(*): last financial statements approved by the Shareholders' Meeting

(**): last financial statements approved by the Board of Directors or Director

(***): controlled through Airport Elite S.r.l.

(****) the company Archimede 1 holds 40% of Centostazioni Spa; the residual 60% is held by Ferrovie dello Stato Group. Net shareholding percentage Save spa holds in Centostazioni totals 24%.

(*****) Save S.p.a. holds 65% of Save Security S.r.l.; Aertre S.p.a. holds the residual 35%. Net shareholding percentage Save spa holds in Save Security totals 80.75%.

(******): controlled through Airport Elite S.r.l. and Aer Tre S.p.a. - first FY will be closed on 31.12.2007

(*******): report on assets and liabilities approved by the BoD  
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The schedule below shows shareholders' equity values arising from the transactions above; the values are expressed in thousands of euro

Annex D1

Other

receivables payablesreceivablespayablesreceivablespayablesreceivablespayablesreceivablespayablesreceivablespayablesreceivablespayablesreceivablespayablesreceivablespayablesreceivablespayablesreceivablespayablesreceivablespayablesreceivablespayablesreceivablespayablesreceivablespayablesreceivablespayablesreceiavblespayables receivables payables

Save Spa 2.744 1.172 206 7.092 870 399 1.620 1.743 354 211 6.602 257 20 36 2.384 93 4.402 47 313 10.504 829 6.927 34.971

Marco Polo 1.172 2.744 13 5 14 2 1 1.199 2.752

A.Elite 7.074 182 5 12 1 187 7 376 311 2 3.325 362 36 10.940 940

S.Engineering 399 869 1 13 971 16 148 429 1.988

S.Security 1.743 1.620 2 12 1 1.755 1.746 3.387

N-aitec 212 354 98 2 212 454

Aer-Tre 6.602 7 188 966 13 1.755 1 98 9.428 202

Archimede 1 20 257 2.042 2.062 257

Archimede 2 36 376 412

Archimede 3 2.384 2.384

Centostazioni 93 311 148 16 2.042 241 2.369

Agr.Cà Bolzan 4.402 4.402

Apt Padova 313 47 2 2 315 49

Ristop

Airest 10.504 362 3.325 177 11.043 3.325

Pzza Spagna 36 36

Fin. Internaz. 829 177 1.006

Other 4 4

Totals 34.954 6.902 2.751 1.196 965 10.959 1.984 429 3.389 1.746 454 211 201 9.433 257 2.062 412 2.384 2.369 241 4.402 49 316 3.325 11.043 36 1.006 4 51.740 51.740

Pzza di SpagnaArchimede 1 Archimede 2 TotalCentostazioni Archimede 3 Cà Bolzan Fin.InternazionaleApt Padova Ristop AirestN-aitec Aer-TreSave Spa Airport Elite Save Engineering Save SecurityMarco Polo



S
A
V
E
 G
ro
u
p
 C
o
n
so
lid

ated
 F
in
an
cial S

tatem
en
ts an

d
 S
A
V
E
 S
.p
.A
. F

in
an
cial S

tatem
en
ts as at 3

1
 D
ecem

b
er 2

0
0
6
 

 
1
8
7

 

The schedule below shows the economic values arising from the transactions above; the values are expressed in thousands of euro

Annex D2

Other

Costs Revenues Costs Revenues Costs Revenues Costs Revenues Costs Revenues Costs Revenues Costs Revenues Costs Revenues Costs Revenues Costs Revenues Costs Revenues Costs Revenues Costs Revenues Costs Revenues Costs Revenues Costs Revenues Costs Revenues Costs Revenues

Save Spa 4.034 81 5.108 974 279 159 515 5.407 56 71 410 11 51 4 12 32 254 86 10.766 6.778

Marco Polo 86 4.034 27 26 11 2 139 4.047

A.Elite 974 5.108 23 5 25 378 136 7 6 719 36 1.146 6.271

S.Engineering 159 279 4 1 160 283

S.Security 5.407 515 11 22 1 1.400 6.818 538

N-aitec 71 56 4 1 76 56

Aer-Tre 410 378 25 1.400 4 378 1.839

Archimede 1 10 59 69

Archimede 2 51 7 136 7 187

Archimede 3

Centostazioni 4 719 6 59 778 10

Cà Bolzan 12 12

Apt Padova 32 2 1 2 33

Ristop

Airest 254 36 177 36 431

Pzza Spagna

Fin. Internaz. 86 177 263

Non-deductible VAT 15 15

Totals 6.783 10.765 4.047 126 6.275 1.145 284 160 542 6.818 56 76 1.839 378 70 187 7 10 778 12 33 2 431 36 263 15 20.569 20.569

Pzza di Spagna Fin.Internazionale TOTALCentostazioni Archimede 1 Archimede 2Save Spa Airport Elite Save Engineering Save Security Archimede 3Marco Polo N-aitec Aer-Tre Cà Bolzan Apt Padova Ristop Airest
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REPORT OF THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR 
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Appendixes  

Transition to International Accounting Standards (IAS/IFRS) 
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Financial figures for Save S.p.A. regarding the FY ending on 31 

December 2005 and reclassified in accordance with IFRS standards 

adopted by the EU 
 

 

Introduction 

Following enforcement of (EC) Regulation No. 1606/2002 issued by the 

European Parliament and by the European Council in July 2002, as from 1 

January 2005 companies with shares admitted for trading in a market regulated by 

EU member states must draft their consolidated financial statements in 

compliance with the international accounting standards or international financial 

reporting standards (IAS/IFRS), issued by the International Accounting Standard 

Board (IASB) and standardised at a EU level. 

Through EU Law 2003 (L.306/2003), Italian Parliament imparted mandate to the 

Italian Government to enforce a legislative decree providing for the obligation for 

listed companies to apply IAS/IFRS also in drafting their annual financial 

statements. According to legislative decree no. 38 of 28 February 2005, the Italian 

government established the option for listed companies to draft their FY 2005 

financial statements in compliance with IAS/IFRS, and the obligation to do so 

starting in 2006. 

In compliance with current legislation, during FY 2005 (the first year for 

application of international accounting standards) the Save Group chose to 

proceed as follows: 

a)  predisposizione della prima relazione trimestrale consolidata al 31 marzo 

2005 secondo i principi contabili italiani e comunicazione delle attività in corso 

per la transizione ai principi contabili internazionali IAS/IFRS; 

b)  To draft the consolidated half-yearly statement as at 30 June 2005 – 

according to the provisions of article 81 bis, half-yearly report, transition regime) 

in accordance with Italian accounting standards, and prepare reconciliation 

schedules comparing earnings of the first half of 2005 and net equity as at 30 June 

2005 with the figures calculated through application of IAS/IFRS. The above 

document, annexed to the half-yearly statement in compliance with Consob ruling 

no. 14990 of 14 April 2005, is related to the reconciliation schedule required by 

IFRS 1, showing net equity as at 1 January 2004 and 31 December 2004, as well 

as earnings for 2004, calculated through application of Italian accounting 

standards, compared with respective values under application of IAS/IFRS; 

 

First Time Adoption – IFRS 1 on Save S.p.A.’s “individual” financial 

statements 

 

In accordance with legislative decree no. 38 of 28 February 2005, Save S.p.A. 

presented its “individual” financial statements, balance sheet and income 

statement, and economic result in compliance with IAS/IFRS, starting on 1 

January 2006. 

 
As required by IFRS 1, on the date of transition to IAS/IFRS, the new 

international accounting standards (1 January 2005), an initial balance sheet was 

prepared in which: 

- only assets and liabilities permitted under new IFRS standards were stated; 

- items not permitted according to IFRS were not recorded under assets and 

liabilities; 
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- assets, liabilities, and net equity items were reclassified based on IFRS 

guidelines; 

- IFRS standards were applied to all assets and liabilities recorded 

 

The effect of the adjustment of the initial balances of assets and liabilities to the 

new standards was entered to net equity in a special reserve for profits carried 

forward net of tax effects. Transition to IAS/IFRS allowed estimates 

previously formulated according to Italian accounting standards to be 

maintained as long as the new IAS/IFRS standards did not require figures to 

be calculated using different methods. 
 

In this appendix, the following are available: 

a) notes regarding the rules for first-time application of IAS/IFRS (IFRS 1) 

and the other IAS/IFRS standards selected, including the assumptions of 

the directors regarding the IAS/IFRS standards and interpretations that 

will be in force and the accounting policies that will be adopted at the time 

of drafting the first complete annual financial statement prepared using 

IAS/IFRS as at 31 December 2006; 

b) Reconciliation between balance sheets drafted in compliance with Italian 

accounting standards and IAS/IFRS balance sheets as at 1 January 2005 

and 31 December 2005; 

c) Reconciliation between income statement drafted in compliance with 

Italian accounting standards and IAS/IFRS income statement for FY 

closed on 31 December 2005; 

d) Comments to the main adjustments to balance sheet and income statement 

items; 

e) Reconciliation between net equity as at 1 January 2005 and 31 December 

2005 and reconciliation of economic results for FY closed on 31 

December 2005 between Italian accounting standards and IAS/IFRS; 

f) report on changes in net equity, reclassified according to IAS/IFRS, as at 1 

January, 2005 and 31 December, 2005. 

 

The reconciliation of the cash flow statement for FY 2005 is not presented here, in 

that the effects deriving from the application of international IAS/IFRS have had 

no significant impact. 

 

One should note that these schedules, being prepared only for the purpose of the 

transition project to draft the first complete financial statements as at 31 

December 2006 in accordance with the IFRS approved by the European 

Commission, lack the comparative figures and necessary notes which would be 

required for a complete picture of Save S.p.A. balance sheet and income statement 

under IAS/IFRS. Such additional information will be supplied on the occasion of 

the preparation of the first individual financial statements as at 31 December 

2006. 

 

Please also note that these reports were released in compliance with the IAS/IFRS 

standards which will be used in order to provide comparative data for the first 

annual financial statements drafted under IFRS, as at 31 December 

2006.However, these standards may not coincide with those in force as at 31 

December 2006, due to new European Commission policies regarding their 

approval, or new standards, interpretations or implementation guides issued by 
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IASB or International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRIC), 

possibly with retroactive effect, and therefore the information presented could be 

subject to changes for the purpose of its use as comparative data in the first annual 

statement drafted under IFRS. 

 
Accounting options adopted in the phase of first application of IAS/IFRS 

 

During first application of IFRS rules the restatement of the initial financial 

position on the date of transition required certain preliminary choices among the 

options provided for by IFRS 1, as detailed below. 

 

Accounting structure presentation method 

The "current/non current” criteria was adopted for the accounting structure of the 

balance sheet, while for the income statement the structure employed was used to 

classify costs given their nature. This lead to a reclassification of historical 

financial statements prepared according to the structure provided by Legislative 

Decree 127/1991. 

 

A. Optional exemptions and mandatory exceptions from application of the IFRS 

approved by the European Commission 

 

Historical cost or revalued cost (as an alternative to the fair value) maintained as a 

valuation criteria for tangible and intangible fixed assets. 

 

Actuarial profits and losses accrued between the start of the plan and the date of 

transition to the IFRS are recognized fully to the shareholders' equity. 

 

Mandatory exceptions provided by the IFRS 1 during first time application of the 

IFRS approved by the European Commission 

 

Financial assets and/or liabilities other than derivatives related to transactions 

made before 1 January 2005, which were eliminated in the financial statements 

drafted according to Italian Accounting Standards, cannot be recognized and are 

therefore reinstated. 

 
Estimates made at the date of transition to the IFRS homologated by the European 

Commission must comply with the estimates made at the date according to Italian 

Accounting Standards (after adjustments made to reflect any differences in the 

accounting policies). 

 

 

Methods selected from accounting options included in the European 

Commission’s standardised IFRS  

 

Following the initial entry at cost, such assets may be measured at cost (and 

amortised) or at fair value in accordance with IAS 16 and IAS 38.  The Company 

chose to adopt the cost method. 

 

IAS 23 – Financial expenses: financial charges may be charged directly to the 

income statement, or under certain conditions, it may be possible to capitalize the 
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charges on the acquisition, construction, or production cost of a related asset that 

can be capitalized.  The decision was to charge them to the income statement. 

 

 

Accounting standards adopted  

 

This section outlines the principles and criteria adopted in order to determine the 

impact on equity and finances resulting from the application of IAS/IFRS. 

It should be made clear that the criteria described in this section may not 

correspond with IFRS provisions in force as at 31 December 2006 due to 

subsequent European Commission policies regarding the standardisation of 

international accounting standards, or release of new standards, interpretations, or 

implementation guides issued by relevant authorities. 

 

Applied valuation standards 

 

The principles followed in order to measure the impact resulting from the 

application of IAS/IFRS are described in the following section. 

 

 

Fixed assets 

 

Intangible fixed assets 

Intangible assets refer to assets without identifiable physical form, controlled by 

the company, which can generate future economic benefits in addition to goodwill 

when acquired for consideration. 

Intangible fixed assets are entered at purchase or production cost, including 

additional charges, if any. Amounts are net of amortization charges, 

systematically calculated on a straight-line basis in relation to the remaining 

useful life of the asset or capitalized cost, according to IAS 36. 

Amortization is applied systematically throughout the life of the asset, according 

to the estimated prospects of economic use. The outstanding value at the end of 

the useful life is presumed to be zero, unless there is a commitment by third 

parties to acquire the asset at the end of its life or if there is a market for the asset. 

Directors review the useful life of the intangible asset at the end of each year. 

 

The estimated useful life of the various types of intangible assets are shown 

below: 

 

 

Category Amortisation period  

Patent and intellectual property rights: software 3, 5 years 

Other:  

- Sundry deferred expenses 5 years 

 

 

Patents and use of intellectual property rights refer mainly to the costs of using 

and personalizing operating software 
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Tangible fixed assets 

Tangible assets are made up of “company-owned assets” and “assets subject to 

reversion free of charge” made up of technical assets subject to concession 

(runways, buildings, parking lots, roads and connected installations). 

 

They are entered at the purchase or realisation cost which includes the price paid 

to purchase or construct the asset (net of discounts and allowances) and any costs 

directly attributable to the purchase and the putting into operation of the asset. 

Assets held by third parties are valued at the fair value based on a specific 

assessment.  

The purchase price or realisation cost is understood to be net of public capital 

contributions which are disclosed when the conditions for their concession are 

verified. 

 

The assets subject to reversion free of charge are depreciated in the duration 

period of the concession or the useful life of the asset, if lower. Improvement, 

upgrading and transformation costs, which add value to the tangible assets, are 

entered into the net assets. The expense fund for restoring the assets subject to 

reversion free of charge is entered among the provisions for liabilities and 

charges. 

 

Assets subject to reversion free of charge relating to licensing contracts are 

subject to examination by the IFRIC. Lacking a specific interpretation, Save has 

not modified its standard for evaluating licenses, which is based on the best 

accounting practice currently in force. 

 

Tangible assets are shown net of related accumulated depreciation and any 

impairment, determined according to the methods described below. Depreciation 

is calculated at fixed rates based on the asset's estimated useful life. 

The replacement cost of identifiable components of complex assets is charged to 

the balance sheet and depreciated for the remaining useful life. The residual book 

value of the component to be replaced is entered into the income statement. 

 

The residual value and useful life of the tangible assets are reviewed at least at the 

end of each financial period to reveal any impairment, if events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying value can no longer be recovered.  Should 

such events take place, and should book values be above estimated selling price, 

assets are written down as long as they reflect their selling price. The selling price 

of tangible assets will be whichever is greater, its net selling price or its value in 

use. 

 

Impairment is reported in the income statement under depreciation costs.  This 

impairment is reversed should the motives which generated it cease to exist. 

 

At the moment of sale, or when future economic benefits for using the good no 

longer subsist, these are removed from the financial statements, and potential 

losses or profits (calculated as the difference between the sales value and the book 

value) are entered into the income statement for the year in which they were 

removed.  

 



SAVE Group Consolidated Financial Statements and SAVE S.p.A. Financial Statements as at 31 December 2006 

 196

If an asset is made up of components that have different useful lives or provide 

benefits, depreciation is made for each individual component. Land, also when 

acquired together with a building, is not subject to depreciation, as well as 

tangible assets held for sale that are valued at the lower of the book value and the 

fair value, net of disposal charges. 

 

Maintenance and repair charges, that are not object of revaluation and/or extend 

the outstanding residual life of the assets, expensed in the year in which they are 

incurred; otherwise, they are capitalized. 

 

The annual rates applied to the main intangible assets are: 

 

 

 

Category 

 

Assets owned  

 

 

Assets subject to reversion free of 

charge 

Land, runways, forecourts, 

and roads 

1% Remaining duration of concession 

(2041) 

 

Light constructions and 

buildings  

 10.0% 4% and residual duration 

of the concession (2041) 

Runway equipment 

machinery 

31.5%  

Operating machinery 10.0%  

- Sundry machinery/other 

systems 

15%  

Heating and cooling 

systems, chilling systems 

and other 

 15.0% 

Electrical systems   4% and residual duration of the 

concession (2041) 

Remote signalling and 

alarm systems 

25.0%  

Other runway systems  31.5% 

Other systems  20.0% - 30.0% 

Impianti di aspirazione  7.5% 

Equipment 15.0%  

Shop equipment 15%  

Health equipment  12.50%  

Motor vehicles  20.0%  

Electronic equipment  20.0%  

Office equipment and 

furnishings 

15.0% - 12.0%  

 

 

Assets on financial lease 

Financial lease contracts, that basically transfer all the risks and benefits coming 

from the property of the leased good to the Company, are capitalized from the 

start date of the lease contract at the fair value of the leased good or, if lower, at 

the current value of the lease fees Lease fees are divided between the capital quota 

and the interest quota in order to apply a constant interest rate on the remaining 
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balance of the debt (capital quota). Financial charges are charged to the income 

statement. 

Capitalized leased goods are amortized based on their estimated useful life. 

 

Impairment in tangible and intangible assets 

The accounting values of the tangible and intangible assets of the Company are 

valued each time there are clear internal or external signals indicating the 

possibility of a value loss of the asset or group of assets (known as the Cash-

Generating Unit or C.G.U.). 

 

To test for impairment, the carrying value of the asset or cash-generating unit is 

compared with its recoverable value, given by the higher of fair value (net of sales 

expenses) and the value of time-discounted net cash flows that are expected to be 

produced by the asset or the CGU. 

The conditions and methods for reversing the value of an impaired asset applied 

by the Group, without prejudice to the inability to reverse impairment on 

goodwill, are as laid down by the IAS 36. 

 

Financial fixed assets 

Shareholdings are valued using the cost method. The cost is reduced in the case of 

impairment recorded by the subsidiaries for which the Company does not expect 

to earn income to offset them; the original cost is reinstated in subsequent periods, 

if the impairment is eliminated. 

 

When the reasons for write-downs made cease to exist, shareholdings valued at 

cost are written back to the amount of the write-downs made and are booked to 

the income statement. Risks arising from losses exceeding shareholders' equity are 

booked in a special reserve in the amount in which the company is obliged to 

fulfil the legal or implicit obligations toward the invested company or in any 

event, to cover its losses. 

 

Receivables and financial assets to be held until maturity are booked at cost, 

represented by the fair value of the original amount given in exchange, plus all 

related transaction costs (e.g. fees, advisors, etc). The original book value is 

subsequently adjusted to account for refunds in the capital amount, any write-

downs or amortization of the difference between the repayment value and the 

original subscription value; following initial recording, amortization is charged 

using the effective original interest rate represented by the rate that equalizes (at 

the time of initial posting) the current value of the cash flows and the value of 

original booking (the amortized cost method). 

 

Financial assets available for the sale are reported at the fair value, charging any 

differences respect to the purchase cost to the shareholders' equity item "other 

reserves." When the purchase or sale of the financial asset requires settlement of 

the transaction or delivery of the asset by a certain number of days, established by 

the market control authorities or by other convention (e.g. acquisition of securities 

on the regulated markets), the transaction is recorded at the date of settlement. 
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Current assets 

 

Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of the purchase or production cost and the 

estimated realizable value represented by the amount that the company expects to 

obtain from their sale in ordinary operations. The cost of inventories is determined 

by applying the weighted average cost method 

 

Accounts Receivable 

Trade receivables which mature within a normal commercial timespan are not 

discounted, and are entered at cost (identified by their nominal value) net of any 

impairment, representing fair value on the reference date. These are adjusted to 

their estimated realizable value through the use of a specific reserve, which is set 

up when there is objective evidence that the Company will no longer be able to 

collect on the credit for its original value. Allowances for the provision for bad 

debts are charged to the income statement. 

 

Other financial assets 

Financial assets held for trading are booked on the basis of the date of trading and, 

at the time of original booking in the balance sheet, are valued at cost, represented 

by the fair value of the original amount given in exchange, including related 

transaction costs. 

 

Subsequent to initial booking, other current financial assets are valued at the fair 

value.  Fair value is determined in reference to the bid price at the date of closure 

of the period in question; the fair value of instruments not listed is determined 

using commonly used financial assessment techniques. Changes in the fair value 

of instruments belonging to this category are booked to the income statement. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include quantifiable investments that are short-term or 

convertible on demand, without risk of significant changes in value and expenses 

for their conversion.  

 

Liabilities entered as fixed assets 

 

Employee benefits  

The benefits guaranteed to employees distributed during or subsequent to ending 

the employment relationship through defined benefits programmes (employee 

severance indemnity) or other long-term benefits are recognized in the period the 

benefit accrues. 

 

The liability related to defined benefit programmes, net of any assets used in the 

plan, is determined on the basis of actuarial projections, and is shown on an 

accrual basis in relation to the services necessary to obtain these benefits; this 

liability is calculated by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit 

method. Gains and losses arising from the actuarial calculation are charged to the 

income statement as a cost or revenue regardless of their value, without using the 

"corridor method". 

The amount reflects payables accrued at the year-end date of the financial 

statements as well as future salary increases and correlated statistical dynamics. 
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Provision for liabilities and charges 

Provisions for liabilities and charges concern specific costs and charges and those 

which are certain or probable and whose amounts are as yet to be determined at 

the closing date of the FY.   Provisions are posted when: 

(i) there is likely to be a current, legal or implicit obligation arising from a past 

event; 

(ii) it is likely that the obligation is fulfilled for a consideration; 

(iii) the amount of the obligation can be estimated in a reliable manner. 

 

Provisions are registered at a value representative of the best estimate – 

sometimes supported by experts – of the amount the business would pay to 

discharge the obligation, that is, to transfer it onto a third party at the closing date 

for the period.  When the financial effect of the time is significant and the 

payment dates of the liabilities can be reliably estimated, the provision is object of 

time-discounting. The increase in the provision connected with the passage of 

time is recognized in the income statement under the item “Financial income 

(expenses)”. 

When the liability refers to tangible assets (demolition of assets), the provision is 

posted to cover the asset it refers to; the income statement is charged through the 

depreciation process. 

The provisions are periodically updated to reflect changes in the cost estimates, 

implementation times, and the discount rate; reviews of the estimate of the 

reserves are charged to the same item in the income statement which has 

previously held the allocation or, when the liability relates to tangible assets, to 

balance the asset to which it refers. 

 

With particular reference to the accounting methods for items concerning 

businesses operating in concession regimes, such as assets subject to reversion 

free of charge and the provision for adjustment and replacement, there is still 

some uncertainty as to the regulations. As of today, international accounting 

standards do not contain specific provisions on this matter and it is, therefore, still 

open to debate among national and international authorities.  

Because this ambiguity surrounding criteria to be applied is still an issue, it is held 

to be in best interest, both in terms of maintaining consistency with the past and 

prudent interpretation (should there be a lacuna in regulations provided by 

international standards, it is absolutely necessary to resort to local accounting 

standards), to continue with the accounting methods applied thus far. This without 

impacting for IAS/IFRS purpose equity and finances on the accounting of assets 

subject to reversion free of charge and the related provision of reinstatement to 

perfect state of use upon termination of the concession itself. 

 

As mentioned before, the interpretation to be standardised in 2006, with the 

possibility of advanced application, should not cause any significant changes to 

the income statement. 

 

Trade payables and other non financial liabilities 

Trade payables, which mature within a normal commercial time-span are not 

discounted, and are entered at cost (identified by their face value). Payables 

denominated in foreign currency are recorded at the exchange rate in force on the 
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date of the transaction and, subsequently, translated to the year-end rate. Gains or 

losses arising from the translation are booked to the income statement. 

Other liabilities are posted at cost (identified by the par value). 

 

Other financial liabilities  

Other financial liabilities, except for derivatives, are initially recognized at cost, 

which corresponds to the fair value of the liability, net of the transaction costs 

which are directly attributed to issue of the liability. 

 

After initial recording, financial liabilities are valued using the amortized cost 

method, using the effective original interest rate represented by the rate that 

equalizes the current value of the cash flows and the value of original posting (the 

amortized cost method) at the time of initial posting. 

 

Derivative instruments 

Gli strumenti derivati sono attività e passività rilevate al fair value. Derivatives 

are designated as hedging instruments when the hedging relationship is formally 

documented, and periodic verification shows the hedge to be highly effective.  

 

When derivatives hedge the risk of changes in the cash inflows of the hedged 

instruments (cash flow hedges: hedging of changes in cash flows of assets and 

liabilities due to interest rate fluctuation), changes in fair value of derivatives are 

initially recognized in net equity, and subsequently posted to the income 

statement, in accordance with the economic effects produced by the hedged item. 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives which do not meet the conditions to be 

designated hedging instruments are recorded in the income statement. 

 

Derivatives are classified as hedging instruments when the relationship between 

the derivative and the item hedged is formally documented, either ex ante, when 

the decision is made to hedge it, or during the period of the hedge's validity, in 

order to verify or periodically confirm its level of effectiveness. In keeping with 

the strategy it has chosen, the Company does not perform derivative transactions 

for speculative purposes. Nevertheless, if formal and documentary requirements 

are not fulfilled, such operations, though they can be economically defined as 

hedging operations, are not so from an accounting standpoint. 

 

Accounting for income 

Revenues are posted in the amount in which it is possible to reliably determine the 

fair value and it is likely that the related economic benefits will be used. 

Ordinary revenue, earned on services, is booked with reference to the state of 

completion of the transaction at the date when the financial statements are drafted. 

 

Revenues are booked net of returns, discounts, bonuses, and promotional charges 

directly related to sales revenues as well as directly related taxes. 

Commercial discounts, directly charged as a deduction to the revenues, were 

calculated based on contracts signed with airline carriers and tour operators. 

Royalties are booked on an accrual basis according to the substance of the 

contract agreements. 

Interest income is booked according to an accrual principle, based on which the 

actual yield of the asset to which it refers is considered. 

Dividends are shown when shareholders become entitled to receive payment. 
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Recording of costs and expenses  

Costs are recognized when they relate to assets and services sold or used during 

the year or by systematic allocation, or when the future use cannot be determined. 

 

Income taxes for the period 

Deferred and prepaid taxes are calculated on all temporary differences which arise 

between the assets and liabilities entered in financial statements and their 

corresponding values recognized for tax purposes. Prepaid tax assets are entered 

when likely to be recovered. The book value of deferred tax assets is revised on 

each date of reporting, and if needed is reduced to the extent it is not likely that 

there will be sufficient taxable income to allow said assets to be recovered in 

whole or in part. These reductions are reversed should the reasons which 

generated them cease to exist. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current and current assets 

and liabilities, in relation to their usability and are offset on an individual 

company level if they refer to offsettable taxes. The balance of the offset, if 

positive, is booked to the item "Prepaid tax assets"; if negative, to "Liabilities for 

deferred taxation”. When the results of the transactions are posted directly to 

shareholders' equity, current taxes, prepaid tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 

are also recorded to shareholders' equity. 

 

The rates used to calculate deferred taxation, which reflects prospective taxation 

in compliance with current legislation, are the following: 

 

IRES 33.00%  

IRAP (regional tax on productive activity)    4.25%  

 

Profit per share 

Profit per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the period attributable 

to the company’s shareholders by the weighted average number of outstanding 

shares of common stock over the period. 

For the purposes of measuring diluted earnings per share, the weighted average of 

outstanding shares is modified while assuming the conversion of all the potential 

shares having a diluting effect. 

 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of the accounts and related notes according to IAS/IFRS requires 

the Management to use estimates and assumptions that have an effect on the 

values of the assets and liabilities in the accounts and on the reporting of potential 

assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. The final results could 

differ from these estimates. Estimates are used to show provisions for bad debts, 

amortisation and depreciation, write-downs on assets, employee benefits, taxes, 

and provisions for liabilities and charges. Estimates and assumptions are subject 

to periodic review, and the effects of all changes are immediately reflected in the 

income statement. 
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Reconciliation between balance sheet drafted in compliance with Italian 

standards and balance sheet drafted in compliance with IAS/IFRS as at 1 

January 2005  

 

Adjustment to the IFRS of the items in the balance sheet of the financial 

statements at 1 January 2005 is as follows: 

 

 
ASSETS ITALIAN RECLASSIFICATIONS ADJUSTMENTS STANDARDS

NOTES  STANDARDS IAS/IFRS IAS/IFRS IAS/IFRS

(in thousands of euros) 01/01/2005 01/01/2005

Cash and cash equivalents 26 26

Financial assets

Tax assets 1.019 1.019

Tax credit for advance payments (8) 497 1.423 1.920

Other receivables (13) 15.611 -319 15.292

Trade receivables 21.393 21.393

Inventories 703 703

Total current assets 39.249 -319 1.423 40.353

Own tangible assets (4) (6) 17.865 466 18.331

Tangible assets subject to reversion free of charge (5) (10) 100.154 -1.040 99.114

Intangible fixed assets (1) (2) (3) 4.242 -1.511 2.731

Shareholdings (7) 38.210 38.210

Other financial assets 2.469 2.469

Tax credit for advance payments 2.163 2.163

Other receivables 166 166

Total non current assets 165.269 -2.085 163.184

TOTAL ASSETS 204.517 -319 -661 203.537

LIABILITIES AND NET EQUITY STANDARDS RECLASSIFICATIONS ADJUSTMENTS STANDARDS

NOTES ITALIAN IAS/IFRS IAS/IFRS IAS/IFRS

(in thousands of euros) 01/01/2005 01/01/2005

Trade payables 14.404 14.404

Other payables 9.669 9.669

Payables to tax authorities 3.333 3.333

Payables to social security authorities 967 967

Payables to banks 31.931 31.931

Other financial liabilities – current share (6) (14) 1.436 1.436

Total current liabilities 60.304 1.436 61.740

Other payables

Financial payables net of current share to banks 62.563 62.563

Financial payables net of current share to others (6) 122 122

Provision for deferred taxes (12) 3.877 249 4.125

Provision for severance indemnity and other staff provisions (11) 5.043 -387 4.656

Other provisions for liabilities and charges (13) 6.774 -319 6.455

Total non current liabilities 78.257 -319 -16 77.922

TOTAL LIABILITIES 138.561 -319 1.420 139.661

Share capital 13.000 13.000

Other reserves (9) 45.822 -2.081 43.741

Profits / losses for the period (9) 7.135 7.135

TOTAL NET EQUITY 65.957 -2.081 63.876

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET EQUITY 204.517 -319 -661 203.537  
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Reconciliation between income statement drafted in compliance with Italian 

standards and income statement drafted in compliance with IAS/IFRS for 

FY 2005 
 

Adjustment to the IFRS of the items in the income statement of 2005 financial 

statements is as follows: 

 

 

 
ITALIAN RECLASSIFICATIONS ADJUSTMENTS STANDARDS

NOTES  STANDARDS IAS/IFRS IAS/IFRS IAS/IFRS

(in thousands of euros) 2005 2005 2005 2005

Operating revenue 72.086 72.086

Other income 9.088 9.088

Total operating revenue and other income 81.174 81.174

Operating costs

Raw and ancillary materials and consumables 1.260 1.260

Services (19) 25.908 242 26.150

Lease and rental costs (18) 3.640 -134 3.506

Personnel:

Wages and salaries and social contribution charges 15.364 15.364

Severance indemnity (15) 742 -155 587

other costs 163 163

Depreciation, amortization and write-downs

Intangible fixed assets (16) 2.103 -1.446 657

Tangible fixed assets (17) (18) 11.591 499 12.091

Write-downs of short-term assets 2.680 2.680

Allocations for risks (19) 767 -242 525

Provisions for assets subject to reversion free of charge 830 830

Other charges 1.010 1.010

Total operating costs 66.058 -1.236 64.823

Operating result 15.116 1.236 16.351

Financial income and reassessment of financial assets 2.271 2.271

Interest, other financial charges and writedowns to financial assets (18) (20) -3.545 83 -3.462

Investment income 1.361 1.361

87 83 170

Pre-tax result 15.203 1.319 16.522

Income Taxes 6.055 480 6.536

current 7.596 7.596

deferred (21) -1.540 480 -1.060

Profit (loss) for the year 9.148 838 9.986  
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Reconciliation between balance sheet drafted in compliance with Italian 

standards and balance sheet drafted in compliance with IAS/IFRS as at 31 

December 2005  

 

Adjustment to the IFRS of the items in the balance sheet of the financial 

statements at 31 December 2005 is as follows: 

 

 
ASSETS ITALIAN RECLASSIFICATIONS ADJUSTMENTS STANDARDS

NOTES  STANDARDS IAS/IFRS IAS/IFRS IAS/IFRS

(in thousands of euros) 31/12/2005 31/12/2005

Cash and cash equivalents 19.792 19.792

Financial assets (7) 12.852 -12.852

Tax assets 1.775 1.775

Tax credit for advance payments (8) 718 5.462 6.180

Other receivables (13) 15.101 -466 14.636

Trade receivables 19.881 19.881

Inventories 725 725

Total current assets 70.845 -13.318 5.462 62.989

Own tangible assets (4) (6) 13.369 410 13.779

Tangible assets subject to reversion free of charge (5) (10) 109.633 -1.483 108.150

Intangible fixed assets (1) (2) (3) 12.468 -11.201 1.267

Shareholdings (7) 135.996 12.852 -6.397 142.452

Other financial assets 4.894 4.894

Tax credit for advance payments 3.136 3.136

Other receivables 72 72

Total non current assets 279.568 12.852 -18.671 273.750

TOTAL ASSETS 350.414 -466 -13.209 336.739

LIABILITIES AND NET EQUITY ITALIAN RECLASSIFICATIONS ADJUSTMENTS STANDARDS

NOTES  STANDARDS IAS/IFRS IAS/IFRS IAS/IFRS

(in thousands of euros) 31/12/2005 31/12/2005

Trade payables 18.179 18.179

Other payables 11.046 11.046

Payables to tax authorities 8.869 8.869

Payables to social security authorities 1.082 1.082

Payables to banks 12.726 12.726

Other financial liabilities – current share (6) (14) 1.312 1.312

Total current liabilities 51.902 1.312 53.214

Other payables

Financial payables net of current share to banks 52.938 52.938

Financial payables net of current share to others (6) 30 30

Provision for deferred taxes (12) 3.530 332 3.862

Provision for severance indemnity and other staff provisions (11) 4.817 -542 4.275

Other provisions for liabilities and charges (13) 7.311 -466 6.845

Total non current liabilities 68.596 -466 -180 67.950

TOTAL LIABILITIES 120.499 -466 1.132 121.164

Share capital 17.986 17.986

Other reserves (9) 202.782 -15.180 187.602

Profits / losses for the period (9) 9.148 838 9.986

TOTAL NET EQUITY 229.916 -14.341 215.575

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET EQUITY 350.414 -466 -13.209 336.739  
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Changes in net equity as at 1 January 2005 and 31 December 2005 

 

The following report presents the changes in net equity which took place over the 

course of 2005. 

 

 

 
CHANGES IN NET EQUITY 

(in thousands of euros)

(in thousands of euros)

Share 

Capital 

Legal 

reserve

Share 

premium 

reserve

Own 

share 

reserve

Other 

reserves

Results 

carried 

forward 

from 

previous 

years  

Total 

reserves

Profit (losses) 

for the year / 

period  

Net equity 

Balance as at 31 December 

2004 (Italian standards) 13.000       2.600       43.222     45.822       7.135            65.957           

-            -                 

Initial impacts of IFRSs 2.081-          2.081-         2.081-             

IFRSs Balance at 1 January 

2005
13.000       2.600       43.222     2.081-          43.741       7.135            63.876           

-                 

Allocation of 2004 result 1.635       1.635         1.635-            -                 

Capital increase 4.986         148.337       148.337     153.323         

Dividend payment 5.500            5.500             

Fair value assessment of securities  6.111-       6.111-         6.111-             

Other movements  

2005 result 9.986            9.986             

-                 

Balance as at 31 December 

2005  
17.986       2.600       148.337       -          38.746     2.081-          187.602     9.986            215.575          
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Comments on the primary IAS/IFRS adjustments made to entries calculated 

through application of Italian standards 

 

The following section illustrates the main IAS/IFRS adjustments (previously 

outlined in the section “Reference Standards”) made to figures in the financial 

statements as at 1 January 2005 and 31 December 2005 and drafted according to 

Italian accounting standards. 

Reference will first be made to the impact on the balance sheet (both initial and 

final) and subsequently to the relevant counterparty on the income statement. 

 

1. Start-up and expansion costs 

During the previous financial years, Save S.p.A. capitalised start-up and 

expansion costs in accordance with CNDDCC Accounting Standard 24. 

Under IAS 38 and SCI 17, these costs, unlike those incurred in relation to capital 

operations, do not fulfil conditions for entry as intangible assets, and must be 

charged to the income statement. 

 

This accounting practice differs from Italian accounting standards, with the 

following results: 

- at 1 January 2005: a reduction of € 183 thousand in intangible assets, which, 
net of € 68 thousand in tax-related effects (for prepaid taxes entered as 

assets) entails a reduction of € 115 thousand in total net equity; 

- at 31 December 2005: a reduction of € 91 thousand in intangible assets, 
which, net of € 34 thousand in tax-related effects (for prepaid taxes entered 

as assets) entails a reduction of € 57 thousand in total net equity which is 

determined in large amount by an increase of gross profits of € 92 

thousands.  

 

2. Deferred expenses 

In previous financial years, Save S.p.A. capitalised expenses related to 

transactions and agreements entered into in previous years, which are amortised 

based on the length of the concession, in accordance with CNDDCC Accounting 

Standard 24. 

Under IAS 38 and SCI 17, these costs, unlike those incurred in relation to capital 

operations, do not fulfil conditions for entry as intangible assets, and must be 

charged to the income statement. 

 

This accounting practice differs from Italian accounting standards, with the 

following results: 

- at 1 January 2005: a reduction of € 1,328 thousand in intangible assets, 
which, net of € 495 thousand in tax-related effects (for prepaid taxes 

entered as assets) entails a reduction of € 833 thousand in total net equity; 

- at 31 December 2005: a reduction of € 1,272 thousand in intangible assets, 
which, net of € 474 thousand in tax-related effects (for prepaid taxes 

entered as assets) entails a reduction of € 798 thousand in total net equity 

and a € 56 thousand increase in gross profits for the period. 

 

3. Listing charges  

In FY 2005 Save S.p.A. capitalised expenses related to the process of listing its 

securities on the market in accordance with CNDDCC Accounting Standard 24. 
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IAS 38 and SIC 17 state that costs directly attributable to capital operations are 

charged to net assets. 

 

This accounting practice differs from Italian accounting standards, with the 

following results: 

- As at 1 January 2005: no impact, due to the fact that the company entered the 

stock market on 25 May 2005 and the costs incurred up until 31 December 

2004 were classified under advances to suppliers; 

- As at 31 December 2005: a reduction of € 9,837 thousand in intangible assets, 
which, net of € 3,664 thousand in tax-related effects (for prepaid taxes 

entered as assets) entails a reduction of € 6,173 thousand in total net equity 

and a € 1,298 thousand increase in gross profits for the period. 

 

4. Land and buildings 

Under IAS 16, land and buildings must be classified separately, even if acquired 

together. Moreover, land has an unlimited useful life, and is therefore no longer 

subject to depreciation. Depreciation related to land belonging to buildings has 

been separated and eliminated. 

 

This accounting practice differs from Italian accounting standards, with the 

following results: 

- As at 1 January 2005: a € 41 thousand increase in tangible assets deriving 
from the elimination of depreciation calculated for the asset, which, net of € 

15 thousand in tax-related effects (for deferred taxes entered as liabilities) 

entails an increase of € 26 thousand in total net equity. 

- As at 31 December 2005: a € 50 thousand increase in tangible assets deriving 
from the elimination of depreciation calculated for the asset, which, net of € 

19 thousand in tax-related effects (for deferred taxes entered as liabilities) 

entails an increase of € 31 thousand in total net equity and gross profits for 

the period are increased by € 9 thousand. 

 

5. Separation of assets with different useful lives (component approach) 

With regard to the construction of the new Venice airport, the overall cost of the 

asset was capitalised and subsequently depreciated within the single category of 

"Buildings", based on the building cost's significance compared to the plant cost. 

IAS 16 requires that individual components of a building, the plant system and 

equipment, whose cost can be identified in relation to the total cost of the asset, be 

reported and depreciated separately, in that different components have different 

useful lives and bring benefits to the company in different ways. 

For the significant components identified, capitalised building and plant costs 

have been separated, and depreciation has been recalculated. 

 

This adjustment has the following effects: 

- As at 1 January 2005: a € 1,165 thousand reduction in the value of fixed 
assets, as the result of greater cumulative depreciation calculated for the 

category in which the fixed assets previously allocated to "Buildings" have 

been separated, which, net of € 434 thousand in tax-related effects (for pre-

paid taxes entered as assets) entails a reduction of about € 731 thousand in 

total net equity. 

- As at 31 December 2005: a € 1,631 thousand reduction in the value of fixed 
assets, as the result of greater cumulative depreciation calculated for the 



SAVE Group Consolidated Financial Statements and SAVE S.p.A. Financial Statements as at 31 December 2006 

 208

category in which the fixed assets previously allocated to "Buildings" have 

been separated, which, net of € 608 thousand in tax-related effects (for pre-

paid taxes entered as assets) entails a reduction of € 1,023 thousand in total 

net equity and gross profits for the period reduced by € 466 thousand. 
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6. Assets held under financial lease  

 

(in thousands of Euros)  01/01/2005  31/12/2005 

Aggregate value 

of assets under finance lease - net 425  360 

Implicit short-term financial debt 

for lease transactions (133)  (92) 

Implicit medium-long term financial debt 

for lease transactions (122)  (30) 

Reversal of deferred charges for lease 

last final maxi installment (12)  (24) 

Total  158  214 

 

Adjustments are relating to application of the financial method of accounting 

under IAS 17 to recording of assets held under finance lease agreements. 

Such different accounting treatment resulted in the following impacts: 

- at January 1, 2005: increase in capital and reserves of Euro 158 thousand, 

resulting from recording of assets held under lease agreements in compliance with 

the financial method provided for by IAS 17, which requires that these are 

recorded under own assets as contra account of implicit financial debt which, 

before a negative tax effect (resulting from recording of deferred tax liabilities) of 

Euro 59 thousand, resulted in an increase in capital and reserves of Euro 99 

thousand; 

- at December 31, 2005: increase in capital and reserves of Euro 214 thousand, 

resulting from recording of assets held under lease agreements in compliance with 

the financial method provided for by IAS 17, which requires that these are 

recorded under own assets as contra account of implicit financial debt which, 

before a negative tax effect (resulting from recording of deferred tax liabilities) of 

Euro 80 thousand, resulted in an increase in capital and reserves of Euro 134 

thousand, also impacted by the increase in the gross profit for the financial year of 

Euro 56 thousand. 

 

7. Investments 

In 2005, SAVE S.p.A. purchased quoted securities which were classified as 

investments (except for the share disposed of in the first few months of 2006, that 

was classified under current assets). 

At December 31, 2005, the company valued these securities at cost, as it 

considered non permanent the impairment observed in their price at the balance 

sheet date (by contrast, as far as securities recorded under current assets are 

concerned, the value recovery shown in the first few months of 2006, realized by 

selling the securities themselves, made it unnecessary to align their value to that 

shown on the closing date of accounts). 

Under the provisions of IAS 32 and IAS 39, investments which the company 

classified as available for sale, are to be valued at fair value, however without 

causing any difference in value as compared to the purchase cost to pass by the 

profit and loss account. As these are quoted investments, their fair value was 

calculated by applying the quoted value on the closing date of the period 

concerned to the portfolio held. 

This different accounting treatment resulted in the following impacts: 
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- at December 31, 2005: a reduction in capital and reserves of Euro 6,397 

thousand before a positive tax effect (resulting from recording of deferred tax 

assets) of Euro 287 thousand. No effects on the result for the period are noted, 

because the difference between value and purchase cost does not pass by the profit 

and loss account. 

 

 

8. Prepaid tax assets 

Adjustments referred to in above notes result in the following effect on prepaid 

tax assets: 

 
 

Amount of 

provisional 

differences

Tax effect 

(% rate)

Tax effect Amount of 

provisional 

differences

Tax effect 

(% rate)

Tax effect

Tax credit for advance payments

Reversal of capitalized plant and expansions costs 183 37,25% 68 91 37,25% 34

Reversal of capitalized deferred charges 1.328 37,25% 495 1.272 37,25% 474

Reversal of capitalized listing charges 0 37,25% 0 9.837 37,25% 3.664

Component approach 1.165 37,25% 434 1.631 37,25% 608

 fair value assessment  of financial assets* 0 33,00% 0 6.397 33,00% 287

 fair value assessment of interest rate swap 1.291 33,00% 426 1.196 33,00% 395

Total receivables for prepaid taxes 1.423 5.462

01/01/2005 31/12/2005

(in thousands of euros)

 
  

* Deferred tax assets were calculated on potential capital loss only, connected to 

valuation at fair value of investments recorded as available for sale, considered 

relevant for tax purposes as relating to securities to be disposed of during the first 

few months of 2006. As far as other securities are concerned, classified as 

investments in the statutory financial statements of SAVE S.p.A at December 31, 

2005 (drawn up under the Italian Accounting Standards), any capital loss 

originating from their transfer was found to be immaterial for tax purposes. 

 

9. Capital and reserves and results of operations 

The aggregate adjustments to capital and reserves and the corporate results of 

operations are shown in the reconciliation statement of capital and reserves at 

January 1, 2005 and December 31, 2005 and of results of operations for the 

financial year 2005 between the Italian Accounting Standards and IAS-IFRS. 

 

10. Demolition provision 

This provision was appropriated against expected charges for demolitions, under 

the Accounting Standard 19 of the National Board of Chartered Accountants. 

Regarding demolition costs, IFRS standards provide that estimated demolition 

costs, to be incurred at the time premises are left, should be recorded in a specific 

provision as a contra account of the assets they are relating to. 

When the financial effect of time becomes relevant, the estimated cost is recorded 

on the basis of the present value of costs to be incurred by applying a rate that 

should reflect the cost of money for the company. The cost attributed to the 

various significant components of that fixed asset is charged to the profit and loss 

account through the depreciation process. The provision, therefore also the book 

value of fixed assets, are periodically updated to reflect the variations in cost 

estimates, realization timing and discounting-back rates. 
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Such different accounting treatment as compared to the Italian Accounting 

Standards results in: 

- at January 1, 2005: on the one side, a reduction in provisions for risks and 

charges of Euro 130 thousand and, on the other, an increase in the value of 

tangible assets of Euro 125 thousand, offset by the increase in the provision for 

risks and charges of Euro 130 thousand. The effect offset against capital and 

reserves, net of the tax effect of Euro 46 thousand (for recording of deferred tax 

liabilities), is an increase of Euro 79 thousand; 

- at December 31, 2005: from the one side, a reduction in provisions for risks and 

charges of Euro 160 thousand and, from the other, an increase in the value of 

tangible assets of Euro 148 thousand offset by the increase in the provision for 

risks and charges of Euro 160 thousand. The positive effect offset against capital 

and reserves, net of the tax effect of Euro 55 thousand (for recording of deferred 

tax liabilities), resulted in an increase of Euro 93 thousand. The higher gross profit 

for the period is Euro 23 thousand. 

 

11. Employee severance indemnity 

Liabilities for defined benefit schemes are determined on the basis of actuarial 

assumptions and recorded on an accrual basis consistent with the performance of 

work necessary to obtain such benefits. The main assumptions applied to 

development of this calculation are: 

• death rate: tables RG48; 

• disability rate: tables Social Security-2000; 

• employee turnover rate: 1.50%; 

• discounting-back rate: 4.00%; 

• wage and salary increase rate: 2.50%; 

• Lombard rate: 1.00%; 

• inflation rate: 1.50%. 

These different accounting treatments as compared to the Italian Accounting 

Standards result in: 

- at January 1, 2005: a reduction in the provision for employee severance 

indemnity of Euro 387 thousand which, net of a tax effect of Euro 128 thousand 

(for recording of deferred tax liabilities), resulted in an aggregate increase in 

capital and reserves of Euro 259; 

- at December 31, 2005: a decrease of the provision for employee severance 

indemnity to Euro 542 thousand which, net of a tax effect of Euro 179 thousand 

(for recording of deferred tax liabilities), resulted in an aggregate increase in 

capital and reserves of Euro 363 and a higher gross profit for the period of Euro 

155 thousand. 

 

12. Provision for deferred taxation 

The above adjustments determined the following effects on the provision for 

deferred taxation: 
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Amount of 

provisional 

differences

Tax effect 

(% rate)

Tax effect Amount of 

provisional 

differences

Tax effect 

(% rate)

Tax effect

Deferred tax liabilities

Reversal of land depreciation 41 37,25% 15 50 37,25% 19

Effect of application of IAS 17 items under financial lease158 37,25% 59 214 37,25% 80

Demolition provision 125 37,25% 46 148 37,25% 55

Time-discounted employee severance indemnity387 33,00% 128 542 33,00% 179

Total liabilities for deferred taxes 248 332

01/01/2005 31/12/2005

(in thousands of euros)

 
  

13. Provision for future risks and charges 

The company records the legal fees connected to existing disputes and 

professional services not completed yet, by entering the respective amounts in 

both “Other Debtors” as contra entry of “Amounts owed to suppliers” and by 

appropriating a provision for future risks and charges for such legal fees. 

For IAS/IFRS application purposes, the company reclassified the provision for 

future risks and charges for legal fees so as to abate other amounts payable for 

advances in compliance with the principle based on which costs are recognized 

against services consumed during the year, independent of whether the service 

considered in its entirety was completed or not. 

This accounting treatment resulted in the following impacts: 

- at January 1, 2005: a reclassification of Euro 319 thousand resulting in decrease 

of Other provisions for risks and charges, and a reclassification of equal amount 

resulting in the decrease of Other debtors; 

- at December 31, 2005: a reclassification of Euro 466 thousand resulting in 

decrease of Other provisions for risks and charges and a reclassification of equal 

amount resulting in the decrease of Other debtors. 

 

14. Derivative Financial Instruments 

SAVE S.p.A. holds derivative instruments to hedge its exposure to the risk of 

variation in interest rates relating to specific balance sheet liabilities (the so-called 

cash flow hedge). 

Derivatives are classified as hedging instruments whenever the relation between 

derivatives and the object being hedged is formally documented, both ex ante, for 

the purpose of making the hedging decision, and over the entire period of validity 

of hedging, for the purpose of assessing and confirming the level of effectiveness 

thereof on a periodical basis. 

Consistent with the selected strategy, the Company carries out no transactions for 

speculative purposes. However, and whenever formal and documentary requisites 

are missing, such transactions, although being classifiable as hedging transactions 

from an economic standpoint, cannot be classified as such from an accounting 

standpoint. 

Variations in fair value are initially recorded in capital and reserves. 

Variations in the fair value of derivatives that do not meet the requirements for 

being classified as hedging derivatives are recorded in the profit and loss account. 

Application of IAS 39 resulted in the following effects: 

- at January 1, 2005: increase in other financial liabilities resulting from entry of 

derivatives at fair value totalling Euro 1,291 thousand which, after a tax effect of 

Euro 426 thousand (for recording of prepaid tax assets) resulted in an aggregate 

decrease in capital and reserves of Euro 865 thousand; 

- at December 31, 2005: increase in other financial liabilities determined by 

recording of derivatives a fair value totalling Euro 1,196 thousand which, after a 
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tax effect of Euro 395 thousand (for recording of prepaid tax assets) resulted in an 

aggregate decrease in capital and reserves of Euro 801 thousand and a higher 

gross profit for the year of Euro 95 thousand. 

 

15. Employee severance indemnity 

The effects of application of IAS 19 to staff costs resulted in lower costs of Euro 

155 thousand. This figure originates from the difference between the adjustment 

to the provision for employee severance indemnity at December 31, 2005, of Euro 

542 thousand (Note 11) and that at January 1, 2005 of Euro 387 thousand. The 

effects of this adjustment on the profit or loss for the period were positive by Euro 

104 thousand versus a negative tax effect of Euro 51 thousand. 

 

16. Amortization of intangible fixed assets 

The economic effect of application of IFRS on formation and expansion costs 

(Note 1), long-term liabilities (Note 2) and Stock Exchange charges (Note 3), 

resulted in amortization lower by Euro 1,446 thousand. The effect of this 

adjustment on the profit or loss for the financial year is positive by Euro 907 

thousand, due to a negative tax effect of Euro 539 thousand. 

 

17. Depreciation of tangible assets and reduction in value of fixed assets  

The economic effect of application of IFRS on separation of the value of 

appurtenance land from that of buildings and deletion of depreciation relating 

thereto (Note 4), on separation of the cost of capitalized plants from the cost of 

building (Note 5), on capitalization of estimated and discounted-back costs for 

demolition of assets (Note 10) resulted in a higher depreciation of Euro 433 

thousand. The effect of this adjustment on the profit or loss for the period is 

positive by Euro 272 thousand thanks to a positive tax effect of Euro 161 

thousand. 
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18. Assets held under finance lease 

 

(in thousands of Euros)  2005 

Reversal of lease installments 134 

Depreciation of assets under finance lease  (66) 

Implicit financial charges for financial debt (12) 

Total  56 

 

The effect of application of IAS 17 to assets held under finance lease agreements 

is positive and equal to Euro 56 thousand. This datum results from the difference 

between the effects on equity resulting from recording of assets held under 

finance lease agreements in compliance with IAS 17 at December 31, 2005, of 

Euro 214, and at January 1, 2005 of Euro 158 (Note 6). 

The effect of this adjustment on the profit or loss for the period is positive by Euro 

35 versus a negative tax effect of Euro 21. 

 

19. Appropriation of provision 

As indicated in Note 13, the company records legal fees for uncompleted services 

for disputes still underway, by appropriating an on-purpose provision for risks and 

charges for future legal fees. 

Consistent with the provisions of IAS/IFRS accounting standards, the Company 

reclassified such amount by adding it to the costs for legal advice services. 

This resulted in a reclassification of Provisions for risks under Costs for services 

of Euro 242 thousand. 

 

20. Financial income and charges 

The economic effect of application of IAS 39 to fair value valuation of hedging 

financial instruments (Note 14) resulted in financial charges lower by Euro 95 

thousand. The effect of this adjustment on the profit or loss for the period is 

positive by Euro 64 thousand thanks to a positive tax effect of Euro 31 thousand. 

 

21. Income tax on the income of the period 

Above adjustments resulted in the following effect on taxes: 

 
(in thousands of euros) Effect on taxes

for F.Y. 2005

IAS/IFRS adjustments:

Reversal of capitalized plant and expansions costs 34

Reversal of capitalized deferred charges 21

Reversal of capitalized listing charges 484

Derecognition of depreciation  charges of land 3

Component approach -174

Application IAS 17 on goods held in finance leasing contracts 21

Demolition provision 9

Time-discounted employee severance indemnity 51

 fair value assessment of interest rate swap 31

Total IAS/IFRS adjustments: 480  
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Reconciliation of Capital and reserves at January 1, 2005 and December 31, 2005 

and reconciliation of results of operations for the year ending December 31, 2005 

between Italian Accounting and IAS/IFRS Standards. 

(in thousands of Euros) 

 
 Capital&Reserves Profit (loss) Capital&Reserves

01.01.2005 F.Y. 2005 31.12.2005

Italian Accounting Standards 65.957 9.148 229.916

Adjustment gross of theoretical taxes:

Derecognition of capitalized plant and expansion costs -183 92 -91

Derecognition of capitalized deferred charges -1.328 56 -1.272

Derecognition of capitalized listing charges 0 1.299 -9.837

Derecognition of depreciation  charges of land 41 9 50

Component approach -1.165 -466 -1.631

Effect of application of IAS 17 items under financial lease 158 56 214

 fair value assessment  of financial assets 0 0 -6.397

Plant demolition reserve 125 23 148

adjustment of severance indemnity 387 155 542

 fair value assessment of interest rate swap -1.291 95 -1.196

Total gross adjustments -3.256 1.319 -19.470

Theoretical taxes 1.175 -480 5.129

IAS/IFRS accounting standards 63.875 9.986 215.575

(in thousands of euros)

 
 

 

 


